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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes statements of our expectations, intentions, plans, and beliefs that constitute
“forward-looking statements.”    These forward-looking statements are principally, but not solely, contained in the section captioned
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” These statements include, but are not limited
to, statements about our strategies, plans, objectives, expectations, intentions, expenditures and assumptions and other statements
contained herein that are not historical facts. Our forward-looking statements are generally, but not always, accompanied by words such as
“estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “potential,” “should,” “will,” “may,” “plan,” “goal,” “can,” “could,”
“continuing,” “ongoing,” “intend” or other words that convey the uncertainty of future events or outcomes. We have based these forward-
looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial, market and business trends. The matters
discussed in these forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause our actual results to differ
materially from those projected, anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Many of these risks, uncertainties and other
factors are beyond our ability to control, influence, or predict. The most significant of these risks, uncertainties and other factors are
described in “Item 1A—Risk Factors” in Part II of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended March 31, 2017 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on June 6, 2017 and in our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2017 filed with the SEC on August 8, 2017.    As a result, investors are urged not to place
undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.  These forward-looking statements reflect our views and assumptions only as of the date
such forward-looking statements were made. Except to the limited extent required by applicable law, we undertake no obligation to update
or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 Item 1:  Consolidated Financial Statements 

pdvWireless, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2017
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

 
      
      
 December 31,  March 31,
 2017  2017
 (Unaudited)    

ASSETS
Current Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 104,244  $ 124,083 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $63 and $53   764   636 
Inventory   125   128 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,434   874 

Total current assets   106,567   125,721 
Property and equipment   13,356   14,509 
Intangible assets   106,606   104,676 
Capitalized patent costs, net   201   210 
Other assets   578   370 

Total assets  $ 227,308  $ 245,486 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities       
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 3,949  $ 3,399 
Accounts payable - officers   40   36 
Current portion of note payable   497   497 
Deferred revenue   807   789 

Total current liabilities   5,293   4,721 
Noncurrent liabilities       

Deferred revenue   4,449   5,033 
Deferred income taxes   5,623   6,498 
Other liabilities   2,135   1,338 

Total liabilities   17,500   17,590 
Commitments and contingencies       
Stockholders' equity       

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 10,000,000 shares authorized and no shares
outstanding at December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2017    —    —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 100,000,000 shares 
authorized and 14,469,237 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and
14,358,564 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2017   1   1 
Additional paid-in capital   334,310   330,566 
Accumulated deficit   (124,503)  (102,671)
Total stockholders' equity   209,808   227,896 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 227,308  $ 245,486 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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pdvWireless, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Three and Nine Months Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollars in thousands, except share data) 

(Unaudited)

            
            
 Three months ended  Nine months ended
 December 31,  December 31,
 2017  2016  2017  2016

Operating revenues             
Service revenue  $ 1,232  $ 976  $ 3,500  $ 2,627 
Spectrum lease revenue   182   182   547   547 
Other revenue   187   177   532   349 
Total operating revenues   1,601   1,335   4,579   3,523 

Cost of revenue             
Sales and service   2,016   1,832   5,628   5,091 
Gross loss   (415)  (497)  (1,049)  (1,568)

Operating expenses             
General and administrative   5,464   4,847   15,340   18,069 
Sales and support   1,619   1,421   5,009   3,857 
Product development   592   539   1,772   1,734 
Total operating expenses   7,675   6,807   22,121   23,660 
Loss from operations   (8,090)  (7,304)  (23,170)  (25,228)

Interest expense   (1)  (1)  (2)  (4)
Interest income   197   25   494   73 
Other income (expense)   (9)  (8)  (29)  (13)

Loss before income taxes   (7,903)  (7,288)  (22,707)  (25,172)
Income tax benefit   (2,181)   —   (875)   —

Net loss  $ (5,722) $ (7,288) $ (21,832) $ (25,172)
Net loss per common share basic and diluted  $ (0.40) $ (0.51) $ (1.51) $ (1.75)
Weighted-average common shares used to compute basic 
  and diluted net loss per share   14,451,313   14,396,212   14,445,627   14,385,002 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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pdvWireless, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity/(Deficiency)

Nine Months Ended December 31, 2017
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

(Unaudited)
 

                  
                  

Number of Shares    
Preferred    Preferred            

Stock  Common  Stock  Common  Additional  Accumulated    
Series AA  Stock  Series AA  Stock  Paid-in Capital  Deficit  Total

Balance at March 31, 2017  —  14,442,368  $  —  $ 1  $ 330,566  $ (102,671) $ 227,896 
Equity based compensation*  —  14,788    —    —   3,510    —   3,510 
Stock option exercises  —  12,081    —    —   234    —   234 

Net loss  —   —    —    —    —   (21,832)  (21,832)
Balance at December 31, 2017  —  14,469,237  $  —  $ 1  $ 334,310  $ (124,503) $ 209,808 

                  
* includes restricted shares

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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pdvWireless, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Nine Months Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollars in thousands)

(Unaudited)
 

      
      
 Nine months
 December 31,
 2017  2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES       
Net loss  $ (21,832) $ (25,172)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities       

Depreciation and amortization   2,103   1,626 
Non-cash compensation expense attributable to stock awards   3,998   3,637 
Deferred income taxes   (875)   —
Bad debt expense   26   43 
Loss on disposal of assets   36    —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities       

Accounts receivable   (153)  (384)
Inventory   3   49 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (769)  (327)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   550   51 
Accounts payable - officers   4   (28)
Deferred revenue   (565)  (598)
Other liabilities   568   502 

Net cash flows used by operating activities   (16,906)  (20,601)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES       
Purchases of intangible assets   (1,930)  (504)
Purchases of equipment   (749)  (1,671)
Payments for patent costs    —   (1)

Net cash used by investing activities   (2,679)  (2,176)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES       
Proceeds from stock option exercise   234    —
Taxes withheld and paid on employee stock awards   (488)   —

Net cash used by financing activities   (254)   —
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   (19,839)  (22,777)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS       
Beginning of the period   124,083   153,463 
End of the period  $ 104,244  $ 130,686 

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

7
 

 



Table of Contents
 

pdvWireless, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

 
1. Nature of Operations

pdvWireless, Inc. (the “Company”) is a private wireless communications carrier focused on utilizing its spectrum assets to develop
and offer next generation network and mobile communication solutions for critical infrastructure and enterprise customers. The
Company is the largest holder of licensed spectrum in the Part 90 900 MHz band (i.e., 896-901 MHz paired with 935-940 MHz)
throughout the contiguous United States, plus Hawaii, Alaska and Puerto Rico.

The Company’s first priority involves pursuing regulatory initiatives at the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) with the
goal of modernizing and realigning the 900 MHz band to increase its usability and capacity, including for the future potential
deployment of broadband and other advanced technologies and services.  At the same time, the Company is exploring and
developing network and mobile communication solutions, leveraging its spectrum to address the unmet needs of its targeted critical
infrastructure and enterprise customers.  For its first offering, the Company has deployed push-to-talk (“PTT”) networks and offers its
DispatchPlusTM two-way radio service to businesses in seven major metropolitan market areas throughout the United States, including
Atlanta, Baltimore/Washington, Chicago, Dallas, Houston, New York and Philadelphia.  DispatchPlus allows enterprise customers to
increase the productivity of their field-based workers and the efficiency of their dispatch and call center operations.  The Company is
pursuing opportunities to offer additional network and mobile communication solutions to critical infrastructure and enterprise
customers with its existing spectrum and currently available non-broadband technologies and, if the Company is successful with its
FCC efforts, through the deployment of broadband and other advanced wireless service offerings.

The Company was originally incorporated in California in 1997, and reincorporated in Delaware in 2014.  In November 2015, the
Company changed its name from Pacific DataVision, Inc. to pdvWireless, Inc.  The Company maintains offices in Woodland Park,
New Jersey, Reston, Virginia and San Diego, California.  It also maintains a sales office in West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania.

During the year ended March 31, 2016, the Company began offering its DispatchPlus service in seven major metropolitan areas
throughout the United States.  The Company developed DispatchPlus to address the needs of enterprises that value a tailored PTT
solution addressing the management of their mobile workforce. These businesses typically operate within industry verticals such as
construction, distribution, transportation, field services, waste management and hospitality. Given the nature of their operations,
DispatchPlus offers these businesses several advantages over telephony and data-based services, including an easy-to-operate, one-
touch button efficiency of communications and rugged equipment optimal for field use.  The operation of the Company’s
DispatchPlus business is separate from, and not contingent on, the initiatives it is pursuing at the FCC or its other spectrum-related
activities.

The Company’s revenues are derived substantially from its DispatchPlus and pdvConnectTM offerings.  The DispatchPlus service
combines pdvConnect, a proprietary suite of mobile communication and workforce management applications, with advanced digital
network architecture and mobile devices supplied by Motorola Solutions, Inc. and/or its subsidiaries (“Motorola”).  Developed for
dispatch-centric businesses, and historically offered to customers who utilize Tier 1 cellular networks, pdvConnect is an easy to use
and efficient mobile communication and workforce management solution that enables businesses to locate and communicate with
their field workers and improve the documentation of work events and job status.  Also built with the commercial dispatch customer
in mind, Motorola’s digital network architecture allows the Company to provide highly reliable, instant and wide-area PTT
communication services to its customers.

To date, sales of the Company’s DispatchPlus service have been slower to ramp-up than initial expectations.  The Company primarily
markets its DispatchPlus service to customers indirectly through third-party dealers selected from Motorola’s nationwide dealer
network and other select wireless dealers.  The Company supports its indirect sales representatives by providing them with training,
marketing and advertising support from its internal sales and marketing team.  The Company typically enters into contracts directly
with end users of its DispatchPlus communication solutions, including those introduced to it through its indirect dealer network.

The Company’s spectrum is its most valuable asset.  Although the Company can use its spectrum for its existing DispatchPlus
business and for other narrowband and wideband wireless services, many of the future business opportunities that the Company
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has identified require higher bandwidth than allowed by the current configuration of its spectrum.  As a result, the Company is
pursuing a number of initiatives to increase the usability and capacity of its spectrum.

In November 2014, the Company and the Enterprise Wireless Alliance (“EWA”) submitted a Joint Petition for Rulemaking to the
FCC to propose the realignment of a portion of the 900 MHz band from narrowband to broadband.  In response to the Joint Petition,
the FCC issued a public notice requesting comments from interested parties and asked a number of questions about the proposal. A
number of parties, including several incumbent licensees, filed comments with the FCC expressing their views, including both
support and opposition.  In May 2015, the Company and the EWA filed proposed rules with the FCC related to the Joint
Petition.  Comments on the proposed rules were filed in June 2015, and reply comments in July 2015.

On August 4, 2017, the FCC issued a Notice of Inquiry (“NOI”) that the Company believes signifies the FCC’s interest in conducting
a serious and comprehensive evaluation of the current and future rules governing the 900 MHz band.  In the NOI, the FCC announced
that it had commenced a proceeding to examine whether it would be in the public interest to change the existing rules governing the
900 MHz band to enable increased access to spectrum, improved spectrum efficiency and expanded flexibility for a variety of
potential uses and applications, including broadband and other advanced technologies and services.  The FCC stated that the purpose
of the NOI was to gather information from interested parties to assist the FCC in its decision making process.  The FCC requested
interested parties, including the Company, to comment on a number of questions related to three potential options for the 900 MHz
band: (i) retaining the current configuration of the 900 MHz band, but increasing operational flexibility, (ii) reconfiguring a portion
or all of the 900 MHz band to support broadband and other advanced technologies and services or (iii) retaining the current 900 MHz
band licensing and eligibility rules.  Because the FCC is requesting information on multiple options for the 900 MHz band, the NOI
effectively supersedes the Joint Petition and other pending proposals that involved the 900 MHz band.  However, a broadband
reconfiguration option included in the NOI is consistent with the Company’s Joint Petition proposal, and all information the
Company previously provided to the FCC to support the realignment and modernization of the 900 MHz band remains relevant.  The
full text of the NOI is available on the FCC’s public website https://www.fcc.gov/document/900-mhz-notice-inquiry.

The Company and EWA filed a joint response to the FCC’s NOI on October 2, 2017 and reply comments on November 1, 2017.  The
Company has responded to all outstanding requests for information from the FCC, and it is currently awaiting FCC action.  Based on
the Company’s discussions with the staff of the FCC, it believes that the proceeding is currently under active consideration by FCC. 
The FCC’s next step could be a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking based on the NOI and the record developed in response to it, a
request for additional information, a decision to close the proceeding without further action, or some other action, and the timing of
any such next step also remains uncertain.  The full text of the response and reply comments filed by the Company and EWA as well
as the other filings submitted in the proceeding are available on the FCC’s public website.

The Company continues to believe in the merits of its broadband approach, and that it would be in the public interest for the FCC to
realign the 900 MHz band to enable broadband and other advanced technologies and services.  Nevertheless, obtaining a favorable
result from the FCC may take a significant amount of time and resources. Moreover, there is no assurance that following the
conclusion of the NOI process, the FCC will ultimately propose and adopt rules that will allow the Company to utilize its spectrum to
offer broadband and other advanced technologies and services.

To prepare for the filings it has submitted with the FCC and to build support for a 900 MHz broadband realignment, the Company has
met, and intends to continue to meet, with a number of incumbent licensees, critical infrastructure businesses and other interested
parties in the 900 MHz band.  The goals with these discussions have been: (i) building consensus for the proposed reconfiguration of
the 900 MHz band to support broadband and other advanced technologies and services; (ii) resolving any technology or other
concerns raised by incumbent licensees; (iii) educating critical infrastructure businesses on how broadband capabilities could
enhance their operations and initiatives (for example, supporting grid modernization requirements or monitoring and/or controlling
their own system or network elements via machine-to-machine type services); (iv) gaining a better understanding of the size of the
operational incumbent base and the nature of the systems they are currently operating; and (v) evaluating and  proposing voluntary
license relocation opportunities to certain incumbent licensees. 
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2.      Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”), which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates relate to allowance for
doubtful accounts, estimated useful lives of depreciable assets, asset retirement obligations, the carrying amount of long-lived assets
under construction in process, valuation allowance on the Company’s deferred tax assets, and recoverability of intangible assets.
Moreover, in certain circumstances, requirements associated with relevant US GAAP guidance can impact the Company’s estimates
and assumptions. The Company is also required to make certain estimates with regard to the valuation of awards and forfeiture rates
for its share-based award programs. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and the effects of revisions are reflected in
the financial statements in the applicable period. Accordingly, actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, including PDV
Spectrum Holding Company, LLC formed in April 2014. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the corresponding amounts in the financial
statements for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017. These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported
results of operations, cash flows, assets, liabilities or equity for the periods presented.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase are considered cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates the quoted market value and include amounts held in money market funds.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

An allowance for uncollectible receivables is estimated based on a combination of write-off history, aging analysis and any specific
known troubled accounts. The Company reviews its allowance for uncollectible receivables on a quarterly basis. Past due balances
meeting specific criteria are reviewed individually for collectability. At December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2017, management
provided an allowance of approximately $63,000 and $53,000, respectively, for certain slow paying accounts.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated
useful lives of the assets or the applicable lease term. The carrying amount at the balance sheet date of long-lived assets under
construction in process include construction costs to date on capital projects that have not been completed, assets being constructed
that are not ready to be placed into service, and assets that are not currently in service. On a periodic basis costs within construction in
process are reviewed and a determination is made if the assets being developed will be put into use. If it is concluded that the asset
will not be put into use, the costs will be expensed.  If the asset will be put into use, the costs are transferred to property and equipment
when substantially all of the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use are completed. Depreciation commences
upon completion.

Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations

An asset retirement obligation is evaluated and recorded as appropriate on assets for which the Company has a legal obligation to
retire. The Company records a liability for an asset retirement obligation and the associated asset retirement cost at the time the
underlying asset is acquired and put into service. Subsequent to the initial measurement of the asset retirement obligation, the
obligation is adjusted at the end of each period to reflect the passage of time and changes in the estimated future cash flows
underlying the obligation, if any. Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value and the capitalized cost is depreciated over
the estimated useful life of the asset.
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The Company enters into long-term leasing arrangements primarily for tower site locations. The Company constructs assets at these
locations and, in accordance with the terms of many of these agreements, the Company is obligated to restore the premises to their
original condition at the conclusion of the agreements, generally at the demand of the other party to these agreements. The Company
recognizes the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation and capitalizes that cost as part of the cost basis of the related
asset, depreciating it over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any difference between the cost to
retire the asset and the recorded liability is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had asset retirement obligations of approximately $0.3 million.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are wireless licenses that will be used to provide the Company with the exclusive right to utilize designated radio
frequency spectrum to provide wireless communication services. While licenses are issued for only a fixed time, generally ten years,
such licenses are subject to renewal by the FCC. License renewals have occurred routinely and at nominal cost in the past. There are
currently no legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or other factors that limit the useful life of the Company’s wireless
licenses. As a result, the Company has determined that the wireless licenses should be treated as an indefinite-lived intangible asset.
The Company will evaluate the useful life determination for its wireless licenses each year to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support their treatment as an indefinite useful life asset.

The licenses are tested for impairment annually on an aggregate basis, as the Company will be utilizing the wireless licenses on an
integrated basis as a part of developing its nationwide network. Before employing detailed impairment testing, the Company first
evaluates the likelihood of impairment by considering relevant qualitative factors that may have a significant bearing on fair value. If
it determines that it is more likely than not that the wireless licenses are impaired, it will apply a quantitative analysis including
detailed testing methodologies. Otherwise, it concludes that no impairment exists. In the event a quantitative analysis is required, the
Company considers estimates of valuation methods to perform the test of the fair values of the wireless licenses using, among other
things, market based and discounted cash flow approaches.

Long-Lived Asset Impairment

The Company evaluates long-lived assets, other than intangible assets with indefinite lives, for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable. Asset groups are determined at
the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other groups of assets and liabilities. When
the carrying amount of a long-lived asset group is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to
the excess of the asset group’s carrying value over the estimated fair value.

Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax
bases of assets and liabilities as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is
established when it is estimated that it is more likely than not that the tax benefit of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in the period that persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery of the product has
occurred or services have been rendered, it is able to determine the amount of revenue and when the collection of such amount is
considered probable.  In accordance with the guidance provided in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 605-45-45,
(Revenue Recognition – Principal Agent Considerations), the Company has determined that it is the primary obligor with respect to
the service revenue derived from sales of the Company’s software applications through its Tier I domestic carrier partners. As a result,
revenue is recorded at the gross amount billed to end-user customers for sales through these carrier partners. The Company also sells
service and applications directly to end-users, which are billed and collected directly by the Company.

In September 2014, Motorola paid the Company an upfront, fully-paid leasing fee of $7.5 million in order to lease a portion of the
Company’s wireless spectrum licenses. The payment of the fee is accounted for as deferred revenue on the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets. The Company recognizes leasing revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 840, (Leases). The fee is amortized using the
straight-line method over the lease term of approximately ten years, which represents the time period in which the benefits of the
leased property are expected to be depleted.
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The Company evaluates certain transactions for its DispatchPlus service offering to determine whether they should be viewed as a
Multiple Element Arrangement provided in ASC Topic 605-25. Judgment is required to properly identify the accounting units of the
multiple deliverable transactions and to determine the manner in which revenue should be allocated among the units of
accounting.  Multiple deliverable arrangements are presumed to be bundled transactions, and the total consideration is measured and
allocated to the separate transactions based on their relative selling price with certain limitations.  The relative selling price for each
deliverable is determined using vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of selling price or third-party evidence of selling price
if VSOE does not exist.  If neither VSOE nor third party evidence of selling price exist, the Company uses its best estimate of the
selling price for the deliverable.  The Company has determined that the rental of user devices in connection with service contracts for
its DispatchPlus service are multiple deliverable arrangements. 

Cost of Revenue

The Company’s cost of revenue relating to its DispatchPlus service offering includes the cost of operating its dispatch network and its
cloud-based solutions, and to a lesser degree, the costs associated with the sales of the relevant user devices. In addition, cost of
revenue associated with the sales of the Company’s software applications through its wireless carrier partners includes the portion of
service revenue retained by its domestic Tier 1 carrier partners pursuant to its agreements with these parties, which may include
network services, connectivity, SMS service, sales, marketing, billing and other ancillary services.

Stock Compensation

The Company accounts for stock options in accordance with US GAAP, which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense, based on the estimated fair value of awards granted to employees, directors, and consultants. The Company
estimates the fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the
award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense in the Company’s statements of operations over the requisite
service periods.  In the event the participant’s employment by or engagement with (as a director or otherwise) the Company terminates
before exercise of the options granted, the stock options granted to the participant shall immediately expire and all rights to purchase
shares thereunder shall immediately cease and expire and be of no further force or effect, other than applicable exercise rights for
vested shares that may extend past the termination date as provided for in the participant’s applicable option award
agreement.  Additionally, the Compensation Committee adopted an Executive Severance Plan (the “Severance Plan”) in February
2015, and the Company subsequently entered into Severance Plan Participation Agreements with its executive officers and certain
key employees.  In addition to providing participants with severance payments, the Severance Plan provides for accelerated vesting
and extends the exercise period for outstanding equity awards if the Company terminates a participant’s service for reasons other than
cause, death or disability or the participant terminates his or her service for good reason, whether before or after a change of control
(each of such terms as defined in the Severance Plan).

To calculate option-based compensation, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company’s determination
of fair value of option-based awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model is affected by assumptions regarding a
number of subjective variables. 

The fair value of restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance units are measured based upon the quoted closing market
price for the stock on the date of grant. The compensation cost for the restricted stock and restricted stock units is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period.  The compensation cost for the performance units is recognized when the performance
criteria are complete.

No tax benefits have been attributed to the share-based compensation expense because the Company maintains a full valuation
allowance for all net deferred tax assets.

Effective April 1, 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to
Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“ASU 2016-09”), which simplifies several aspects of the accounting for employee share-
based payment transactions, including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures, and statutory tax withholding requirements, as
well as classification in the statement of cash flows.  Under the new guidance, all excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies, including
tax benefits of dividends on share-based payment awards, should be recognized as income tax expense or benefit in the income
statement, eliminating the notion of the additional paid-in-capital (“APIC”) pool. The excess tax benefits will be classified as
operating activities along with other income tax cash flows rather than financing activities in the statement of cash flows. The tax
effects of exercised or vested awards should be treated as discrete items in the reporting period in which they occur. ASU 2016-09 also
allows entities to elect to either estimate the total number of awards that are expected to vest or account for forfeitures when they
occur. Additionally, ASU 2016-09 clarifies that cash payments to tax authorities in connection with shares withheld to meet statutory
tax withholding requirements should be presented as a financing activity in the statement of cash flows. The Company has elected to
continue its past practice of estimating the total number of awards expected to vest and adopted the provisions of ASU 2016-09
related to changes in the consolidated statements of cash flows on a retrospective basis. 
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Net Loss Per Share of Common Stock

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration for potentially dilutive securities. For purposes of the
diluted net loss per share calculation, preferred stock, stock options, restricted stock and warrants are considered to be potentially
dilutive securities. Because the Company has reported a net loss for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
diluted net loss per common share is the same as basic net loss per common share for those periods.

Common stock equivalents resulting from potentially dilutive securities approximated 982,000 and 709,000 at December 31, 2017
and March 31, 2017, respectively, and have not been included in the dilutive weighted average shares of common stock outstanding,
as their effects are anti-dilutive.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), ("ASU 2014-09") which supersedes current revenue recognition guidance,
including most industry specific guidance. ASU 2014-09 requires a company to recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods and services, and also requires additional disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue
that is recognized. The guidance, as stated in ASU 2014-09, is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15,
2016. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the
Effective Date, which defers the effective date by one year, with early adoption on the original effective date permitted. The standard
can be applied using a full retrospective method or a modified retrospective method of adoption. The Company expects to adopt the
standard in 2018 using the full retrospective method and continues to assess the impact of this ASU on its results of operations,
financial position and cash flows. Based on its preliminary assessment, the Company expects the adoption of this ASU will result in:
(i) contract cost assets that will be established to reflect costs that will be deferred as incremental contract acquisition costs
(incremental contract acquisition costs generally relate to commissions paid to sales associates); and (ii) increased disclosure,
including qualitative and quantitative disclosures about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising
from contracts with customers.  However, the adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's
financial position and cash flows.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases.  The ASU amends a number of aspects of lease accounting, including
requiring lessees to recognize operating leases with a term greater than one year on their balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and
corresponding lease liability, measured at the present value of the lease payments. The ASU also requires disclosure of key
information about leasing arrangements to increase the transparency and comparability among organizations. The accounting for
lessors does not fundamentally change except for changes to conform and align guidance to the lessee guidance as well as to the new
revenue recognition guidance in ASU 2014-09.  The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years.  Early adoption is permitted. ASU 2016-02 requires reporting
organizations to take a modified retrospective transition approach (as opposed to a full retrospective transition approach). The
Company decided not to early adopt the ASU.  The Company is evaluating the potential impact that ASU 2016-02 may have on its
consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net). The amendments in ASU 2016-08 clarify how an entity should identify the
specified good or service for the principal versus agent evaluation and how it should apply the control principle to certain types of
arrangements. The effective date and transition requirements for this amendment is the same as the effective date and transition
requirements of ASU 2014-09, which is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those years, beginning after December
15, 2017. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial position and cash flows.

In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Identifying Performance Obligations and
Licensing. ASU 2016-10 is intended to reduce the cost and complexity of applying the guidance in the FASB's new revenue standard
on identifying performance obligations, and is also intended to improve the operability and understandability of the licensing
implementation guidance. The effective date for ASU 2016-10 is the same as for ASU 2014-09. The adoption of this ASU is not
expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial position and cash flows.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other: Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment.
ASU 2017-04 eliminated Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test, which required entities to compute the implied fair value of
goodwill by determining the fair value of the reporting unit's assets and liabilities as if they were assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in a business combination. Instead of Step 2, entities performing their annual impairment test will recognize an impairment
charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit's fair value. Entities will continue to have the option
to perform the qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if the quantitative impairment test is
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necessary. The adoption of ASU 2017-04 will be effective for annual, or any interim, goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2019. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have an effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) Scope of Modification Accounting.
The amendments in ASU 2017-09 provide guidance about which changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award
require an entity to apply modification accounting in Topic 718. The adoption of ASU 2017-09 will become effective for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2017 with prospective application.  Although the Company is currently evaluating the
potential impact Topic 718 may have on its financial position, it does not believe there will be a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Subsequent Events Evaluation by Management
Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure and/or recognition in the financial statements through the date that the
financial statements were issued. See Note 13 Subsequent Events below.
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3.      Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following at December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2017 (in thousands):  

        
        

Estimated   December 31,  March 31,
useful life   2017  2017

Network sites and equipment 5-10 years   $ 15,008  $ 13,999 
Computer equipment 5-7 years    956   944 
Computer software 1-3 years    10   13 
Furniture and fixture and other equipment 2-5 years    1,474   1,091 

Leasehold improvements
Shorter of the lease term or

10 years    354   141 
    17,802   16,188 

Less accumulated depreciation     5,629   3,590 
    12,173   12,598 

Construction in process     1,183   1,911 
Property and equipment, net    $ 13,356  $ 14,509 

Depreciation expense for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017  amounted to $0.7 million and $2.1 million,
respectively. For the three and nine months ended December 31, 2016, depreciation expense was approximately $0.6 million and
$1.6 million, respectively. For the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017, approximately $0.6 million and $1.9 million of
such depreciation expense was classified as cost of revenue, while the remainder for each period was classified as operating expense
in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. For the three and nine months ended December 31, 2016, approximately
$0.5 million and $1.5 million of such depreciation expense was classified as cost of revenue, while the remainder for each period was
classified as operating expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. Leasehold improvements include certain
allowances for tenant improvements related to the expansion of the Company’s corporate headquarters. Construction in process
includes the expenditures related to the costs to establish the Company’s dedicated wide-area, two-way radio dispatch networks in
certain metropolitan areas.

4. Intangible Assets

Wireless licenses are considered indefinite-lived intangible assets. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not subject to amortization
but instead are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event indicates that the asset might be impaired. The
Company believes that no impairment indicators existed as of December 31, 2017 for which the Company would recognize
impairment.

During the nine months ended December 31, 2017, the Company entered into agreements with several third parties in multiple U.S.
markets to acquire wireless licenses for cash consideration, upon FCC approval. 

Intangible assets consist of the following at December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2017 (in thousands):
   
 Wireless Licenses

Balance at March 31, 2017  $ 104,676 
Acquisitions   1,931 
Balance at December 31, 2017  $ 106,606 

   

5.      Accounts Payable - officers

Accounts payable - officers represents unreimbursed expenses including travel and entertainment expenses incurred by the
Company’s officers. At December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2017, the accounts payable to officers amounted to approximately $40,000
and $36,000, respectively.

6.      Note Payable

On October 23, 2015, the Company entered into a promissory note in the amount of $1,289,013 with a third party in exchange for
wireless licenses.  The term of the note is through March 15, 2018 and bears a fixed rate of interest, of 0.55% per annum,
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which is based on the Short Term Applicable Federal Rate on the closing date.  As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s outstanding
borrowings were approximately $0.5 million.

7.      Income Taxes 

The Company recorded income tax benefit of $2.2 million and $0.9 million for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017
compared to none in the prior year. The Company’s tax benefit for both periods had an unusual relationship to the pre-tax loss due
primarily to the existence of a deferred tax asset valuation allowance at the beginning of both periods.  The tax benefit recorded in the
three and nine months ended December 31, 2017 resulted from $1.8 million and $5.3 million, respectively, of tax amortization of the
Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets that is not available to offset existing deferred tax assets. Due to the passage of Public
Law 115-97 (“Tax Cuts and Jobs Act”) on December 22, 2017, the statutory federal corporate tax rate has been reduced from a
maximum of 35% to 21% for years beginning after December 31, 2017.  The net effect of this rate change on the deferred tax liability
as of December 31, 2017 resulted in a tax benefit to the Company of $2.8 million, which is a discrete item for the three and nine
months ended December 31, 2017.

The Company expects the indefinite-lived intangible assets to result in approximately $0.4 million of income tax benefit for the full
fiscal year 2018 (as previously discussed in Note 9 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2017
but reduced to include the rate change related to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act as discussed above).

8.      Stock Acquisition Rights, Stock Options and Warrants

The Company established the pdvWireless, Inc. 2014 Stock Plan (the “2014 Stock Plan”) to attract, retain and reward individuals who
contribute to the growth of the Company. This 2014 Stock Plan superseded previous stock plans.  However, under such previous
plans, 43,275 stock options remained vested and outstanding  as of December 31, 2017.  

As of December 31, 2017,  2,788,234 shares of common stock were authorized and reserved for issuance under the 2014 Stock
Plan.  The shares authorized and reserved for issuance under the 2014 Stock Plan will continue to increase each subsequent
anniversary through January 1, 2024 by an amount equal to the lesser of 5% of the number of shares of common stock issued and
outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31 or a lesser amount determined by the Board of Directors.  The number of
shares authorized and reserved for issuance under the 2014 Stock Plan increased on January 1, 2018 by 723,461 shares of common
stock, for an aggregate of 3,511,695 shares authorized and reserved under the 2014 Stock Plan. 

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units  

A summary of non-vested restricted stock activity for the nine months ended December 31, 2017 is as follows:
Weighted

Restricted Average Grant
Stock Day Fair Value

Non-vested restricted stock at March 31, 2017 127,457 $ 25.10 
Granted 125,621 23.20 
Forfeited (888) (23.49)
Vested (30,018) (23.90)
Non-vested restricted stock at December 31, 2017 222,172 $ 24.20 

The Company recognizes compensation expense for restricted stock awards that vest on a time schedule on a straight-line basis over
the explicit vesting period. Vested restricted stock units are settled and issuable upon the vesting date (or the next open trading date
if the vesting date occurs during a closed window under the Company’s insider trading policy) or a date certain in the future.  Stock
compensation expense related to restricted stock was approximately $0.5 million and $1.3 million for the three and nine months
ended December 31, 2017 and approximately $0.4 million and $1.1 million for the three and nine months ended December 31,
2016.  Stock compensation expense for restricted stock is accounted for in general and administrative expense in the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Operations.  At December 31,  2017, there was $4.4 million of unvested compensation expense related to
the restricted stock, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.7 years.
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Performance Stock Units

A summary of the performance stock unit activity for the nine months ended December 31, 2017 is as follows:
Weighted
Average

Performance Grant Day
Stock Fair Value

Performance units at March 31, 2017 37,295 $ 25.81 
Granted 71,843 22.75 
Forfeited  —  —
Vested  —  —
Performance units at December 31, 2017 109,138 $ 23.80 

The Company awarded performance stock units in May 2017 and January 2016.  The units represent the number of shares of the
Company’s common stock that the recipient would vest in and receive contingent upon the Company’s attainment of the applicable
performance goal.  For the outstanding performance stock units, the performance goal requires the Company to obtain, prior to
January 13, 2020, (i) a Final Order from the FCC providing for the creation and allocation of licenses for spectrum in the 900 MHz
band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at least 3 MHz of contiguous spectrum, authorized for
broadband wireless communications uses and (ii) the lack of objection by the Company's Board of Directors to the terms and
conditions  (including, but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license assignment and award
mechanisms, and technical and operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order.

For the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, there was no stock compensation expense recognized for the
performance units.  At December 31, 2017, there was approximately $2.6 million of unvested compensation expense for the
performance units.

Stock Options

A summary of stock option activity for the nine months ended December 31, 2017 is as follows:
Weighted
Average

Options Exercise Price
Options outstanding at March 31, 2017 1,733,595 $ 22.79 
Granted during the period 236,195 24.89 
Exercised during the period (4,081) (18.23)
Forfeited/Expired during the period (11,301) (26.64)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2017 1,954,408 $ 23.04 

The stock options to purchase shares of common stock awarded during the nine months ended December 31, 2017 have a ten-year
contractual life and 25% will vest on the first anniversary of grant, and the remainder will vest in three equal annual installments
thereafter.  In addition, a stock option to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock awarded to a consultant during the nine months
ended December 31, 2017 vests monthly over four years.  Shares granted to employees are subject to vesting, future settlement
conditions and other such terms as determined by the Board of Directors and set forth in the applicable award agreements.

Additional information regarding stock options outstanding at December 31, 2017 is as follows:
Weighted

Weighted Average
Average Weighted Exercise Price

Exercise Number Remaining Average Options of Shares
Prices Outstanding Life in Years Exercise Price Exercisable Exercisable

$ 13.25 - $ 20.00 1,128,537 6.30 $ 19.74 860,224 $ 19.66 
20.01 - 46.23 745,320 8.26 25.34 277,976 25.51 
46.24 - 72.85 80,551 7.34 47.87 40,426 47.88 

1,954,408 7.09 $ 23.04 1,178,626 $ 22.01 

17
 

 



Table of Contents
 

The Black-Scholes option model requires weighted average assumptions to be used for calculation of the Company’s stock
compensation expense. The assumptions used during the nine months ended December 31, 2017 were: the expected life of the awards
was 5 years; the risk-free interest rate range was 1.8% to 2.3%; the expected volatility was 49.05%; the expected dividend yield was
0.0%; and the expected forfeiture rate was 3%.

Performance Stock Options

 A summary of the performance stock options as of December 31, 2017 is as follows:

Performance
Options

Weighted   Average
Exercise   Price

Performance options outstanding at March 31, 2017 50,000 $ 25.81 
Performance options granted 129,945 25.84 
Performance options forfeited/expired  —  —
Performance options outstanding at December 31, 2017 179,945 $ 25.83 

During the nine months ended December 31, 2017, the Company awarded executive officers performance stock options to purchase
75,000 and 54,945 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $28.10 and $22.75, respectively.  During the year ended March
31, 2016, the Company awarded an executive officer performance stock options to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock with an
exercise price of $25.81.  These options have a ten-year contractual life.  The performance stock options will vest in full contingent
on the Company’s achievement, prior to January 13, 2020, of (i) a Final Order from the FCC providing for the creation and allocation
of licenses for spectrum in the 900 MHz band consisting of paired blocks of contiguous spectrum, each containing at least 3 MHz of
contiguous spectrum, authorized for broadband wireless communications uses and (ii) the lack of objection by the Company's Board
of Directors to the terms and conditions  (including, but not limited to, the rebanding, clearing and relocation procedures, license
assignment and award mechanisms, and technical and operational rules) set forth or referenced in the Final Order.

Stock compensation expense related to the amortization of the fair value of stock options issued was approximately $1.0 million and
$2.7 million for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017, respectively. For the three and nine months ended
December 31, 2016, stock compensation expense was approximately $0.8 million and $2.5 million, respectively. There was no stock
compensation expense related to the performance stock options issued for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017 and
2016.  Stock compensation expense is included as part of general and administrative expense in the accompanying Consolidated
Statement of Operations. The weighted average fair value for the stock option awards granted during the nine months ended
December 31, 2017 was $11.02. As of December 31, 2017, there was approximately $5.8 million of unrecognized compensation cost
related to non-vested stock options granted under the Company’s stock option plans, of which $3.8 million pertains to the non-
performance based stock options and $2.0 million pertains to the performance based stock options. The cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.0 years.

Motorola Investment

On September 15, 2014, Motorola invested $10.0 million to purchase 500,000 Class B Units of the Company’s subsidiary, PDV
Spectrum Holding Company, LLC (at a price equal to $20.00 per unit). The Company owns 100% of the Class A Units in this
subsidiary. Motorola has the right at any time to convert its 500,000 Class B Units into 500,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock. The Company also has the right to force Motorola’s conversion of these Class B Units into shares of its common stock at its
election. Motorola is not entitled to any assets, profits or distributions from the operations of the subsidiary. In addition, Motorola’s
conversion ratio from Class B Units to shares of the Company’s common stock is fixed on a one-for-one basis, and is not dependent
on the performance or valuation of either the Company or the subsidiary. The Class B Units have no redemption or call provisions
and can only be converted into shares of the Company’s common stock. Management has determined that this investment does not
meet the criteria for temporary equity or non-controlling interest due to the limited rights that Motorola has as a holder of Class B
Units, and accordingly has presented this investment as part of its permanent equity within Additional Paid-in Capital in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

9.     Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

The Company paid in cash $9,250 in taxes and did not make any payments for interest during the nine months ended December 31,
2017. The Company paid in cash $39,759 in taxes and did not make any payments for interest during the nine months ended
December 31, 2016.

During the nine months ended December 31, 2017, the Company entered into a lease agreement with a landlord that included a
Tenant Allowance of $202,000 that it utilized in the expansion of its corporate headquarters. The Tenant Allowance is included in
other liabilities.

During the nine months ended December 31, 2016, the Company entered into a barter transaction with a third party whereby it
acquired wireless licenses valued at approximately $307,000 consisting of approximately $269,000 related to use of the
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Company’s network along with radios and $39,000 in cash. The Company capitalized Asset Retirement Obligations that amounted to
$25,000 and $30,278 for the nine months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

10.     Commitments and Contingencies

Leasing Obligations

The Company is obligated under certain lease agreements for office space with lease terms expiring on various dates from January 7,
2019 through March 31, 2027, which includes a ten-year lease extension for its corporate headquarters. The Company entered into
multiple lease agreements for tower space related to its DispatchPlus business. The lease expiration dates range from February 28,
2020 to June 30, 2026.  

Rent expense amounted to approximately $0.6 million and $1.9 million, for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017,
respectively, of which approximately $0.4 million and approximately $1.2 million, respectively, was classified as cost of revenue and
the remainder of approximately $0.2 million and $0.7 million, respectively, was classified in operating expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.  Total rent expense amounted to approximately $0.5 million and $1.4 million, for the three and nine
months ended December 31, 2016, respectively, of which approximately $0.4 million and $1.0 million, respectively, was classified as
cost of revenue and the remainder of approximately $0.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively, was classified in operating expenses
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  At December 31, 2017, accumulated deferred rent payable amounted to approximately
$1.9 million and is included as part of other liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Aggregate rentals, under non-cancelable leases for office and tower space (exclusive of real estate taxes, utilities, maintenance and
other costs borne by the Company), for the remaining terms of the leases following the nine months ended December 31, 2017 are as
follows (in thousands):  

   
   
   

2018 (3 months)  $ 440 
2019   2,160 
2020   2,108 
2021   1,816 
2022   1,455 
After 2022   5,265 
Total  $ 13,243 

Litigation

The Company is not involved in any material legal proceedings at this time. However, from time to time, the Company may be
involved in litigation that arises from the ordinary operations of the business, such as contractual or employment disputes or other
general actions. In the event of an adverse outcome of these proceedings, the Company believes the resulting liabilities would not
have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

11.     Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents and trade accounts receivable.

The Company places its cash and temporary cash investments with financial institutions for which credit loss is not anticipated.

The Company sells its current software applications product and extends credit predominately through two domestic third-party
carriers. The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts based on factors surrounding the write-off history, historical
trends, and other information.

 
12.     Business Concentrations

For the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017, the Company had one Tier 1 domestic carrier that accounted for
approximately 40% of operating revenues.  For the three months ended December 31, 2016, the Company had two Tier 1 carriers that
accounted for approximately 40% and 8% of operating revenues, respectively.  For the nine months ended December 31, 2016, the
Company had two Tier 1 carriers that accounted for approximately 36% and 12% of operating revenues, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2017, and March 31, 2017, the Company had one Tier 1 domestic carrier that accounted for approximately 64%
and 67%, respectively, of accounts receivable.
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13.    Subsequent Events

On February 6, 2018, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement and a Sales Agreement (collectively,
the “Sales Agreements”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and B. Riley FBR, Inc., respectively (collectively, the “Agents”), and registered
the sale of up to an aggregate of $40,000,000 in shares of its Common Stock in at-the-market sales transactions pursuant to the Sales
Agreements.  See Item 5 Other Information of Part II of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information regarding the
Sales Agreements and the registration of the sale of the Company’s Common Stock in at-the-market sales transactions.
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 Item 2:  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of pdvWireless, Inc. (“PDV,” the “Company”, “we”, “us”,
or “our”) should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and notes thereto included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
and the audited financial statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2017,
filed with the SEC on June 6, 2017.  In addition to historical information, this discussion and analysis contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors including, but not limited to, those identified or referenced in “Item 1A—Risk
Factors” in Part II of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017.  As a result, investors are urged not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. 
Except to the limited extent required by applicable law, the Company does not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking
statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of this Quarterly Report.
 

Overview

We are a private wireless communications carrier focused on utilizing our spectrum assets to develop and offer next generation network and
mobile communication solutions to critical infrastructure and enterprise customers.  We are the largest holder of licensed spectrum in the
Part 90 900 MHz band (i.e., 896-901 MHz paired with 935-940 MHz) throughout the contiguous United States, plus Hawaii, Alaska and
Puerto Rico.  On average, we hold approximately 60% of the channels in our portion of the 900 MHz band in the top 20 metropolitan
market areas in the United States.  We maintain offices in Woodland Park, New Jersey, Reston, Virginia, and San Diego, California.  We also
maintain a sales office in West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania.

As our first priority, we are pursuing regulatory initiatives at the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) with the goal of
modernizing and realigning the 900 MHz band to increase its usability and capacity, including for the future deployment of broadband and
other advanced technologies and services.  At the same time, we are exploring and developing network and mobile communication
solutions, leveraging our spectrum to address the unmet needs of our targeted critical infrastructure and enterprise customers.  For our first
offering, we have deployed push-to-talk (“PTT”) networks and offer our DispatchPlusTM two-way radio service in seven major metropolitan
market areas, including Atlanta, Baltimore/Washington, Chicago, Dallas, Houston, New York and Philadelphia.  DispatchPlus allows our
enterprise customers to increase the productivity of their field-based workers and the efficiency of their dispatch and call center
operations.  We are pursuing opportunities to offer additional network and mobile communication solutions to critical infrastructure and
enterprise customers with our existing spectrum and currently available non-broadband technologies and, if we are successful with our FCC
efforts, through the deployment of broadband and other advanced wireless service offerings.

Our spectrum is our most valuable asset.  Although we can use our spectrum for our existing DispatchPlus business and for other
narrowband and wideband wireless services without the need to obtain any further FCC authorizations or rule modifications, many of the
future business opportunities that we have identified require higher bandwidth than we possess given the current configuration of our
spectrum.  As a result, we are pursuing a number of initiatives to increase the usability, efficiency and capacity of our 900 MHz spectrum.

In November 2014, we and the Enterprise Wireless Alliance (“EWA”) submitted a Joint Petition for Rulemaking to the FCC to propose the
realignment of a portion of the 900 MHz band from narrowband to broadband.  In response to the Joint Petition, the FCC issued a public
notice requesting comments from interested parties and asked a number of questions about the proposal. A number of parties, including
several incumbent licensees, filed comments with the FCC expressing their views, including both support and opposition.  In May 2015, we
and the EWA filed proposed rules with the FCC related to the Joint Petition.  Comments on the proposed rules were filed in June 2015, and
reply comments in July 2015.

On August 4, 2017, the FCC issued a Notice of Inquiry (“NOI”) that we believe signifies the FCC’s interest in conducting a serious and
comprehensive evaluation of the current and future rules governing the 900 MHz band.  In the NOI, the FCC announced that it had
commenced a proceeding to examine whether it would be in the public interest to change the existing rules governing the 900 MHz band
to enable increased access to spectrum, improved spectrum efficiency and expanded flexibility for a variety of potential uses and
applications, including broadband and other advanced technologies and services.  The FCC stated that the purpose of the NOI was to gather
information from interested parties to assist the FCC in its decision-making process.  The FCC requested interested parties, including us, to
comment on a number of questions related to three potential options for the 900 MHz band: (i) retaining the current configuration of the
900 MHz band, but increasing operational flexibility, (ii) reconfiguring a portion or all of the 900 MHz band to support broadband and
other advanced technologies and services or (iii) retaining the current 900 MHz band licensing and eligibility rules.  Because the FCC is
requesting information on multiple options for the 900 MHz band, the NOI effectively supersedes the Joint Petition and other pending
proposals that involved the 900 MHz band.  However, a broadband reconfiguration option included in the NOI is consistent with our Joint
Petition proposal, and all information we previously provided to the FCC to
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support the realignment and modernization of the 900 MHz band remains relevant.  The full text of the NOI is available on the FCC’s
public website at https://www.fcc.gov/document/900-mhz-notice-inquiry.

We and EWA filed a joint response to the FCC’s NOI on October 2, 2017 and reply comments on November 1, 2017.   We have responded
to all outstanding requests for information from the FCC, and we are currently awaiting FCC action.  Based on our discussions with the staff
of the FCC, we believe that the proceeding is currently under active consideration by FCC.  The FCC’s next step could be a Notice of
Proposed Rulemaking based on the NOI and the record developed in response to it, a request for additional information, a decision to close
the proceeding without further action, or some other action, and the timing of any such next step also remains uncertain.  The full text of the
response and reply comments filed by us and EWA as well as the other filings submitted in the proceeding are available on the FCC’s
public website.  

We continue to believe in the merits of our broadband approach, and that it would be in the public interest for the FCC to realign the 900
MHz band to enable broadband and other advanced technologies and services.  Nevertheless, obtaining a favorable result from the FCC
may take a significant amount of time and resources. Moreover, there is no assurance that following the conclusion of the NOI process, the
FCC will ultimately propose and adopt rules that will allow us to utilize our spectrum to offer broadband and other advanced technologies
and services.

To prepare for the filings we have submitted with the FCC and to build support for a 900 MHz broadband realignment, we have met, and
intend to continue to meet, with a number of incumbent licensees, critical infrastructure businesses and other interested parties in the 900
MHz band.  The goals with these discussions have been: (i) building consensus for the proposed reconfiguration of the 900 MHz band to
support broadband and other advanced technologies and services; (ii) resolving any technology or other concerns raised by incumbent
licensees; (iii) educating critical infrastructure businesses on how broadband capabilities could enhance their operations and initiatives (for
example, supporting grid modernization requirements or monitoring and/or controlling their own system or network elements via machine-
to-machine type services); (iv) gaining a better understanding of the size of the operational incumbent base and the nature of the systems
they are currently operating; and (v) evaluating and  proposing voluntary license relocation opportunities to certain incumbent licensees.

In Fiscal 2016, we began offering our commercial PTT service, which we market as DispatchPlus, in seven major metropolitan areas
throughout the United States, including Atlanta, Baltimore/Washington, Chicago, Dallas, Houston, New York and Philadelphia.  We
developed DispatchPlus to address the needs of enterprises that value a tailored PTT solution addressing the management of their mobile
workforce. These businesses typically operate within industry verticals such as construction, distribution, transportation, field services,
waste management and hospitality. Given the nature of their operations, DispatchPlus offers these businesses several advantages over
telephony and data-based services, including an easy-to-operate one-touch button, efficiency of communications and rugged equipment
optimal for field use.  The operation of our DispatchPlus business is separate from, and not contingent on, the initiatives we are pursuing at
the FCC or our other spectrum-related activities.

Our revenues are derived substantially from our DispatchPlus and pdvConnectTM offerings.  Our DispatchPlus service combines
pdvConnect, our proprietary suite of mobile communication and workforce management applications, with advanced digital network
architecture and mobile devices supplied by Motorola Solutions, Inc. and/or its subsidiaries (“Motorola”).  Developed for dispatch-centric
businesses, and historically offered to customers who utilize Tier 1 cellular networks, pdvConnect is an easy to use and efficient mobile
communication and workforce management solution that enables businesses to locate and communicate with their field workers and
improve the documentation of work events and job status.  Also built with the commercial dispatch customer in mind, Motorola’s digital
network architecture allows us to provide highly reliable, instant and wide-area PTT communication services to our customers.

To date, sales of our DispatchPlus service have been slower to ramp-up than our initial expectations for a number of reasons, including, but
not limited to, the performance of our indirect third-party sales representatives, longer initial sales cycles, and coverage gaps in certain
markets due to delays in our deployment of planned sites.  We continue to develop and implement targeted sales and marketing programs
for our DispatchPlus service to drive increased customer acquisition and revenue growth. 

We intend to continue to focus our efforts on the initial seven markets where we have commenced service until we prove out our
DispatchPlus business model in those markets.  We believe this approach will provide us with additional time and financial flexibility to
refine our longer-term strategies, including those related to our FCC initiatives and related activities.  
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America, which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, our actual results could differ from those based on such estimates and assumptions.
Further, to the extent that there are differences between our estimates and our actual results, our future financial statement presentation,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected. We believe that the accounting policies discussed below are
critical to understanding our historical performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving our judgments and
estimates.

We believe that the areas described below are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results, as
they require management’s most significant judgments in the application of accounting policy or in making estimates and assumptions that
are inherently uncertain and that may change in subsequent periods. Our significant accounting policies are set forth in Note 2 to our
consolidated financial statements. Of those policies, we believe that the policies discussed below may involve a higher degree of judgment
and may be more critical to an accurate reflection of our financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition.  We recognize revenue in the period that persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery of the product has
occurred or services have been rendered, we are able to determine the amount of revenue and when the collection of such amount is
considered probable.  In accordance with the guidance provided in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 605-45-45, (Revenue
Recognition – Principal Agent Considerations), we have determined that we are the primary obligor with respect to the service revenue
derived from sales of pdvConnect through our Tier I domestic carrier partners. As a result, revenue is recorded at the gross amount billed to
end-user customers for sales through these carrier partners. We also sell service and applications directly to end-users, which are billed and
collected directly by us.

In September 2014, Motorola paid us an upfront, fully-paid leasing fee of $7.5 million in order to lease a portion of our wireless spectrum
licenses. The payment of the fee is accounted for as deferred revenue on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We recognize leasing revenue in
accordance with ASC Topic 840, (Leases). The fee is amortized using the straight-line method over the lease term of approximately ten
years, which represents the time period in which the benefits of the leased property are expected to be depleted.

We evaluate certain transactions for our DispatchPlus service offering to determine whether they should be viewed as a Multiple Element
Arrangement provided in ASC Topic 605-25.  Judgment is required to properly identify the accounting units of the multiple deliverable
transactions and to determine the manner in which revenue should be allocated among the units of accounting.  Multiple deliverable
arrangements are presumed to be bundled transactions, and the total consideration is measured and allocated to the separate transactions
based on their relative selling price with certain limitations.  The relative selling price for each deliverable is determined using vendor-
specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of selling price or third-party evidence of such selling price if VSOE does not exist.  If neither VSOE
nor third party evidence of selling price exist, the Company uses its best estimate of the selling price for the deliverable.  We determined
that the rental of user devices in connection with service contracts for our DispatchPlus service are multiple deliverable arrangements.

Stock compensation. For purposes of calculating stock-based compensation, we estimate the fair value of stock options using a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. The determination of the fair value of option-based compensation utilizing the Black-Scholes model is
affected by a number of assumptions, including expected volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends.  The
expected term and volatility is based on the historical volatility of our common stock along with comparable public companies within our
industry since we have a short history regarding these variables.  The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on the U.S. Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of the grant for periods corresponding with the expected life of the options.  The dividend yield assumption is
zero since we have never paid and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.  In addition, we will continue to
estimate the number of equity awards that are expected to vest based on historical forfeiture rates.

The fair value of restricted stock and performance stock units are measured based on the quoted closing market price for the stock at the
date of grant. The compensation cost for restricted stock is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.  The compensation
cost for the performance stock units is recognized when the performance criteria are complete.

We have not attributed tax benefits to the share-based compensation expense because we maintain a full valuation allowance for all net
deferred tax assets.

Property and equipment. Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the shorter
of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the applicable lease term.  The carrying amount at the balance sheet date of long-lived assets
under construction in process includes construction costs to date on capital projects that have not been completed, assets being constructed
that are not ready to be placed in service, and assets that are not currently in service.  On a periodic basis costs within construction in
process are reviewed and a determination is made if the assets being developed will be put into use. If it is concluded that the asset will not
be put into use, the costs will be expensed.  If the asset will be put into use, the costs are transferred to property and equipment when
substantially all of the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use are completed. Depreciation commences upon
completion.
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Intangible Assets. Intangible assets are wireless licenses that will be used to provide us with the exclusive right to utilize designated radio
frequency spectrum to provide wireless communication services. While licenses are issued for only a fixed time, generally ten years, such
licenses are subject to renewal by the FCC. License renewals have occurred routinely and at nominal cost in the past. There are currently no
legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or other factors that limit the useful life of our wireless licenses. As a result, we have
determined that the wireless licenses should be treated as an indefinite-lived intangible asset. We will evaluate the useful life determination
for our wireless licenses each year to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support our treatment as an indefinite useful
life asset.

The licenses are tested for impairment on an aggregate basis, as we will be utilizing the wireless licenses on an integrated basis as a part of
developing our nationwide network. Before employing detailed impairment testing, we first evaluate the likelihood of impairment by
considering relevant qualitative factors that may have a significant bearing on fair value. If we determine that it is more likely than not that
the wireless licenses are impaired, we will apply a quantitative analysis including detailed testing methodologies. Otherwise, we conclude
that no impairment exists. In the event a quantitative analysis is required, we consider estimates of valuation methods to perform the test of
the fair values of the wireless licenses using, among other things, market based and discounted cash flow approaches.

Long-Lived Asset Impairment. We evaluate long-lived assets for impairment, other than intangible assets with indefinite lives, whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable. Asset groups are determined
at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other groups of assets and liabilities. When the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset group is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to the
excess of the asset group’s carrying value over the estimated fair value.

Income taxes. We utilize the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases
of assets and liabilities as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is established when it
is estimated that it is more likely than not that the tax benefit of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. We recognize the effect of tax positions only when they are more likely than not to be
sustained. Our management has determined that we had no uncertain tax positions that would require financial statement recognition or
disclosure. We are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state or local income tax examinations for periods prior to 2013.

JOBS Act. So long as  we remain an emerging growth company, or EGC, under the JOBS Act we are eligible for exemptions from various
reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are not EGCs, including, but not limited to:

· Not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002;

· Reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports, proxy statements and registration
statements; and

· Exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of
any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

As an EGC, we are also eligible to take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, for complying with new or revised accounting standards. Thus, we could delay the adoption of certain accounting
standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. Nevertheless, we have elected not to avail ourselves of this
extended transition period and, as a result, we will adopt new or revised accounting standards no later than the relevant dates on which
adoption of such standards is required for other public companies.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (a) the last day of the fiscal year following January 26, 2020, (b) the last
day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.0 billion, (c) the date on which we are deemed to be a large
accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of the
prior second fiscal quarter (currently September 30th), or the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt
during the prior three-year period.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. The period-to-
period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of the financial results we will achieve in future periods.

            
            
 Three months ended  Nine months ended

(dollars in thousands, except share data)  December 31,  December 31,
 2017   2016  2017  2016

Operating revenues    (Unaudited)    (Unaudited)    (Unaudited)    (Unaudited)
Service revenue   $ 1,232   $ 976   $ 3,500   $ 2,627 
Spectrum lease revenue    182    182    547    547 
Other revenue   187    177    532    349 
Total operating revenues   1,601   1,335  $ 4,579  $ 3,523 

Cost of revenue             
Sales and service   2,016   1,832   5,628   5,091 
Gross loss   (415)  (497)  (1,049)  (1,568)

Operating expenses             
General and administrative   5,464   4,847   15,340   18,069 
Sales and support   1,619   1,421   5,009   3,857 
Product development   592   539   1,772   1,734 
Total operating expenses   7,675   6,807   22,121   23,660 
Loss from operations   (8,090)  (7,304)  (23,170)  (25,228)

Interest expense   (1)  (1)  (2)  (4)
Interest income   197   25   494   73 
Other income (expense)   (9)  (8)  (29)  (13)

Loss before income taxes   (7,903)  (7,288)  (22,707)  (25,172)
Income tax expense   (2,181)   —   (875)   —

Net loss  $ (5,722) $ (7,288) $ (21,832) $ (25,172)
Net loss per common share basic and diluted  $ (0.40) $ (0.51) $ (1.51) $ (1.75)
Weighted-average common shares used to compute basic 
  and diluted net loss per share   14,451,313   14,396,212   14,445,627   14,385,002 

            

Operating revenues. Overall operating revenues increased by $0.3 million, or 20%, to $1.6 million for the three months ended December
31, 2017 from $1.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2016.  The increase in the three months is primarily attributable to a
$0.3 million increase in service revenue in our DispatchPlus business resulting from an increase in the number of DispatchPlus
subscribers.  Other revenue, which primarily consists of equipment sales and rentals for the DispatchPlus business, remained flat at $0.2
million.  Operating revenues increased $1.1 million, or 30%, to $4.6 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2017 from $3.5
million for the nine months ended December 31, 2016.  The increase resulted from the growth in our DispatchPlus business.  The $0.9
million increase in service revenue was due to the increase in DispatchPlus subscribers.  Other revenue, which primarily consists of
equipment sales and rentals for the DispatchPlus business, increased by approximately $0.2 million, or 53%, for the nine months ended
December 31, 2017 compared to the nine months ended December 31, 2016.

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2017 increased by approximately $0.2 million, or 10%, to $2.0
million from $1.8 million for the three months ended December 31, 2016.  For the nine months ended December 31, 2017, cost of revenue
increased by $0.5 million, or 11%, to $5.6 million from $5.1 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2016.  The increase for the
three month and nine month periods resulted primarily from the costs to maintain and operate our launched PTT networks for our
DispatchPlus business. 

Gross loss. Gross loss decreased by $0.1 million for the three months ended December 31, 2017 to ($0.4 million) from ($0.5 million) for the
three months ended December 31, 2016.  Gross loss decreased by $0.5 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2017 to ($1.1
million) from ($1.6 million) for the nine months ended December 31, 2016.  The primary driver for the lower gross loss for the three and
nine month periods were the increases in operating revenues, primarily from our DispatchPlus business.

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2017 increased by
$0.6 million, or 13%, to $5.4 million from $4.8 million for three months ended December 31, 2016. The increase in general and
administrative expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2017 resulted primarily from $0.3 million in higher headcount costs and
approximately $0.3 million for stock compensation.   For the nine months ended December 31, 2017, general and administrative
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costs decreased by $2.7 million, or 15%, to $15.3 million from $18.0 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2016.  The decrease
related primarily to $5.4 million in costs incurred for the FirstNet bid opportunity for the nine months ended December 31, 2016.  This
decrease was partially offset by $0.7 million in higher headcount costs, $0.4 million for higher stock compensation, and $0.6 million in
increased consulting costs for strategic initiatives.

Sales and support expenses. Sales and support expenses increased by $0.2 million, or 14%, to $1.6 million for three months ended
December 31, 2017 from $1.4 million for the three months ended December 31, 2016.  For the nine months ended December 31, 2017, sales
and support expenses increased by $1.1 million, or 30%, to $5.0 million from $3.9 million for the nine months ended December 31,
2016.  The increases in both periods resulted from increased headcount and related costs. 

Product development expenses. Product development expenses remained relatively flat for the three months and nine months ended
December 31, 2017 as compared to the three months and nine months ended December 31, 2016.

Interest expense. Interest expense incurred for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 relates to our
promissory note issued in October 2015 in connection with the acquisition of wireless licenses.

Interest income.  The $0.2 million increase in interest income earned for the three months ended December 31, 2017 and the $0.4 million
increase for the nine months ended December 31, 2017 resulted from higher returns on the amounts held in our money market funds.

Income tax expense.  A non-cash income tax benefit of $2.2 million and $0.9 million for the three and nine months ended December 31,
2017 compared to none in the prior year. The tax benefit for both periods had an unusual relationship to the pre-tax loss due primarily to
the existence of a deferred tax asset valuation allowance at the beginning of both periods.  The tax benefit recorded in the three and nine
months ended December 31, 2017 resulted from $1.8 million and $5.3 million, respectively, of tax amortization of our indefinite-lived
intangible assets that is not available to offset existing deferred tax assets. Due to the passage of Public Law 115-97 (“Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act”) on December 22, 2017, the statutory federal corporate tax rate has been reduced from a maximum of 35% to 21% for years beginning
after December 31, 2017.  The net effect of this rate change on the deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2017 resulted in a tax benefit to
us of $2.8 million, which is a discrete item for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2017.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2017, we had cash and cash equivalents of $104.2 million.

Our accounts receivable is heavily concentrated in one Tier 1 domestic carrier partner. As of December 31, 2017, our accounts receivable
balance was approximately $0.8 million, of which approximately $0.5 million, or approximately 64%, was due from the third-party Tier 1
domestic carrier partner. 

Net cash used by operating activities. Net cash used in operating activities was $16.9 million for the nine months ended December 31,
2017, as compared to $20.6 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2016. The majority of net cash used by operating activities
during the nine months ended December 31, 2017 resulted from the net loss of $21.8 million, which includes the costs incurred to support
our DispatchPlus business, partially offset by a reduction in stock-based compensation of $4.0 million.  The majority of net cash used by
operating activities during the nine months ended December 31, 2016 resulted from the net loss of $25.2 million, which includes the costs
incurred to support our DispatchPlus business, partially offset by a reduction in stock-based compensation of $3.6 million. 

Net cash used by investing activities. Net cash used in investing activities was approximately $2.7 million for the nine months ended
December 31, 2017, as compared to $2.2 million used for the nine months ended December 31, 2016. The net cash used during the nine
months ended December 31, 2017 resulted from $1.9 million in wireless license acquisitions and $0.7 million for the continuing equipment
purchases and construction costs related to the buildout of additional network sites for our DispatchPlus business.  The net cash used during
the nine months ended December 31, 2016 resulted from $0.5 million in wireless license acquisitions and $1.7 million for the continuing
equipment purchases and construction costs related to the buildout of our network for our DispatchPlus business. 

Net cash from financing activities. For the nine months ended December 31, 2017, there was $0.3 million in cash used by financing
activities resulting from $0.5 million share based tax withholding payments offset by stock option exercises of $0.2 million.  For the nine
months ended December 31, 2016, there was no cash provided by financing activities. 

We intend to continue to focus our efforts on the initial seven markets where we have deployed our DispatchPlus service until we prove out
our DispatchPlus business model in those markets.  We believe this approach will provide us with additional time and financial flexibility
to refine our longer term strategies, including those related to our FCC initiatives and related activities.
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Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including: the timing and amount of the revenues we generate from our
DispatchPlus services and other network and mobile communication solutions we elect to offer; the development of new service offerings;
the cost and success of our sales and marketing activities and initiatives; the timeline and results of our FCC initiatives and related
activities; the expenses associated with our other spectrum initiatives; and our ability to control our operating expenses related to our
DispatchPlus business and spectrum activities and initiatives.  We believe our cash and cash equivalents on hand will be sufficient to meet
our financial obligations through at least the next 12 months.

On November 3, 2016, we filed a shelf registration statement (the “Shelf Registration Statement”) on Form S-3 with the SEC that was
declared effective by the SEC on November 16, 2016, which permits us to offer up to $100 million of common stock, preferred stock, debt
securities and warrants in one or more offerings and in any combination, including in units from time to time. Our Shelf Registration
Statement is intended to provide us with additional flexibility to access capital markets for general corporate purposes, which may include
working capital, capital expenditures, repayment of debt, other corporate expenses and acquisitions of complementary products,
technologies or businesses.

On February 6, 2018, we entered into a Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement and a Sales Agreement (collectively, the “Sales
Agreements”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and B. Riley FBR, Inc., respectively (collectively, the “Agents”), and registered the sale of up to
an aggregate of $40,000,000 in shares of our Common Stock in at-the-market sales transactions pursuant to the Sales Agreements under the
Shelf Registration Statement.

We cannot predict with certainty when, if ever, we will require additional capital to further fund our current or future business plans and
initiatives. Presently, we intend to cover our future operating expenses through cash on hand and from revenue derived primarily from our
planned sales of our DispatchPlus and pdvConnect services and product offerings.  We may experience greater than expected cash usage to
support our operating activities and business plan and/or our revenues may be lower than, or take more time to develop, than we anticipate.
See “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on June 6, 2017 and in our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2017 filed with the SEC on August 8, 2017 for risks and
uncertainties that could cause our operating costs to be more than we currently anticipate and/or our revenue and operating results to be
lower than we currently anticipate. As a result, we cannot provide assurance that we will not require additional funding in the future. In
addition, we may elect to acquire businesses, technologies or spectrum or license technologies from third parties for or in connection with
our spectrum initiatives.  We also intend to pursue the development and offering of additional next generation network and mobile
communications solutions. As a result, we may decide to raise additional capital through debt or equity financing, including pursuant to
our Shelf Registration Statement, to the extent we believe this is necessary to successfully complete these acquisitions or license these
technologies or pursue spectrum or other business opportunities. However, we cannot be sure that additional financing will be available if
and when needed, or that, if available, we can obtain financing on terms favorable to us and our stockholders. Any failure to obtain
financing when required would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and liquidity.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

As of December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2017, we did not have and do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships that were established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and regulations of
the SEC.  

 Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our financial instruments consist of cash, cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and accounts payable. We consider investments in
highly liquid instruments purchased with original maturities of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Our primary exposure to market risk
is interest income sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. However, because of the short-term
nature of the highly liquid instruments in our portfolio, a 10% change in market interest rates would not be expected to have a material
impact on our financial condition and/or results of operations.

Our operations are based in the United States and, accordingly, all of our transactions are denominated in U.S. dollars. We are currently not
exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency.

 
 Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of
such period. 
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In connection with the evaluation required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(d), our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
our Chief Financial Officer, concluded that no changes in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the period covered
by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or our
internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control
system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further,
because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due
to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include
the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls
can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the
controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be
no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation
of controls effectiveness to future periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions
or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.
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 PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

 Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

We are not involved in any material legal proceedings.

 Item 1A.  Risk Factors.

In evaluating us and our common stock, we urge you to carefully consider the risks and other information in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q as well as the risk factors disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2017, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on June 6, 2017 (the “Form 10-K”) and in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended June 30, 2017, filed with the SEC on August 8, 2017 (the ”First Quarter Form 10-Q”).  There have been no
material changes from the risk factors as previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our First Quarter Form 10-
Q.  Any of the risks discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our First Quarter Form
10-Q, as well as additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial, could materially and
adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition.

 Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Use of Proceeds

On May 18, 2015, we completed a public offering of our common stock in which we raised net proceeds of approximately $64.8
million.  We registered the shares of common stock issued in the offering on a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-203681),
which the SEC declared effective on May 12, 2015.  Through December 31, 2017, we have used approximately $18.4 million of the net
proceeds from this offering.  We did not complete any transaction in which we paid any of these proceeds, directly or indirectly, to our
directors or officers, to any person owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities, to any associate of any of the foregoing, or to
any of our affiliates.  There has been no material change in the expected uses of the net proceeds from the offering as described in our
Registration Statement.

 Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

 Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

 Item 5.  Other Information.

On February 6, 2018, we entered into a Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement and a Sales Agreement (collectively, the “Sales
Agreements”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and B. Riley FBR, Inc., respectively (collectively, the “Agents”), pursuant to which we may
offer and sell, from time to time through the Agents, shares of our common stock in at-the-market sales transactions having an aggregate
offering price of up to $40,000,000 (the “Shares”).  Any Shares offered and sold will be issued pursuant to our Shelf Registration Statement
on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-214417) and the related prospectus previously declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) on November 16, 2016, as supplemented by a prospectus supplement, dated February 6, 2018.

Under the Sales Agreements, the Agents may each sell Shares by any method permitted by law and deemed to be an “at-the-market offering”
as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) promulgated under the Securities Act, including sales made directly on the Nasdaq Stock Market or on any
other existing trading market for our common stock in negotiated transactions at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or at prices
related to such prevailing market prices and/or any other method permitted by law.

We are not obligated to make any sales of Shares under either of the Sales Agreements, and if we elect to make any sales, we can set a
minimum sales price for the Shares. The offering of Shares pursuant to the Sales Agreements will terminate upon the sale of an aggregate of
$40,000,000 of Shares pursuant to the Sales Agreements. In addition, each of the Sales Agreements may be individually terminated by the
applicable Agent or the Company, as permitted therein.

We will pay the Agents a commission rate of up to 2.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds from each sale of Shares and have agreed to
provide the Agents with customary indemnification and contribution rights. We will also reimburse the Agents for certain specified
expenses in connection with entering into the Sales Agreements.
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We intend to use discretion in initiating sales, if any, under the Sales Agreements and believe that it is in the best interests of our
stockholders to have the flexibility to raise additional capital under favorable market conditions to support our efforts to build long-term
stockholder value. There are a number of potential benefits to raising funds through the Sales Agreements, including minimizing dilution
by avoiding share price discounts, greater banking fees and the potential for share price degradation that can result from raising capital
through private or public offerings.

We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of Shares under the Sales Agreements for general corporate purposes, which may include,
among other purposes, working capital, pursuing our regulatory initiatives at the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”), exploring
and developing network and mobile communication solutions, capital expenditures, other corporate expenses, and acquisitions of assets,
licenses, products, technologies or businesses.  

The foregoing description of the Sales Agreements is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of such
agreements, copies of which are filed as Exhibit 10.1 and Exhibit 10.2, respectively, to this quarterly report on Form 10-Q and are
incorporated herein by reference. The opinion of our counsel regarding the validity of the Shares that will be issued pursuant to the Sales
Agreements is also filed herewith as Exhibit 5.1.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q shall not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy the Shares, nor shall there be
any offer, solicitation, or sale of the Shares in any state in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or
qualification under the securities laws of any such state.
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 Item 6.  Exhibits.

 
 

Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit

    3.1(1) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of pdvWireless, Inc. (the “Company”).
    3.2(2) Certificate of Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. 
    3.3(3) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company.
    4.1(1) Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Company.
    4.2(1) Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 10, 2014, by and among the Company, certain of the Company’s executive

officers named therein, and FBR Capital Markets & Co., on behalf of the investors participating in the June 2014 private
placement.

    4.3(1) Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated October 2010, by and among the Company and investors named
therein.

    4.4(1) Amendment and Waiver of Rights under Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, approved May 30, 2014, by
and among the Company and the investors named therein.

   5.1   Opinion of Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP
   10.1 Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement, dated February 6, 2018, by and between the Company and Cantor

Fitzgerald & Co.
   10.2 Sales Agreement, dated February 6, 2018, by and between the Company and B. Riley FBR, Inc.
   23.1 Consent of Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1)
  31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  32.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

____________
(1) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-201156), filed with the SEC on

December 19, 2014.

(2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36827), filed with the SEC on
November 5, 2015. 

(3) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36827), filed with the SEC on
June 27, 2017.

* The certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and will
not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the
Registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.
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 SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 

   
   pdvWireless, Inc.

Date: February 6, 2018  /s/ John C. Pescatore
   John C. Pescatore
   President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

   /s/ Timothy A. Gray
   Timothy A. Gray
   Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 5.1

 

February 6, 2018

pdvWireless, Inc.
3 Garret Mountain Plaza, Suite 401
Woodland Park, NJ 07424

Ladies and Gentlemen:
We have acted as counsel to pdvWireless, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and you have requested our
opinion with respect to certain matters in connection with the offering by the Company of the number of authorized but
unissued shares having aggregate sale proceeds of up to $40 million (the “Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par
value $0.0001 (the “Common Stock”), to be issued pursuant to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No.
333-214417) originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), on November 3, 2016 (the “Registration Statement”), the related prospectus dated
November 16, 2016, included in the Registration Statement (the “Base Prospectus”), and the prospectus supplement to be
filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) of the rules and regulations of the Act (the “Prospectus Supplement”).
The Base Prospectus and the Prospectus Supplement are collectively referred to as the “Prospectus.” The Shares are to be
sold by the Company in accordance with a Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement and a Sales Agreement
 (collectively, the “Sales Agreements”),  each dated February 6, 2018, by and between the Company and Cantor
Fitzgerald & Co. and B. Riley FBR. Inc., respectively, as described in the Prospectus Supplement.

In connection with this opinion, we have examined and relied upon the Registration Statement, the Prospectus, the
Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws, as currently in effect,
and the originals or copies certified to our satisfaction of such other documents, records, certificates, memoranda and
other instruments as in our judgment are necessary or appropriate to enable us to render the opinion expressed below. 
With your consent, we have relied upon certificates and other assurances of officers of the Company as to factual matters
without having independently verified such factual matters. We have assumed the genuineness and authenticity of all
documents submitted to us as originals, and the conformity to originals of all documents submitted to us as copies thereof
and the due execution and delivery by all parties other than the Company of all documents where due execution and
delivery are a prerequisite to the effectiveness thereof.

This opinion is being furnished in connection with the requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Act,
and no opinion is expressed herein as to any matter pertaining to the contents of the Registration Statement or the
Prospectus, other than as expressly stated herein with respect to the issue of the Shares. Our opinion is limited to the
matters stated herein and no opinion is implied or may be inferred beyond the matters expressly stated. Our opinion
herein is expressed solely with respect to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware and we express no opinion
with respect to any other laws. Our opinion is based on these laws as in effect on the date hereof, and we disclaim any
obligation to advise you of facts, circumstances, events or developments which hereafter may be brought to our attention
and which may alter, affect or modify the opinion expressed herein.

Subject to the foregoing and the other matters set forth herein, it is our opinion that, when the Shares to be issued and sold
by the Company are issued and paid for in accordance with the terms of the Sales Agreements, such Shares will be validly
issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption “Legal Matters” in the Prospectus Supplement and to the filing
of this opinion as an exhibit to a Quarterly Report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period

GDSVF&H\

 

 



pdvWireless, Inc.
February 6, 2018
Page 2
 
 
ending December 31, 2017. In giving such consent, we do not thereby admit that we are in the category of persons whose
consent is required under Section 7 of the Act or the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP

GUNDERSON DETTMER STOUGH VILLENEUVE FRANKLIN & HACHIGIAN, LLP

GDSVF&H\
 



EXHIBIT 10.1
Execution Version

pdvWireless, Inc.
Shares of Common Stock

(par value $0.0001 per share)

Controlled Equity OfferingSM

Sales Agreement

February 6, 2018

Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.
499 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10022

Ladies and Gentlemen:

pdvWireless, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), confirms its agreement (this
“Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (the “Agent”), as follows:

The Company has also entered into a separate sales agreement (an “Alternative Sales
Agreement”), dated as of even date herewith, with B. Riley FBR, Inc. (the “Alternative Agent”).

1.  Issuance and Sale of Shares.  The Company agrees that, from time to time during the
term of this Agreement, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, it may issue and sell
through the Agent, shares of common stock (the “Placement Shares”) of the Company, par value
$0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”); provided,  however, that in no event shall the Company
issue or sell through the Agent such number or dollar amount of Placement Shares that would (a) exceed
the number or dollar amount of shares of Common Stock registered on the effective Registration
Statement (defined below) pursuant to which the offering is being made, (b) exceed the number of
authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock (less shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise,
conversion or exchange of any outstanding securities of the Company or otherwise reserved from the
Company’s authorized capital stock), (c) exceed the number or dollar amount of shares of Common
Stock permitted to be sold under Form S-3 (including General Instruction I.B.6 thereof, if applicable) or
(d) exceed the number or dollar amount of shares of Common Stock for which the Company has filed a
Prospectus Supplement (defined below) (the lesser of (a), (b), (c) and (d), the “Maximum
Amount”).  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the parties hereto agree that
compliance with the limitations set forth in this Section 1 on the amount of Placement Shares issued and
sold under this Agreement shall be the sole responsibility of the Company and that the Agent shall have
no obligation in connection with such compliance.  The offer and sale of Placement Shares through the
Agent will be effected pursuant to the Registration Statement (as defined below) filed by the Company
and which has been or will be declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Commission”), although nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as requiring the Company to use
the Registration Statement to issue Common Stock.

The Company has filed or will file, in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and the rules and regulations thereunder (the “Securities Act
Regulations”), with the Commission a registration statement on Form S-3,

 



 
 
including a base prospectus, relating to certain securities, including the Placement Shares to be issued
from time to time by the Company, and which incorporates by reference documents that the Company
has filed or will file in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the rules and regulations thereunder.  The Company has
prepared a prospectus or a prospectus supplement to the base prospectus included as part of the
registration statement, which prospectus or prospectus supplement relates to the Placement Shares to be
issued from time to time by the Company (the “Prospectus Supplement”).  The Company will furnish
to the Agent, for use by the Agent, copies of the prospectus included as part of such registration
statement, as supplemented, by the Prospectus Supplement, relating to the Placement Shares to be issued
from time to time by the Company.  The Company may file one or more additional registration
statements from time to time that will contain a base prospectus and related prospectus or prospectus
supplement, if applicable (which shall be a Prospectus Supplement), with respect to the Placement
Shares.  Except where the context otherwise requires, such registration statement(s), including all
documents filed as part thereof or incorporated by reference therein, and including any information
contained in a Prospectus (as defined below) subsequently filed with the Commission pursuant to
Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act Regulations or deemed to be a part of such registration statement
pursuant to Rule 430B of the Securities Act Regulations, is herein called the “Registration
Statement.”  The base prospectus or base prospectuses, including all documents incorporated therein by
reference, included in the Registration Statement, as it may be supplemented, if necessary, by the
Prospectus Supplement, in the form in which such prospectus or prospectuses and/or Prospectus
Supplement have most recently been filed by the Company with the Commission pursuant to
Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act Regulations, together with the then issued Issuer Free Writing
Prospectus(es), is herein called the “Prospectus.” 

Any reference herein to the Registration Statement, any Prospectus Supplement, Prospectus or
any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus (defined below) shall be deemed to refer to and include the
documents, if any, incorporated by reference therein (the “Incorporated Documents”), including,
unless the context otherwise requires, the documents, if any, filed as exhibits to such Incorporated
Documents. Any reference herein to the terms “amend,” “amendment” or “supplement” with respect to
the Registration Statement, any Prospectus Supplement, the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing
Prospectus shall be deemed to refer to and include the filing of any document under the Exchange Act
on or after the most-recent effective date of the Registration Statement, or the date of the Prospectus
Supplement, Prospectus or such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, as the case may be, and incorporated
therein by reference.  For purposes of this Agreement, all references to the Registration Statement, the
Prospectus or to any amendment or supplement thereto shall be deemed to include the most recent copy
filed with the Commission pursuant to its Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval system, or if
applicable, the Interactive Data Electronic Application system when used by the Commission
(collectively, “EDGAR”).

2.  Placements.  Each time that the Company wishes to issue and sell Placement Shares
hereunder (each, a “Placement”), it will notify the Agent by email notice (or other method mutually
agreed to by the parties) of the number of Placement Shares to be issued, the time period during which
sales are requested to be made, any limitation on the number of Placement Shares that may be sold in
any one day and any minimum price below which sales may not be made (a “Placement Notice”), the
form of which is attached hereto as Schedule 1.  The Placement Notice
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shall originate from any of the individuals from the Company set forth on Schedule 3 (with a
copy to each of the other individuals from the Company listed on such schedule), and shall be
addressed to each of the individuals from the Agent set forth on Schedule 3, as such Schedule 3
may be amended from time to time.  The Placement Notice shall be effective unless and until
(i) the Agent declines to accept the terms contained therein for any reason, in its sole discretion,
(ii) the entire amount of the Placement Shares thereunder have been sold, (iii) the Company
suspends or terminates the Placement Notice or (iv) this Agreement has been terminated under
the provisions of Section 12.  The amount of any discount, commission or other compensation to
be paid by the Company to Agent in connection with the sale of the Placement Shares shall be
calculated in accordance with the terms set forth in Schedule 2.  It is expressly acknowledged
and agreed that neither the Company nor the Agent will have any obligation whatsoever with
respect to a Placement or any Placement Shares unless and until the Company delivers a
Placement Notice to the Agent and the Agent does not decline such Placement Notice pursuant
to the terms set forth above, and then only upon the terms specified therein and herein.  In the
event of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of a Placement Notice, the
terms of the Placement Notice will control.

3.  Sale of Placement Shares by Agent. 

(a)  Subject to the provisions of Section 5(a), the Agent, for the period specified in
the Placement Notice, will use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and
sales practices and applicable state and federal laws, rules and regulations and the rules of the NASDAQ
Capital Market (the “Exchange”), to sell the Placement Shares up to the amount specified, and
otherwise in accordance with the terms of such Placement Notice.  The Agent will provide written
confirmation to the Company no later than the opening of the Trading Day (as defined below)
immediately following the Trading Day on which it has made sales of Placement Shares hereunder
setting forth the number of Placement Shares sold on such day, the compensation payable by the
Company to the Agent pursuant to Section 2 with respect to such sales, and the Net Proceeds (as
defined below) payable to the Company, with an itemization of the deductions made by the Agent (as
set forth in Section 5(b)) from the gross proceeds that it receives from such sales.  Subject to the terms of
the Placement Notice, the Agent may sell Placement Shares by any method permitted by law deemed to
be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) of the Securities Act Regulations, including
sales made directly on or through the Exchange or any other existing trading market for the Common
Stock, in negotiated transactions at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or at prices related to such
prevailing market prices and/or any other method permitted by law.  “Trading Day” means any day on
which Common Stock is traded on the Exchange.

(b)  While a Placement Notice is in effect, neither Agent nor any of its subsidiaries
shall, for its own account, engage in (i) any short sale of any security of the Company, as defined in
Regulation SHO or (ii) any market making bidding, stabilization or other trading activity with regard to
the Common Stock or related derivative securities, in each case, if such activity would be prohibited
under Regulation M or other anti-manipulation rules under the Securities Act. For the avoidance of
doubt, this restriction shall not apply to transactions by or on behalf of any customer of such Agent or
transactions by such Agent to facilitate any such transactions by or on behalf of any customer of such
Agent.
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4.  Suspension of Sales.  The Company or the Agent may, upon notice to the other party in
writing (including by email correspondence to each of the individuals of the other party set forth on
Schedule 3, if receipt of such correspondence is actually acknowledged by any of the individuals to
whom the notice is sent, other than via auto-reply) or by telephone (confirmed immediately by verifiable
facsimile transmission or email correspondence to each of the individuals of the other party set forth on
Schedule 3), suspend any sale of Placement Shares (a “Suspension”); provided,  however, that such
Suspension shall not affect or impair any party’s obligations with respect to any Placement Shares sold
hereunder prior to the receipt of such notice.  While a Suspension is in effect any obligation under
Sections 7(l),  7(m), and 7(n) with respect to the delivery of certificates, opinions, or comfort letters to
the Agent, shall be waived. Each of the parties agrees that no such notice under this Section 4 shall be
effective against any other party unless it is made to one of the individuals named on Schedule 3 hereto,
as such Schedule may be amended from time to time.

5.  Sale and Delivery to the Agent; Settlement.

(a)  Sale of Placement Shares.   On the basis of the representations and warranties
herein contained and subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth, upon the Agent’s acceptance of
the terms of a Placement Notice, and unless the sale of the Placement Shares described therein has been
declined, suspended, or otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Agent,
for the period specified in the Placement Notice, will use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent
with its normal trading and sales practices and applicable law and regulations to sell such Placement
Shares up to the amount specified, and otherwise in accordance with the terms of such Placement
Notice.  The Company acknowledges and agrees that (i) there can be no assurance that the Agent will
be successful in selling Placement Shares, (ii) the Agent will incur no liability or obligation to the
Company or any other person or entity if it does not sell Placement Shares for any reason other than a
failure by the Agent to use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and
sales practices and applicable law and regulations to sell such Placement Shares as required under this
Agreement and (iii) the Agent shall be under no obligation to purchase Placement Shares on a principal
basis pursuant to this Agreement, except as otherwise agreed by the Agent and the Company.

(b)  Settlement of Placement Shares.   Unless otherwise specified in the applicable
Placement Notice, settlement for sales of Placement Shares will occur on the second (2nd) Trading Day
(or such earlier day as is industry practice for regular-way trading) following the date on which such
sales are made (each, a “Settlement Date”).  The Agent shall notify the Company of each sale of
Placement Shares no later than the opening of the Trading Day immediately following the Trading Day
on which it has made sales of Placement Shares hereunder.  The amount of proceeds to be delivered to
the Company on a Settlement Date against receipt of the Placement Shares sold (the “Net Proceeds”)
will be equal to the aggregate sales price received by the Agent, after deduction for (i) the Agent’s
commission, discount or other compensation for such sales payable by the Company pursuant to Section
2 hereof, and (ii) any transaction fees imposed by any Governmental Authority in respect of such sales.

(c)   Delivery of Placement Shares.  On or before each Settlement Date, the
Company will, or will cause its transfer agent to, electronically transfer the Placement Shares being sold
by crediting the Agent’s or its designee’s account (provided the Agent shall have given the Company
written notice of such designee at least one Trading Day prior to the Settlement Date) at
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The Depository Trust Company through its Deposit and Withdrawal at Custodian
System or by such other means of delivery as may be mutually agreed upon by the
parties hereto which in all cases shall be freely tradable, transferable, registered shares in
good deliverable form.  On each Settlement Date, the Agent will deliver the related Net
Proceeds in same day funds to an account designated by the Company on, or prior to, the
Settlement Date.  The Company agrees that if the Company, or its transfer agent (if
applicable), defaults in its obligation to deliver Placement Shares on a Settlement Date
(unless such default is directly and primarily caused by Agent), the Company agrees that
in addition to and in no way limiting the rights and obligations set forth in Section 10(a)
hereto, it will (i) hold the Agent harmless against any loss, claim, damage, or reasonable
and documented expense (including reasonable legal fees and expenses), as incurred,
arising out of or in connection with such default by the Company or its transfer agent (if
applicable) and (ii) pay to the Agent any commission, discount, or other compensation to
which it would otherwise have been entitled absent such default.

(d)  Denominations; Registration.  Certificates for the Placement Shares, if any, shall
be in such denominations and registered in such names as the Agent may request in writing at least one
full Business Day (as defined below) before the Settlement Date.  The certificates for the Placement
Shares, if any, will be made available by the Company for examination and packaging by the Agent in
The City of New York not later than noon (New York time) on the Business Day prior to the Settlement
Date.

(e)  Limitations on Offering Size.  Under no circumstances shall the Company cause
or request the offer or sale of any Placement Shares if, after giving effect to the sale of such Placement
Shares, the aggregate gross sales proceeds of Placement Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement together
with all sales of the Shares under the Alternative Sales Agreement would exceed the lesser of (A)  the
Maximum Amount and (B) the amount authorized from time to time to be issued and sold under this
Agreement by the Company’s board of directors, a duly authorized committee thereof or a duly
authorized executive committee, and notified to the Agent in writing.  Under no circumstances shall the
Company cause or request the offer or sale of any Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement at a
price lower than the minimum price authorized from time to time by the Company’s board of directors, a
duly authorized committee thereof or a duly authorized executive committee, and notified to the Agent
in writing.  Further, under no circumstances shall the Company cause or permit the aggregate offering
amount of Placement Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement to exceed the Maximum Amount.

(f)  One Agent.  The Company agrees that any offer to sell Placement Shares, any
solicitation of an offer to buy Placement Shares, or any sales of Placement Shares shall only be effected
by or through only one of the Agent or the Alternative Agent on any single given day, but in no event
by more than one, and the Company shall in no event request that the Agent and the Alternative Agent
sell Shares on the same day.  

6.  Representations and Warranties of the Company.  The Company represents and warrants
to, and agrees with Agent that as of the date of this Agreement and as of each Applicable Time (as
defined below), unless such representation, warranty or agreement specifies a different time:

(a)  The Company and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement meet the
requirements for and comply with the applicable conditions set forth in Form S-3 (including
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General Instructions I.A and I.B) under the Securities Act.   The Registration Statement
has been or will be filed with the Commission and will be declared effective by the
Commission under the Securities Act prior to the issuance of any Placement Notices by
the Company.  The Prospectus Supplement will name the Agent as the agent in the
section entitled “Plan of Distribution.” The Company has not received, and has no notice
of, any order of the Commission preventing or suspending the use of the Registration
Statement, or threatening or instituting proceedings for that purpose.  The Registration
Statement and the offer and sale of Placement Shares as contemplated hereby meet the
requirements of Rule 415 under the Securities Act and comply in all material respects
with said Rule.  Any statutes, regulations, contracts or other documents that are required
to be described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to
the Registration Statement have been so described or filed.  Copies of the Registration
Statement, the Prospectus, and any such amendments or supplements and all documents
incorporated by reference therein that were filed with the Commission on or prior to the
date of this Agreement have been delivered, or are available through EDGAR, to Agent
and its counsel.  The Company has not distributed and, prior to the later to occur of each
Settlement Date and completion of the distribution of the Placement Shares, will not
distribute any offering material in connection with the offering or sale of the Placement
Shares other than the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and any Issuer Free
Writing Prospectus (as defined below) to which the Agent has consented, which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  The Common Stock is
registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act and is currently listed on the
Exchange under the trading symbol “PDVW.”  The Company has taken no action
designed to, or likely to have the effect of, terminating the registration of the Common
Stock under the Exchange Act, delisting the Common Stock from the Exchange, nor has
the Company received any notification that the Commission or the Exchange is
contemplating terminating such registration or listing.  To the Company’s knowledge, it
is in compliance with all applicable listing requirements of the Exchange. 

(b)  The Registration Statement, when it became or becomes effective, and the
Prospectus, and any amendment or supplement thereto, on the date of such Prospectus or amendment or
supplement, conformed and will conform in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities
Act.  At each Settlement Date, the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, as of such date, will
conform in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act.  The Registration Statement,
when it became or becomes effective, did not, and will not, contain an untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein
not misleading.  The Prospectus and any amendment and supplement thereto, on the date thereof and at
each Applicable Time (defined below), did not or will not include an untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading.  The documents incorporated by reference in the
Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement did not, and any further documents filed and incorporated by
reference therein will not, when filed with the Commission, contain an untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated in such document or necessary to make the
statements in such document, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading.  The foregoing shall not apply to statements in, or omissions from, any such document made
in reliance upon, and in conformity with, information furnished to the Company by Agent specifically
for use in the preparation thereof.
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(c)  The Registration Statement, the Prospectus, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus
or any amendment or supplement thereto, and the documents incorporated by reference in the
Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto, when such documents
were or are filed with the Commission under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or became or
become effective under the Securities Act, as the case may be, conformed or will conform in all material
respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as applicable.

(d)  The Prospectus delivered to Agent for use in connection with the sale of the
Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement will be identical to the versions of the Prospectus created
to be transmitted to the Commission for filing via EDGAR, except to the extent permitted by Regulation
S‑T.

(e)  The Company had, as of the date indicated in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus, and will have, as of the Applicable Time , the duly authorized capitalization as set forth in
the Registration Statement and the Prospectus; the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company
have been duly and validly authorized and issued and are fully paid and non-assessable, and have not
been issued in violation of or subject to any preemptive right or other similar right of stockholders arising
by operation of law, under the certificate of incorporation or bylaws, as amended, of the Company,
under any agreement to which the Company is a party or otherwise; all of the outstanding shares of
capital stock or other equity interest of each subsidiary of the Company (each, a “Subsidiary”) have
been duly and validly authorized and issued and are fully paid and non-assessable, and except as
disclosed in the Prospectus or Schedule 4 attached hereto are directly or indirectly owned of record and
beneficially by the Company; except as disclosed in the Prospectus, there are no outstanding
(i) securities or obligations of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries convertible into or exchangeable
for any capital stock of the Company or any such Subsidiary, (ii) warrants, rights or options to subscribe
for or purchase from the Company or any such Subsidiary any such capital stock or any such
convertible or exchangeable securities or obligations, (iii) obligations of the Company or any such
Subsidiary to issue or sell any shares of capital stock, any such convertible or exchangeable securities or
obligations, or any such warrants, rights or options;  (iv) Common Stock or equity awards issued after
the date of the Prospectus to the Company’s employees, directors or consultants in the ordinary course
pursuant to the Company’s 2014 Stock Plan; or (v) Common Stock or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for shares of Common Stock as consideration for mergers, acquisitions, other business
combinations, acquisitions of Federal Communications Commission spectrum licenses or in connection
with strategic alliances or acquisitions occurring after the date of the Prospectus, which are not issued
principally for capital raising purposes.

(f)  The Company is a corporation duly organized and validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with requisite corporate power and authority to own,
lease or operate its properties and to conduct its business as described in each of the Registration
Statement and the Prospectus, and to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the
transactions contemplated herein (including the offer and sale of the Placement Shares); each Subsidiary
(all of which are named in Exhibit 21 of the Company’s most recently filed Form 10-K)  has been duly
incorporated or organized and is validly existing as a corporation or a limited liability company in good
standing under the laws of its respective jurisdiction of incorporation or organization with full corporate
or other power and authority to own, lease or
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operate its respective properties and to conduct its respective businesses as described in
each of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus.

(g)  The Placement Shares have been duly authorized for offer and sale pursuant to
this Agreement and, when issued and delivered by the Company against payment therefor in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement, will be duly and validly issued and fully paid and nonassessable, free
and clear of any pledge, lien, encumbrance, security interest or other claim; the offer and sale of the
Placement Shares by the Company are not subject to any preemptive right, co-sale right, registration
right, right of first refusal or other similar right of stockholders arising by operation of law, under the
certificate of incorporation or bylaws, as amended, of the Company, or under any agreement to which
the Company is a party or otherwise, that has not otherwise been duly waived.

(h)  Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed by, and
is in good standing in, each jurisdiction in which it conducts its business or in which it owns or leases
property or otherwise maintains an office and in which such qualification or licensing is necessary and in
which the failure, individually or in the aggregate, to be so qualified or licensed would reasonably be
expected to have a material adverse effect on (i) the business, condition (financial or otherwise), results
of operations or prospects of the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (ii) the
consummation of the transactions hereby or the other transactions contemplated by the Prospectus (any
such effect or change, where the context so requires is hereinafter called a “Material Adverse Effect”);
except as disclosed in the Prospectus or Schedule 4 attached hereto, no wholly-owned Subsidiary is
prohibited or restricted, directly or indirectly, from paying dividends to the Company, or from making
any other distribution with respect to such Subsidiary’s capital stock or from repaying to the Company
or any other Subsidiary any amounts which may from time to time become due under any loans or
advances to such Subsidiary from the Company or such other Subsidiary, or from transferring any such
Subsidiary’s property or assets to the Company or to any other Subsidiary; other than as disclosed in the
Prospectus, the Company does not own, directly or indirectly, any capital stock or other equity securities
of any other corporation or any ownership interest in any partnership, joint venture or other association.

(i)  The Company is not in breach of, or in default under (nor has any event
occurred which with notice, lapse of time, or both would constitute a breach of, or default under) (i) its
certificate of incorporation, bylaws, or other organizational documents (collectively, the “Charter
Documents”) or (ii) any obligation, agreement, covenant or condition contained in any contract, license,
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, bank loan, credit agreement or other agreement or instrument to
which the Company is a party or by which it or its properties are bound, except, in the case of clause
(ii) above, for such breaches or defaults which would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a
Material Adverse Effect.

(j)  None of the Subsidiaries is in breach of, or in default under (nor has any event
occurred which with notice, lapse of time, or both would constitute a breach of, or default under) (i) its
Charter Documents, or (ii) the performance or observance of any obligation, agreement, covenant or
condition contained in any license, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, bank loan or credit agreement or
other agreement or instrument to which such Subsidiary is a party or by which any of them or their
respective properties are bound, except, in the case of clause (ii) above, for such breaches or defaults
which would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.
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(k)  The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement,
the offer and sale of the Placement Shares by the Company, the use of the proceeds from the sale of the
Placement Shares as described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, the consummation by
the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby, and the compliance by the Company and the
Subsidiaries with the terms and provisions hereunder will not conflict with, or result in any breach of, or
constitute a default under (nor constitute any event which with notice, lapse of time, or both would
constitute a breach of, or default under), (i) any provision of the Charter Documents of the Company or
any Subsidiary, (ii) any provision of any contract, license, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, bank loan,
credit agreement or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a party or
by which it or its respective properties are bound, or (iii) any federal, state, local or foreign law,
regulation or rule or any decree, judgment, permit or order (each, a “Law”) applicable to the Company
or any Subsidiary, except in the case of clauses (ii) or (iii) for such conflicts, breaches or defaults that (x)
have been validly waived or (y) would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to
have a Material Adverse Effect or (z) would not constitute  or result in the creation or imposition of any
lien, charge, claim or encumbrance upon any property or asset of the Company or any Subsidiary, other
than any of such liens, charges, claims or encumbrances that, individually or in the aggregate, would not
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(l)  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the
Company and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties hereto, is a legal,
valid and binding agreement of the Company enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as may be
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally, and by general equitable principles, and except to the extent that the indemnification
provisions of Section 10 hereof may be limited by federal or state securities laws and public policy
considerations in respect thereof.

(m)  No approval, authorization, consent or order of or filing with any
Governmental Authority is required in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement by the Company, the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated
herein, and the offer and sale of the Placement Shares as contemplated herein, other than (i) such as have
been obtained or made, or will have been obtained or made at the Applicable Time, under the Securities
Act and/or the Exchange Act, (ii) such approvals as have been obtained in connection with the approval
of the listing of the Placement Shares on the Exchange, (iii) any necessary qualification under the
securities or blue sky laws of the various jurisdictions in which the Placement Shares are being
distributed by the Agent, and (iv) such as have been or will be timely obtained or made under the rules
and regulations of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”).

(n)  Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries has all necessary licenses, permits,
certificates, authorizations, consents and approvals, has made all necessary filings required under any
Law, has obtained all necessary licenses, permits, certificates, authorizations, consents and approvals
from other persons, and has not received any written notice of any proceedings relating to the revocation
or modification thereof, required in order to conduct its business as described in the Prospectus, except
as disclosed in the Prospectus or to the extent that any failure to have any such licenses, permits,
certificates, authorizations, consents or approvals,
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to make any such filings or to obtain any such licenses, permits, certificates,
authorizations, consents or approvals would not reasonably be expected to, individually
or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect; neither the Company nor any of the
Subsidiaries is in violation of, or in default under, any such license, permit, certificate,
authorization, consent or approval or any Law applicable to the Company, or to any of
the Subsidiaries the effect of which would reasonably be expected, individually or in the
aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(o)  Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, if any, as of its issue date and at all
subsequent times through the completion of the public offer and sale of the Placement Shares did not,
does not and will not include any information that conflicted, conflicts or will conflict with the
information contained in the Registration Statement, that has not been superseded or modified.

(p)  The Company is eligible to use Free Writing Prospectuses in connection with
this offering pursuant to Rules 164 and 433 under the Securities Act; any Free Writing Prospectus that
the Company is required to file pursuant to Rule 433(d) under the Securities Act Regulations has been,
or will be, filed with the Commission in accordance with the requirements of the Securities Act and the
Securities Act Regulations; and each Free Writing Prospectus that the Company has filed, or is required
to file, pursuant to Rule 433(d) under the Securities Act Regulations or that was prepared by or on
behalf of or used by the Company complies or will comply in all material respects with the requirements
of the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations;

(q)  From the time of the initial submission of the Company’s first registration
statement with the Commission through the date hereof, the Company has been and is an “emerging
growth company” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act (an “Emerging Growth
Company”).

(r)  Other than as set forth in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there
are no actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries or investigations pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened against the Company or any Subsidiary or any of their respective properties,
directors, officers or affiliates at law or in equity, or before or by any Governmental Authority  (as
defined below) that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

(s)  The consolidated financial statements of the Company, including the notes
thereto, included in each of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus (i) fairly present, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the entities to which such financial statements
relate (the “Covered Entities”) as of the dates indicated and the consolidated results of operations and
changes in financial position and cash flows of the Covered Entities for the periods specified and
(ii) have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved and in accordance with Regulation
S-X promulgated by the Commission (except for such adjustments to accounting standards and practices
as are noted therein and except in the case of unaudited financial statements to the extent they may
exclude footnotes or may be condensed or summary statements); the financial statement schedules
included in the Registration Statement and the amounts in the Prospectus under the captions “Selected
Financial Data” and “Supplementary Financial Information” (to the extent applicable) fairly present in
all material respects the information shown therein and have been compiled on a basis consistent with
the financial
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statements included in each of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus; no other
financial statements or supporting schedules are required to be included in the
Registration Statement or the Prospectus; the unaudited financial information (including
the related notes) included in each of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus
complies as to form in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements
of the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations.

(t)  PKF O’Connor Davies, a division of O’Connor Davies, LLP (the
“Accountant”), whose reports on the consolidated financial statements of the Company and the
Subsidiaries are filed with the Commission as part of each of the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus, and any other accounting firm that has certified Company financial statements and delivered
its reports with respect thereto, are, and were during the periods covered by their reports, independent
public accountants as required by the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations are registered
with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board.

(u)  Subsequent to the respective dates as of which information is given in each of
the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and except as may be otherwise stated in such documents
or in documents incorporated by reference therein, there has not been (i) any event, circumstance or
change that has, or would reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material
Adverse Effect, (ii) any transaction, other than in the ordinary course of business, which is material to
the Company and the Subsidiaries taken as a whole, contemplated or entered into by the Company or
any of the Subsidiaries, (iii) any obligation, contingent or otherwise, directly or indirectly incurred by the
Company, other than in the ordinary course of business, or any Subsidiary that is material to the
Company and Subsidiaries taken as a whole or (iv) any dividend or distribution of any kind declared,
paid or made by the Company on any class of its capital stock.

(v)  The Placement Shares conform in all material respects to the description thereof
contained in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus; this Agreement conforms in all material
respects to the description thereof contained in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus.

(w)  Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and
except for those registration or similar rights which have been waived with respect to the offering
contemplated by this Agreement, there are no persons with registration or other similar rights to have
any equity or debt securities, including securities which are convertible into or exchangeable for equity
securities, registered pursuant to the Registration Statement or otherwise registered by the Company
under the Securities Act,  all of which registration or similar rights are fairly summarized in all material
respects in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus.

(x)  None of the Company, any Subsidiary or any of their respective directors,
officers, representatives or affiliates (other than deemed affiliates of the Company who are greater than
10% stockholders of the Company, about whom the Company makes no representations or warranties;
the “10% Affiliates”) has taken, and none will take, directly or indirectly, any action which is designed
to, which has constituted, or which might reasonably be expected to cause or result in stabilization or
manipulation of the price of any security of the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of the Placement
Shares.
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(y)  None of the Company, any of the Subsidiaries or any of their respective
affiliates (excluding the 10% Affiliates) (i) is required to register as a “broker” or “dealer” in accordance
with the provisions of the Exchange Act, or the rules and regulations thereunder, or (ii) directly, or
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or has any other association with any member
firm of FINRA.

(z)  A n y certificate signed by any officer of the Company or any Subsidiary
delivered to the Agent or to counsel for the Agent pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement shall
be deemed a representation and warranty by the Company to the Agent as to the matters covered
thereby.

(aa)  The form of certificate used to evidence the Common Stock complies in all
material respects with all applicable statutory requirements, with any applicable requirements of the
organizational documents of the Company and the requirements of the Exchange.

(bb)  Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries has good and marketable title in fee
simple to all real property, if any, and good and marketable title to all personal property and assets
owned by it, in each case free and clear of all liens, security interests, pledges, charges, encumbrances,
mortgages and defects, except such as are disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or
as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse
Effect; and any real property or personal property held under lease by the Company or any Subsidiary is
held under a lease that is valid, existing and enforceable by the Company or such Subsidiary, with such
exceptions as are disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or as would not reasonably
be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect; neither the Company
nor any Subsidiary has received any notice of any claim of any sort that has been asserted by anyone
adverse to the rights of the Company or any Subsidiary under any such lease, other than such claims that
would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(cc)  The descriptions in each of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus of the
legal or governmental proceedings, contracts, leases and other legal documents therein described present
fairly in all material respects the information required to be shown, and there are no legal or
governmental proceedings, contracts, leases, or other documents of a character required to be described
in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement
which are not described or filed as required; all agreements between the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries and third parties expressly referenced in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus are
legal, valid and binding obligations of the Company or one or more of the Subsidiaries, enforceable in
accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and by
general equitable principles and except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in
the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.

(dd)  Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the
aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or as otherwise disclosed in the Registration Statement and
Prospectus, the Company and each Subsidiary owns or possesses adequate licenses or other rights to use
all patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, software and design licenses, trade
secrets, manufacturing processes, other intangible property rights and know-how (collectively
“Intangibles”), as are necessary to entitle the Company and each Subsidiary to
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conduct, in all material respects, the Company’s and each Subsidiary’s business as
described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and neither the Company nor
any Subsidiary has received any written notice of any infringement of or conflict with
(and, upon due inquiry of the employees of the Company and any Subsidiary, none of
the Company or any Subsidiary knows of any such infringement of or conflict with)
asserted rights of others with respect to any Intangibles which would reasonably be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(ee)  The Company and each Subsidiary owns or has a valid right to access and use
all computer systems, networks, hardware, software, databases, websites and equipment used to process,
store, maintain and operate data, information and functions used in connection with the business of the
Company and each Subsidiary (the “Company IT Systems”) except as would not reasonably be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company IT Systems
are adequate for, and operate and perform in all material respects as required in connection with, the
operation of the business of the Company and each Subsidiary as currently conducted, except as would
not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(ff)  Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, (x) the Company has established and
maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Exchange Act), which (i) are designed to ensure that material information relating to the Company,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the Company’s principal executive officer and
its principal financial officer by others within those entities, particularly during the periods in which the
periodic reports required under the Exchange Act are being prepared, (ii) have been evaluated for
effectiveness by the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer as of the end
of the last fiscal period covered by the Registration Statement, and (iii) are effective in all material
respects to perform the functions for which they were established, and (y) the Company is not aware of
(a) any significant deficiency or material weakness in the design or operation of its internal controls over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information to management and the board of directors, or
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Since the most recent
evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures described above, there have been no
significant changes in internal control over financial reporting or in other factors that could significantly
affect internal control over financial reporting.

(gg)  Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company maintains systems of
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
GAAP, including, but not limited to, internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable
assurance that (i) transactions are executed in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorizations, (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP and to maintain asset accountability, (iii) access to assets is permitted only in
accordance with management’s general or specific authorization, and (iv) the recorded accountability for
assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with
respect to any differences. Except as disclosed in the
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Prospectus, (i) there are no material weaknesses in the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting and (ii) there has been no material change in the Company’s internal
controls over financial reporting since the respective dates of the information given in the
Prospectus; the Accountant and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the
Company have been advised of all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which have adversely
affected or are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information.

(hh)  Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries carries, or is covered by, insurance
(issued by insurers of recognized financial responsibility to the best knowledge of the Company) in such
amounts and covering such risks as is appropriate for the conduct of its businesses and are consistent
with insurance coverage maintained by companies engaged in the same or similar business, all of which
insurance is in full force and effect.

(ii)  Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has violated, or received written
notice of any violation with respect to, any Law applicable to it and its respective business, including
those relating to transactions with affiliates, environmental, safety or similar Laws relating to
discrimination in the hiring, promotion or pay of employees, federal or state wages and hours law, the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”) or the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, except for those violations that would not reasonably be expected, individually
or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(jj)  Each employee benefit plan, within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA, that
is maintained, administered or contributed to by the Company or any of its affiliates (excluding the 10%
Affiliates) for employees or former employees of the Company or any of its affiliates has been
maintained in compliance in all material respects with its terms and the requirements of any applicable
statutes, orders, rules and regulations, including, but not limited to, ERISA and the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”); no prohibited transaction, within the meaning of Section 406
of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, has occurred with respect to any such plan excluding
transactions effected pursuant to a statutory or administrative exemption, and transactions which,
individually or in the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect, and no such plan is subject
to the funding rules of Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA.

(kk)  Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries nor to the knowledge of the
Company any officer, director, agent or employee purporting to act on behalf of the Company or any of
the Subsidiaries has at any time, directly or indirectly, (i) made any contributions to any candidate for
political office, or failed to disclose fully any such contributions, in violation of applicable Law,
(ii) made any payment to any state, federal or foreign governmental officer or official, or other person
charged with similar public or quasi-public duties, other than payments required or allowed by
applicable Law (including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”),
(iii) engaged in any transactions, maintained any bank account or used any corporate funds except for
transactions, bank accounts and funds which have been and are reflected in the normally maintained
books and records of the Company and the Subsidiaries, (iv) violated any provision of the FCPA, or
(v) made any other unlawful payment.
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(ll)  Except as otherwise disclosed in the Prospectus, there are no outstanding loans
or advances (except normal advances for business expenses in the ordinary course of business in
accordance with the Company’s policies) or guarantees of indebtedness by the Company or any
Subsidiary to or for the benefit of any of the officers, directors, affiliates or representatives of the
Company or any Subsidiary or any of the members of the families of any of them.

(mm)  All securities issued by the Company, any of the Subsidiaries or any trusts
established by the Company or any Subsidiary, have been or will be issued and sold in compliance with
(i) all applicable federal and state securities laws, (ii) the laws of the applicable jurisdiction of
incorporation of the issuing entity and, (iii) to the extent applicable to the issuing entity, the requirements
of the Exchange.

(nn)  Except where such failure to file or pay an assessment or lien would not
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect or where
such matters are the result of a pending bona fide dispute with taxing authorities, (i) the Company and
each of the Subsidiaries have accurately prepared and timely filed any and all federal, state, foreign and
other tax returns that are required to be filed by them, if any, and have paid or made provision for the
payment of all taxes, assessments, governmental or other similar charges, including without limitation,
all sales and use taxes and all taxes which the Company or the Subsidiaries are obligated to withhold
from amounts owing to employees, creditors and third parties, with respect to the periods covered by
such tax returns (whether or not such amounts are shown as due on any tax return), (ii) no deficiency
assessment with respect to a proposed adjustment of the Company’s or Subsidiary’s federal, state, local
or foreign taxes is pending or, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, threatened , (iii) since the date of
the most recent audited financial statements, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has incurred any
liability for taxes other than in the ordinary course of its business, and (iv) there is no tax lien, whether
imposed by any federal, state, foreign or other taxing authority, outstanding against the assets, properties
or business of the Company or any Subsidiary.

(oo)  Except as described in the Prospectus or as would not reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect, (i) neither the Company nor any
Subsidiary is in violation of any Law or any judicial or administrative interpretation thereof, including
any judicial or administrative order, consent, decree or judgment, relating to pollution or protection of
human health, the environment (including, without limitation, ambient air, surface water, groundwater,
land surface or subsurface strata) or wildlife, including, without limitation, laws and regulations relating
to the release or threatened release of chemicals, pollutants, contaminants, wastes, toxic substances,
hazardous substances, petroleum or petroleum products, asbestos-containing materials or mold
(collectively, “Hazardous Materials”) or to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment,
storage, disposal, transport or handling of Hazardous Materials (collectively, “Environmental Laws”),
(ii) the Company and each Subsidiary have all permits, authorizations and approvals required under any
applicable Environmental Laws and are each in compliance with their requirements, (iii) there are no
pending or, to the knowledge of the Company or any Subsidiary, threatened administrative, regulatory
or judicial actions, suits, demands, demand letters, claims, liens, notices of noncompliance or violation,
investigation or proceedings relating to any Environmental Law against the Company or any Subsidiary,
and (iv) to the knowledge of the Company or any Subsidiary, there are no events
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or circumstances that would reasonably be expected to form the basis of an order for
clean-up or remediation, or a Proceeding by any private party or Governmental
Authority, against or affecting the Company or any Subsidiary relating to Hazardous
Materials or any Environmental Laws;

(pp)  In connection with this offering and subject to compliance by the Agent with
the terms of this Agreement, the Company has not offered and will not offer its Common Stock or any
other securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Common Stock in a manner in
violation of the Securities Act; and the Company has not distributed and will not distribute any offering
material in connection with the offer and sale of the Placement Shares except for the Prospectus, any
Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Registration Statement.

(qq)  Except for the payments to the Agent provided for hereunder, or to the
Alternative Agent pursuant to the Alternative Sales Agreement, the Company has not incurred any
liability for any finder’s fees or similar payments in connection with the transactions herein
contemplated.

(rr)  N o relationship, direct or indirect, exists between or among the Company or
any of the Subsidiaries on the one hand, and the directors, officers, stockholders, customers or suppliers
of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries on the other hand, which is required by the Securities Act
and the Securities Act Regulations to be described in the Registration Statement o r the Prospectus,
which is not so described;

(ss)  Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is and, after giving effect to
the offering and sale of the Placement Shares and the application of the proceeds thereof as described in
the Prospectus, will be an “investment company” or an entity “controlled” by an “investment company”
(as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Investment Company Act”));

(tt)  There are no existing or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened labor
disputes with employees of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries which could reasonably be expected
to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.

(uu)  No forward-looking statement (within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act) contained in the Prospectus has been made or
reaffirmed without a reasonable basis or has been disclosed other than in good faith, as of the date of
such forward-looking statement.

(vv)  The Company, the Subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Company, any of
the officers and directors of the Company and the Subsidiaries, in their capacities as such, are, and at the
Applicable Time will be, in compliance in all material respects with the provisions of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder
that are effective and applicable to the Company as of the Applicable Time;

(ww)  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the Company’s
knowledge, any employee or agent of the Company or any Subsidiary, has made any payment of funds
of the Company or any Subsidiary or received or retained any funds in violation of any
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applicable Law, including without limitation the “know your customer” and anti-money
laundering laws of any jurisdiction (collectively, the “Money Laundering Laws”) or of
a character required to be disclosed in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, and
no action, suit or proceeding by or before any Governmental Authority involving the
Company or any Subsidiary with respect to the Money Laundering Laws is pending or,
to the knowledge of the Company, threatened.

(xx)  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the
Company, any director, officer, employee, agent, or affiliate of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is
currently subject to any U.S. sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S.
Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”); and the Company will not directly or indirectly use the
proceeds of the offering of the Placement Shares hereunder, or lend, contribute or otherwise make
available such proceeds to any subsidiary, joint venture partner or other person or for the purpose of
financing the activities of any person currently subject to any U.S. sanctions administered by OFAC.

(yy)  At the time the Registration Statement was or will be originally declared
effective, and at the time the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K was filed with the
Commission, the Company met or will meet the then applicable requirements for the use of Form S-3
under the Securities Act, including, but not limited to, General Instruction I.B.1 of Form S-3.  The
Company is not a shell company (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) and has not been a
shell company for at least 12 calendar months previously and if it has been a shell company at any time
previously, has filed current Form 10 information (as defined in Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3) with the
Commission at least 12 calendar months previously reflecting its status as an entity that is not a shell
company.

(zz)  Except for the Alternative Sales Agreement, the Company is not a party to any
agreement with an agent or underwriter for any other “at the market” or continuous equity transaction.

(aaa)  The Company acknowledges and agrees that Agent has informed the Company
that the Agent may, to the extent permitted under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, purchase and
sell Common Stock for its own account while this Agreement is in effect, provided, that (i) no such
purchase or sales shall take place while a Placement Notice is in effect (except to the extent the Agent
may engage in sales of Placement Shares purchased or deemed purchased from the Company as a
“riskless principal” or in a similar capacity) and (ii) the Company shall not be deemed to have authorized
or consented to any such purchases or sales by the Agent.

(bbb)  Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has defaulted on any
installment on indebtedness for borrowed money or on any rental on one or more long-term leases,
which defaults, individually or in the aggregate, would have a Material Adverse Effect.  The Company
has not filed a report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act since the filing of its last
Annual Report on Form 10‑K, indicating that it (i) has failed to pay any dividend or sinking fund
installment on preferred stock or (ii) has defaulted on any installment on indebtedness for borrowed
money or on any rental on one or more long-term leases, which defaults, individually or in the
aggregate, would have a Material Adverse Effect.
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(ccc)  The Company has not relied upon the Agent or legal counsel for the Agent for
any legal, tax or accounting advice in connection with the offering and sale of the Placement Shares.

(ddd)  There are no transactions, arrangements and other relationships between and/or
among the Company, and/or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of its affiliates and any
unconsolidated entity, including, but not limited to, any structural finance, special purpose or limited
purpose entity (each, an “Off-Balance Sheet Transaction”) that could reasonably be expected to affect
materially the Company’s liquidity or the availability of or requirements for its capital resources,
including those Off-Balance Sheet Transactions described in the Commission’s Statement about
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations (Release
Nos.  33‑8056; 34‑45321; FR‑61), required to be described in the Prospectus which have not been
described as required.

(eee)  Neither the issuance, sale and delivery of the Placement Shares nor the
application of the proceeds thereof by the Company as described in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus will violate Regulation T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
or any other regulation of such Board of Governors.

(fff)  The Company was not and is not an ineligible issuer as defined in Rule 405
under the Securities Act at the times specified in Rules 164 and 433 under the Securities Act in
connection with the offering of the Placement Shares.

(ggg)  On each Settlement Date, all stock transfer or other taxes (other than income
taxes) which are required to be paid by the Company in connection with the sale and transfer of the
Placement Shares to be sold hereunder will be, or will have been, fully paid or provided for by the
Company and all Laws imposing such taxes will be or will have been fully complied with in all material
respects.

(hhh)  The statistical, demographic and market-related data included in the
Registration Statement and Prospectus are based on or derived from sources that the Company believes
to be reliable and accurate or represent the Company’s good faith estimates that are made on the basis of
data derived from such sources.

7.  Covenants of the Company.  The Company covenants and agrees with Agent that:

(a)  Registration Statement Amendments.  After the date of this Agreement and
during any period in which a Prospectus relating to any Placement Shares is required to be delivered by
Agent under the Securities Act (including in circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied
pursuant to Rule 172 under the Securities Act or similar rule), (i) the Company will notify the Agent
promptly of the time when any subsequent amendment to the Registration Statement, other than
documents incorporated by reference, has been filed with the Commission and/or has become effective
or any subsequent supplement to the Prospectus, other than documents incorporated by reference,  has
been filed and of any request by the Commission for any amendment or supplement, other than
documents incorporated by reference, to the Registration Statement or Prospectus or for additional
information, (ii) the Company will prepare and file with the Commission, promptly upon the Agent’s
request, any amendments or supplements to the Registration Statement or Prospectus that, in such
Agent’s reasonable opinion, may be necessary
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or advisable in connection with the distribution of the Placement Shares by the Agent
(provided,  however, that the failure of the Agent to make such request shall not relieve
the Company of any obligation or liability hereunder, or affect the Agent’s right to rely
on the representations and warranties made by the Company in this Agreement and
provided,  further, that the only remedy the Agent shall have with respect to the failure to
make such filing shall be to cease making sales under this Agreement until such
amendment or supplement is filed); (iii) the Company will not file any amendment or
supplement to the Registration Statement or Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares
or a security convertible into the Placement Shares unless a copy thereof has been
submitted to Agent within a reasonable period of time before the filing and the Agent has
not objected reasonably thereto in writing within two (2) Business Days (provided,
 however, that the failure of the Agent to make such objection shall not relieve the
Company of any obligation or liability hereunder, or affect the Agent’s right to rely on
the representations and warranties made by the Company in this Agreement and
provided,  further, that the only remedy Agent shall have with respect to the failure by
the Company to obtain such consent shall be to cease making sales under this
Agreement) and the Company will furnish to the Agent at the time of filing thereof a
copy of any document that upon filing is deemed to be incorporated by reference into the
Registration Statement or Prospectus, except for those documents available via EDGAR
(provided that for the avoidance of doubt, this clause (iii) shall not apply to documents
the Company furnishes with the Commission under the Exchange Act); and (iv) the
Company will cause each amendment or supplement to the Prospectus to be filed with
the Commission as required pursuant to the applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) of the
Securities Act or, in the case of any document to be incorporated therein by reference, to
be filed with the Commission as required pursuant to the Exchange Act, within the time
period prescribed (the determination to file or not file any amendment or supplement with
the Commission under this Section 7(a), based on the Company’s reasonable opinion or
reasonable objections, shall be made exclusively by the Company).

(b)  Notice of Commission Stop Orders.  The Company will advise the Agent,
promptly after it receives notice or obtains knowledge thereof, of the issuance or threatened issuance by
the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, of the
suspension of the qualification of the Placement Shares for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the
initiation or threatening of any proceeding for any such purpose; and it will promptly use its
commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any stop order or to obtain its withdrawal if
such a stop order should be issued.  The Company will advise the Agent promptly after it receives any
request by the Commission for any amendments to the Registration Statement or any amendment or
supplements to the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or for additional information related
to the offering of the Placement Shares or for additional information related to the Registration
Statement, the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus.

(c)  Delivery of Prospectus; Subsequent Changes.  During any period in which a
Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares is required to be delivered by the Agent under the Securities
Act with respect to the offer and sale of the Placement Shares (including in circumstances where such
requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172 under the Securities Act or similar rule), the
Company will comply with all requirements imposed upon it by the Securities Act, as from time to time
in force, and to file on or before their respective due dates all reports and any definitive proxy or
information statements required to be filed by the Company with the Commission pursuant to Sections
13(a), 13(c), 14, 15(d) or any other provision of or under
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the Exchange Act.  If the Company has omitted any information from the Registration
Statement pursuant to Rule 430B under the Securities Act, it will use its best efforts to
comply with the provisions of and make all requisite filings with the Commission
pursuant to said Rule 430B and to notify the Agent promptly of all such filings if not
available on EDGAR.  If during such period any event occurs as a result of which the
Prospectus as then amended or supplemented would include an untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in
the light of the circumstances then existing, not misleading, or if during such period it is
necessary to amend or supplement the Registration Statement or Prospectus to comply
with the Securities Act, the Company will promptly notify Agent to suspend the offering
of Placement Shares during such period and the Company will promptly amend or
supplement the Registration Statement or Prospectus (at the expense of the Company) so
as to correct such statement or omission or effect such compliance.

(d)  Listing of Placement Shares.  Prior to the date of the first Placement Notice, the
Company will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Placement Shares to be listed on the Exchange.

(e)  Delivery of Registration Statement and Prospectus.  The Company will furnish
to the Agent and its counsel (at the expense of the Company) copies of the Registration Statement, the
Prospectus (including all documents incorporated by reference therein) and all amendments and
supplements to the Registration Statement or Prospectus that are filed with the Commission during any
period in which a Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares is required to be delivered under the
Securities Act (including all documents filed with the Commission during such period that are deemed to
be incorporated by reference therein), in each case as soon as reasonably practicable and in such
quantities as the Agent may from time to time reasonably request and, at the Agent’s request, will also
furnish copies of the Prospectus to each exchange or market on which sales of the Placement Shares
may be made; provided,  however, that the Company shall not be required to furnish any document
(other than the Prospectus) to the Agent to the extent such document is available on EDGAR.

(f)  Earnings Statement.  The Company will make generally available to its security
holders as soon as practicable, but in any event not later than 15 months after the end of the Company’s
current fiscal quarter, an earnings statement covering a 12-month period that satisfies the provisions of
Section 11(a) and Rule 158 of the Securities Act.

(g)  Use of Proceeds.  The Company will use the Net Proceeds as described in the
Prospectus in the section entitled “Use of Proceeds.”

(h)  Notice of Other Sales.  Without the prior written consent of Agent, the
Company will not, directly or indirectly, offer to sell, sell, contract to sell, grant any option to sell or
otherwise dispose of any Common Stock (other than the Placement Shares offered pursuant to this
Agreement or the Alternative Sales Agreement) or securities convertible into or exchangeable for
Common Stock, warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire, Common Stock during the period
beginning on the fifth (5th) Trading Day immediately prior to the date on which any Placement Notice is
delivered to Agent hereunder and ending on the fifth (5 th) Trading Day immediately following the final
Settlement Date with respect to Placement Shares sold pursuant to such Placement Notice (or, if the
Placement Notice has been terminated or suspended prior to the sale of all Placement Shares covered by
a Placement Notice, the date of such suspension or
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termination); and will not directly or indirectly in any other “at the market” or continuous
equity transaction offer to sell, sell, contract to sell, grant any option to sell or otherwise
dispose of any Common Stock (other than the Placement Shares offered pursuant to this
Agreement or the Alternative Sales Agreement) or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for Common Stock, warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire,
Common Stock prior to the later of the termination of this Agreement and the sixtieth
(60th) day immediately following the final Settlement Date with respect to Placement
Shares sold pursuant to such Placement Notice; provided,  however, that such restrictions
will not be required in connection with the Company’s issuance or sale of (i) Common
Stock, options to purchase Common Stock or Common Stock issuable upon the exercise
of options, pursuant to any employee or director stock option or benefits plan, stock
ownership plan or dividend reinvestment plan (but not Common Stock subject to a
waiver to exceed plan limits in its dividend reinvestment plan) of the Company whether
now in effect or hereafter implemented, (ii) Common Stock issuable upon conversion of
securities or the exercise of warrants, options or other rights in effect or outstanding, and
disclosed in filings by the Company available on EDGAR or otherwise in writing to the
Agent and (iii) Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares
of Common Stock as consideration for mergers, acquisitions, other business
combinations, acquisitions of Federal Communications Commission spectrum licenses or
in connection with strategic alliances or acquisitions occurring after the date of this
Agreement which are not issued principally for capital raising purposes.

(i)  Change of Circumstances.  The Company will, at any time during the pendency
of a Placement Notice advise the Agent promptly after it shall have received notice or obtained
knowledge thereof, of any information or fact that would alter or affect in any material respect any
opinion, certificate, letter or other document required to be provided to the Agent pursuant to this
Agreement.

(j)  Due Diligence Cooperation.  The Company will cooperate with any reasonable
due diligence review conducted by the Agent or its representatives in connection with the transactions
contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, providing information and making available
documents and senior corporate officers, during regular business hours and at the Company’s principal
offices, as the Agent may reasonably request.

(k)  Required Filings Relating to Placement of Placement Shares.  The Company
agrees that on such dates as the Securities Act shall require, the Company will (i) file a prospectus
supplement with the Commission under the applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) under the Securities
Act (each and every filing date under Rule 424(b), a “Filing Date”), which prospectus supplement will
set forth, within the relevant period, the amount of Placement Shares sold through the Agent, the Net
Proceeds to the Company and the compensation payable by the Company to the Agent with respect to
such Placement Shares, and (ii) deliver such number of copies of each such prospectus supplement to
each exchange or market on which such sales were effected as may be required by the rules or
regulations of such exchange or market.

(l)  Representation Dates; Certificate.  (1) Prior to the date of the first Placement
Notice and (2) following delivery of the first Placement Notice each time the Company:

(i) files the Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares or amends or supplements (other than a
prospectus supplement relating solely to an offering of securities other than the Placement
Shares) the Registration Statement or the Prospectus relating to the Placement
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Shares by means of a post-effective amendment, sticker, or supplement but not by means of
incorporation of documents by reference into the Registration Statement or the Prospectus
relating to the Placement Shares;

(ii) files an annual report on Form 10-K under the Exchange Act (including any Form 10-K/A
containing amended financial information or a material amendment to the previously filed Form
10-K);

(iii) files its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q under the Exchange Act; or

(iv) files a current report on Form 8-K containing amended financial information (other than
information “furnished” pursuant to Items 2.02 or 7.01 of Form 8-K or to provide disclosure
pursuant to Item 8.01 of Form 8-K relating to the reclassification of certain properties as
discontinued operations in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
144) under the Exchange Act (each date of filing of one or more of the documents referred to in
clauses (i) through (iv) shall be a “Representation Date”);

the Company shall furnish the Agent (but in the case of clause (iv) above only if the Agent reasonably
determines that the information contained in such Form 8‑K is material) with a certificate dated the
Representation Date, in the form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel, substantially
similar to the form previously provided to the Agent and its counsel, modified, as necessary, to relate to
the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended or supplemented.  The requirement to provide
a certificate under this Section 7(l) shall be waived (1) for any Representation Date occurring at a time a
Suspension is in effect, which waiver shall continue until the earlier to occur of the date the Company
delivers instructions for the sale of Placement Shares hereunder (which for such calendar quarter shall be
considered a Representation Date) and the next occurring Representation Date and (2) at a time at which
no Placement Notice is pending, which waiver shall continue until the date the Company delivers a
Placement Notice hereunder or to the Alternative Agent under the Alternative Sales Agreement  (which
for such calendar quarter shall be considered a Representation Date).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if
the Company subsequently decides to sell Placement Shares following a Representation Date when a
Suspension was in effect and did not provide the Agent with a certificate under this Section 7(l), then
before the Company delivers the instructions for the sale of Placement Shares or the Agent sells any
Placement Shares pursuant to such instructions, the Company shall provide the Agent with a certificate
in conformity with this Section 7(l) dated as of the date that the instructions for the sale of Placement
Shares are issued. 

(m)  Legal Opinion.  (1) Prior to the date of the first Placement Notice  and (2)
within five (5) Trading Days of each Representation Date with respect to which the Company is
obligated to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 7(l) for which no waiver is applicable and excluding
the date of this Agreement, the Company shall cause to be furnished to the Agent a written opinion of
Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP (“Company Counsel”), or other
counsel satisfactory to the Agent, in form and substance satisfactory to Agent and its counsel,
substantially similar to the form previously provided to the Agent and its counsel, modified, as
necessary, to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as then amended or supplemented;
provided,  however, the Company shall be required to furnish to Agent no more than one opinion
hereunder per calendar quarter; provided,  further, that in lieu of such opinions for subsequent periodic
filings under the Exchange Act, counsel may furnish the Agent with a
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letter (a “Reliance Letter”) to the effect that the Agent may rely on a prior opinion
delivered under this Section 7(m) to the same extent as if it were dated the date of such
letter (except that statements in such prior opinion shall be deemed to relate to the
Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended or supplemented as of the date of
the Reliance Letter).

(n)  Comfort Letter.  (1) Prior to the date of the first Placement Notice and (2) within
five (5) Trading Days of each Representation Date with respect to which the Company is obligated to
deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 7(l) for which no waiver is applicable and excluding the date of
this Agreement, the Company shall cause its independent registered public accounting firm to furnish the
Agent letters (the “Comfort Letters”), dated the date the Comfort Letter is delivered, which shall meet
the requirements set forth in this Section 7(n);  provided, that if requested by the Agent, the Company
shall cause a Comfort Letter to be furnished to the Agent within ten (10) Trading Days of the date of
occurrence of any material transaction or event requiring the filing of a Current Report on Form 8-K
containing material financial information, including the restatement of the Company’s financial
statements.  The Comfort Letter from the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm
shall be in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, (i) confirming that they are an independent
registered public accounting firm within the meaning of the Securities Act and the PCAOB, (ii) stating,
as of such date, the conclusions and findings of such firm with respect to the financial information and
other matters ordinarily covered by accountants’ “comfort letters” to underwriters in connection with
registered public offerings (the first such letter, the “Initial Comfort Letter”) and (iii) updating the
Initial Comfort Letter with any information that would have been included in the Initial Comfort Letter
had it been given on such date and modified as necessary to relate to the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus, as amended and supplemented to the date of such letter.

(o)  Market Activities.  The Company will not, directly or indirectly, (i) take any
action designed to cause or result in, or that constitutes or might reasonably be expected to constitute, the
stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of
Common Stock or (ii) sell, bid for, or purchase Common Stock in violation of Regulation M, or pay
anyone any compensation for soliciting purchases of the Placement Shares under this Agreement or the
Alternative Sales Agreement other than the Agent and the Alternative Agent; provided that share
withholding transactions upon the exercise of options or settlement of restricted stock awards or
restricted stock unit awards shall not be considered the purchase of Common Stock.

(p)  Investment Company Act.  The Company will conduct its affairs in such a
manner so as to reasonably ensure that neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries will be or become, at any
time prior to the termination of this Agreement, required to register as an “investment company,” as such
term is defined in the Investment Company Act.

(q)  No Offer to Sell.  Other than an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus approved in
advance by the Company and the Agent in its capacity as agent hereunder, neither the Agent nor the
Company (including its agents and representatives, other than the Agent in its capacity as such) will
make, use, prepare, authorize, approve or refer to any written communication (as defined in Rule 405
under the Securities Act), required to be filed with the Commission, that constitutes an offer to sell or
solicitation of an offer to buy Placement Shares hereunder.
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(r)  Blue Sky and Other Qualifications.   The Company will use its commercially
reasonable efforts, in cooperation with the Agent, to qualify the Placement Shares for offering and sale,
or to obtain an exemption for the Placement Shares to be offered and sold, under the applicable
securities laws of such states and other jurisdictions (domestic or foreign) as the Agent may designate
and to maintain such qualifications and exemptions in effect for so long as required for the distribution of
the Placement Shares (but in no event for less than one year from the date of this Agreement); provided,
 however, that the Company shall not be obligated to file any general consent to service of process or to
qualify as a foreign corporation or as a dealer in securities in any jurisdiction in which it is not so
qualified or to subject itself to taxation in respect of doing business in any jurisdiction in which it is not
otherwise so subject.  In each jurisdiction in which the Placement Shares have been so qualified or
exempt, the Company will file such statements and reports as may be required by the laws of such
jurisdiction to continue such qualification or exemption, as the case may be, in effect for so long as
required for the distribution of the Placement Shares (but in no event for less than one year from the date
of this Agreement).

(s)  Sarbanes-Oxley Act.  The Company and the Subsidiaries will maintain and
keep accurate books and records reflecting their assets and maintain internal accounting controls in a
manner designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and including those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company, (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, (iii) that receipts and expenditures of the
Company are being made only in accordance with management’s and the Company’s directors’
authorization, and (iv) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that would reasonably be expected
to have a material effect on its financial statements.  The Company and the Subsidiaries will maintain
such controls and other procedures, including, without limitation, those required by Sections 302 and
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the applicable regulations thereunder that are designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the
Commission’s rules and forms, including, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to ensure that material information relating to
the Company or the Subsidiaries is made known to them by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which such periodic reports are being prepared.

(t)  Secretary’s Certificate; Further Documentation.  Prior to the date of the first
Placement Notice, the Company shall deliver to the Agent a certificate of the Secretary of the Company
and attested to by an executive officer of the Company, dated as of such date, certifying as to (i) the
certificate of incorporation of the Company, (ii) the bylaws of the Company, (iii) the resolutions of the
Board of Directors of the Company, or a duly authorized committee of the Board of Directors,
authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the
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issuance of the Placement Shares and (iv) the incumbency of the officers duly authorized
to execute this Agreement and the other documents contemplated by this
Agreement.  Within five (5) Trading Days of each Representation Date  with respect to
which the Company is obligated to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 7(l) hereof for
which no waiver is applicable, the Company shall have furnished to the Agent such
further information, certificates and documents as the Agent may reasonably request.

(u)  Emerging Growth Company Status.  The Company will promptly notify the
Agent if the Company ceases to be an Emerging Growth Company at any time during the term of this
Agreement.

8.  Payment of Expenses.  The Company will pay all expenses incident to the performance
of its obligations under this Agreement, including (i) the preparation and filing of the Registration
Statement, including any fees required by the Commission, and the printing or electronic delivery of the
Prospectus as originally filed and of each amendment and supplement thereto, in such number as the
Agent shall deem reasonably necessary, (ii) the printing and delivery to the Agent of this Agreement, the
Alternative Sales Agreement and such other documents as may be reasonably required in connection
with the offering, purchase, sale, issuance or delivery of the Placement Shares, (iii) the preparation,
issuance and delivery of the certificates, if any, for the Placement Shares to the Agent, including any
stock or other transfer taxes and any capital duties, stamp duties or other duties or taxes payable upon the
sale, issuance or delivery of the Placement Shares to the Agent, (iv) the fees and disbursements of the
counsel, accountants and other advisors to the Company, (v) the fees and expenses of Agent including
but not limited to the fees and expenses of the counsel to the Agent, payable upon the execution of this
Agreement, in an amount not to exceed $50,000, (vi) the qualification or exemption of the Placement
Shares under state securities laws in accordance with the provisions of Section 7(r) hereof, including
filing fees, but excluding fees of the Agent’s counsel, (vii) the printing and delivery to the Agent of
copies of any Permitted Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and the Prospectus and any amendments or
supplements thereto in such number as the Agent shall deem necessary, (viii) the preparation, printing
and delivery to the Agent of copies of the blue sky survey, (ix) the fees and expenses of the transfer
agent and registrar for the Common Stock, (x) the filing and other fees incident to any review by
FINRA of the terms of the sale of the Placement Shares including the fees of the Agent’s counsel
(subject to the cap, set forth in clause (v) above), and (xi) the fees and expenses incurred in connection
with the listing of the Placement Shares on the Exchange.

9.  Conditions to Agent’s Obligations .  The obligations of the Agent hereunder with respect
to a Placement will be subject to the continuing accuracy and completeness of the representations and
warranties made by the Company herein, to the due performance by the Company of its obligations
hereunder, to the completion by the Agent of a due diligence review satisfactory to it in its reasonable
judgment, and to the continuing satisfaction (or waiver by the Agent in its sole discretion) of the
following additional conditions:

(a)  Registration Statement Effective.  The Registration Statement shall have
become effective and shall be available for the (i) resale of all Placement Shares issued to the Agent and
not yet sold by the Agent and (ii) sale of all Placement Shares contemplated to be issued by any
Placement Notice.

-25-

 



 
 

(b)  No Material Notices.  None of the following events shall have occurred and be
continuing: (i) receipt by the Company of any request for additional information from the Commission
or any other federal or state Governmental Authority during the period of effectiveness of the
Registration Statement, the response to which would require any post-effective amendments or
supplements to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus; (ii) the issuance by the Commission or any
other federal or state Governmental Authority of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the
Registration Statement or the initiation of any proceedings for that purpose; (iii) receipt by the Company
of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification or exemption from qualification of
any of the Placement Shares for sale in any jurisdiction or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding
for such purpose; or (iv) the occurrence of any event that makes any statement of a material fact made in
the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated
therein by reference untrue or that requires the making of any changes in the Registration Statement, the
Prospectus or documents so that, in the case of the Registration Statement, it will not contain an untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading and, that in the case of the Prospectus, it will not contain an
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading.

(c)  No Misstatement or Material Omission.  Agent shall not have advised the
Company that the Registration Statement or Prospectus, or any amendment or supplement thereto,
contains an untrue statement of fact that in the Agent’s reasonable opinion is material, or omits to state a
fact that in the Agent’s reasonable opinion is material and is required to be stated therein or is necessary
to make the statements therein not misleading.

(d)  Material Changes.  Except as contemplated in the Prospectus, or disclosed in
the Company’s reports filed with the Commission, there shall not have been any material adverse
change in the authorized capital stock of the Company or any Material Adverse Effect or any
development that would reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse Effect, or a downgrading
in or withdrawal of the rating assigned to any of the Company’s securities (other than asset backed
securities) by any rating organization or a public announcement by any rating organization that it has
under surveillance or review its rating of any of the Company’s securities (other than asset backed
securities), the effect of which, in the case of any such action by a rating organization described above,
in the reasonable judgment of the Agent (without relieving the Company of any obligation or liability it
may otherwise have), is so material as to make it impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with the
offering of the Placement Shares on the terms and in the manner contemplated in the Prospectus.

(e)  Legal Opinion.  The Agent shall have received the opinions of Company
Counsel required to be delivered pursuant to Section 7(m) on or before the date on which such delivery
of such opinion is required pursuant to Section 7(m).

(f)  Comfort Letter.  The Agent shall have received the Comfort Letter required to
be delivered pursuant to Section 7(n) on or before the date on which such delivery of such Comfort
Letter is required pursuant to Section 7(n).
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(g)  Representation Certificate.  The Agent shall have received the certificate
required to be delivered pursuant to Section 7(l) on or before the date on which delivery of such
certificate is required pursuant to Section 7(l).

(h)  No Suspension.  Trading in the Common Stock shall not have been suspended
on the Exchange and the Common Stock shall not have been delisted from the Exchange.

(i)  Other Materials.  On each date on which the Company is required to deliver a
certificate pursuant to Section 7(l), the Company shall have furnished to the Agent such appropriate
further information, opinions, certificates, letters and other documents as the Agent may reasonably
request.  All such opinions, certificates, letters and other documents will be in compliance with the
provisions hereof.

(j)  Securities Act Filings Made.  All filings with the Commission required by Rule
424 with respect to the Placement Shares under the Securities Act to have been filed prior to the
issuance of any Placement Notice hereunder shall have been made within the applicable time period
prescribed for such filing by Rule 424.

(k)  Approval for Listing.  The Placement Shares shall either have been (i) approved
for listing on the Exchange, subject only to notice of issuance, or (ii) the Company shall have filed an
application for listing of the Placement Shares on the Exchange at, or prior to, the issuance of any
Placement Notice and the Exchange shall have reviewed such application and not provided any
objections thereto.

(l)  FINRA.  If applicable, FINRA shall have raised no objection to the terms of
this offering and the amount of compensation allowable or payable to the Agent as described in the
Prospectus.

(m)  No Termination Event.  There shall not have occurred any event that would
permit the Agent to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 12(a).

10.  Indemnification and Contribution.

(a)  Company Indemnification.  The Company agrees to indemnify and hold
harmless the Agent, its affiliates and their respective partners, members, directors, officers, employees
and agents and each person, if any, who controls the Agent or any affiliate within the meaning of
Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act as follows:

(i)  against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever,
as incurred, joint or several, arising out of or based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue
statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto), or the
omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading, or arising out of any untrue statement or alleged untrue
statement of a material fact included in any related Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus (or
any amendment or supplement thereto), or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading;

-27-

 



 
 

(ii)  against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense
whatsoever, as incurred, joint or several, to the extent of the aggregate amount paid in settlement of any
litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any Governmental Authority, commenced or threatened,
or of any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged
untrue statement or omission; provided that (subject to Section 10(d) below) any such settlement is
effected with the written consent of the Company, which consent shall not unreasonably be delayed or
withheld; and

(iii)  against any and all expense whatsoever, as incurred (including the fees
and disbursements of counsel), reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any
litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any Governmental Authority, commenced or threatened,
or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged untrue
statement or omission (whether or not a party), to the extent that any such expense is not paid under
(i) or (ii) above,

provided,  however, that this indemnity agreement shall not apply to any loss, liability, claim, damage or
expense to the extent arising out of any untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or
omission made solely in reliance upon and in conformity with the Agent Information (as defined below).

(b)  Agent Indemnification.  Agent agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the
Company and its directors and each officer of the Company who signed the Registration Statement, and
each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act
or Section 20 of the Exchange Act against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense
described in the indemnity contained in Section 10(a), as incurred, but only with respect to untrue
statements or omissions, or alleged untrue statements or omissions, made in the Registration Statement
(or any amendments thereto), the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or any Issuer
Free Writing Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) in reliance upon and in conformity
with information relating to the Agent and furnished to the Company in writing by the Agent expressly
for use therein.  The Company hereby acknowledges that the only information that the Agent has
furnished to the Company expressly for use in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any Issuer
Free Writing Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) are the statements set forth in the
seventh and eighth paragraphs under the caption “Plan of Distribution” in the Prospectus (the “Agent
Information”).

(c)  Procedure.  Any party that proposes to assert the right to be indemnified under
this Section 10 will, promptly after receipt of notice of commencement of any action against such party
in respect of which a claim is to be made against an indemnifying party or parties under this Section 10,
notify each such indemnifying party of the commencement of such action, enclosing a copy of all papers
served, but the omission so to notify such indemnifying party will not relieve the indemnifying party
from (i) any liability that it might have to any indemnified party otherwise than under this Section 10 and
(ii) any liability that it may have to any indemnified party under the foregoing provision of this Section
10 unless, and only to the extent that, such omission results in the forfeiture of substantive rights or
defenses by the indemnifying party.  If any such action is brought against any indemnified party and it
notifies the indemnifying party of its commencement, the indemnifying party will be entitled to
participate in and, to the extent that it elects by delivering written notice to the indemnified party
promptly after receiving notice of the commencement of the action from the indemnified party, jointly
with any other indemnifying party
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similarly notified, to assume the defense of the action, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the
indemnified party, and after notice from the indemnifying party to the indemnified party of its election to
assume the defense, the indemnifying party will not be liable to the indemnified party for any other legal
expenses except as provided below and except for the reasonable costs of investigation subsequently
incurred by the indemnified party in connection with the defense.  The indemnified party will have the
right to employ its own counsel in any such action, but the fees, expenses and other charges of such
counsel will be at the expense of such indemnified party unless (1) the employment of counsel by the
indemnified party has been authorized in writing by the indemnifying party, (2) the indemnified party
has reasonably concluded (based on advice of counsel) that there may be legal defenses available to it or
other indemnified parties that are different from or in addition to those available to the indemnifying
party, (3) a conflict or potential conflict exists (based on advice of counsel to the indemnified party)
between the indemnified party and the indemnifying party (in which case the indemnifying party will
not have the right to direct the defense of such action on behalf of the indemnified party) or (4) the
indemnifying party has not in fact employed counsel to assume the defense of such action or counsel
reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party, in each case, within a reasonable time after receiving
notice of the commencement of the action; in each of which cases the reasonable fees, disbursements
and other charges of counsel will be at the expense of the indemnifying party or parties.  It is understood
that the indemnifying party or parties shall not, in connection with any proceeding or related proceedings
in the same jurisdiction, be liable for the reasonable fees, disbursements and other charges of more than
one separate firm (plus local counsel) admitted to practice in such jurisdiction at any one time for all such
indemnified party or parties.  All such fees, disbursements and other charges will be reimbursed by the
indemnifying party promptly after the indemnifying party receives a written invoice relating to fees and
disbursements and other charges in reasonable detail.  An indemnifying party will not, in any event, be
liable for any settlement of any action or claim effected without its written consent.  No indemnifying
party shall, without the prior written consent of each indemnified party, settle or compromise or consent
to the entry of any judgment in any pending or threatened claim, action or proceeding relating to the
matters contemplated by this Section 10 (whether or not any indemnified party is a party thereto), unless
such settlement, compromise or consent (1) includes an express and unconditional release of each
indemnified party, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to such indemnified party, from all
liability arising out of such litigation, investigation, proceeding or claim and (2) does not include a
statement as to or an admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of any indemnified
party.

(d)  Settlement Without Consent if Failure to Reimburse.   If an indemnified party
shall have requested an indemnifying party to reimburse the indemnified party for reasonable fees and
expenses of counsel, such indemnifying party agrees that it shall be liable for any settlement of the
nature contemplated by Section 10(a)(ii) effected without its written consent if (1) such settlement is
entered into more than 45 days after receipt by such indemnifying party of the aforesaid request, (2) such
indemnifying party shall have received notice of the terms of such settlement at least 30 days prior to
such settlement being entered into and (3) such indemnifying party shall not have reimbursed such
indemnified party in accordance with such request prior to the date of such settlement.

(e)  Contribution.  In order to provide for just and equitable contribution in
circumstances in which the indemnification provided for in the foregoing paragraphs of this
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Section 10 is applicable in accordance with its terms but for any reason is held to be unavailable or
insufficient from the Company or the Agent, the Company and the Agent will contribute to the total
losses, claims, liabilities, expenses and damages (including any investigative, legal and other expenses
reasonably incurred in connection with, and any amount paid in settlement of, any action, suit or
proceeding or any claim asserted) to which the Company and the Agent may be subject in such
proportion as shall be appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one
hand and the Agent on the other hand.  The relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand
and the Agent on the other hand shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total net proceeds
from the sale of the Placement Shares (before deducting expenses) received by the Company bear to the
total compensation received by the Agent from the sale of Placement Shares on behalf of the
Company.  If, but only if, the allocation provided by the foregoing sentence is not permitted by
applicable law, the allocation of contribution shall be made in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect
not only the relative benefits referred to in the foregoing sentence but also the relative fault of the
Company, on the one hand, and the Agent, on the other hand, with respect to the statements or omission
that resulted in such loss, claim, liability, expense or damage, or action in respect thereof, as well as any
other relevant equitable considerations with respect to such offering.  Such relative fault shall be
determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a
material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the
Company or the Agent, the intent of the parties and their relative knowledge, access to information and
opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission.  The Company and the Agent agree that it
would not be just and equitable if contributions pursuant to this Section 10(e) were to be determined by
pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take into account the equitable
considerations referred to herein.  The amount paid or payable by an indemnified party as a result of the
loss, claim, liability, expense, or damage, or action in respect thereof, referred to above in this Section
10(e) shall be deemed to include, for the purpose of this Section 10(e), any legal or other expenses
reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating or defending any such
action or claim to the extent consistent with Section 10(c) hereof.  Notwithstanding the foregoing
provisions of this Section 10(e), the Agent shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of
the commissions received by it under this Agreement and no person found guilty of fraudulent
misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) will be entitled to
contribution from any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.  For purposes of
this Section 10(e), any person who controls a party to this Agreement within the meaning of the
Securities Act, any affiliates of the Agent and any officers, directors, partners, employees or agents of
the Agent or any of its affiliates, will have the same rights to contribution as that party, and each director
of the Company and each officer of the Company who signed the Registration Statement will have the
same rights to contribution as the Company, subject in each case to the provisions hereof.  Any party
entitled to contribution, promptly after receipt of notice of commencement of any action against such
party in respect of which a claim for contribution may be made under this Section 10(e), will notify any
such party or parties from whom contribution may be sought, but the omission to so notify will not
relieve that party or parties from whom contribution may be sought from any other obligation it or they
may have under this Section 10(e) except to the extent that the failure to so notify such other party
materially prejudiced the substantive rights or defenses of the party from whom contribution is
sought.  Except for a settlement entered into pursuant to the last sentence of Section 10(c) hereof, no
party will be liable for contribution with respect to any action or claim settled without its written consent
if such consent is required pursuant to Section 10(c) hereof.
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11.  Representations and Agreements to Survive Delivery.  The indemnity and contribution
agreements contained in Section 10 of this Agreement and all representations and warranties of the
Company herein or in certificates delivered pursuant hereto shall survive, as of their respective dates,
regardless of (i) any investigation made by or on behalf of the Agent, any controlling persons, or the
Company (or any of their respective officers, directors, employees or controlling persons), (ii) delivery
and acceptance of the Placement Shares and payment therefor or (iii) any termination of this Agreement.

12.  Termination.

(a)  The Agent may terminate this Agreement, by notice to the Company, as
hereinafter specified at any time (1) if there has been, since the time of execution of this Agreement or
since the date as of which information is given in the Prospectus, any change, or any development or
event involving a prospective change, in the condition, financial or otherwise, or in the business,
properties, earnings, results of operations or prospects of the Company and its Subsidiaries considered as
one enterprise, whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business, which individually or in the
aggregate, in the sole judgment of the Agent is material and adverse and makes it impractical or
inadvisable to market the Placement Shares or to enforce contracts for the sale of the Placement Shares,
(2) if there has occurred any material adverse change in the financial markets in the United States or the
international financial markets, any outbreak of hostilities or escalation thereof or other calamity or crisis
or any change or development involving a prospective change in national or international political,
financial or economic conditions, in each case the effect of which is such as to make it, in the judgment
of the Agent, impracticable or inadvisable to market the Placement Shares or to enforce contracts for the
sale of the Placement Shares, (3) if trading in the Common Stock has been suspended or limited by the
Commission or the Exchange, or if trading generally on the Exchange has been suspended or limited, or
minimum prices for trading have been fixed on the Exchange, (4) if any suspension of trading of any
securities of the Company on any exchange or in the over-the-counter market shall have occurred and be
continuing, (5) if a major disruption of securities settlements or clearance services in the United States
shall have occurred and be continuing, or (6) if a banking moratorium has been declared by either U.S.
Federal or New York authorities.  Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any
other party except that the provisions of Section 8 (Payment of Expenses), Section 10 (Indemnification
and Contribution), Section 11 (Representations and Agreements to Survive Delivery), Section 17
(Governing Law and Time; Waiver of Jury Trial) and Section 18 (Consent to Jurisdiction) hereof shall
remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.  If the Agent elects to terminate this
Agreement as provided in this Section 12(a), the Agent shall provide the required notice as specified in
Section 13 (Notices).

(b)  The Company shall have the right, by giving ten (10) days notice as hereinafter
specified to terminate this Agreement in its sole discretion at any time after the date of this
Agreement.  Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except that
the provisions of Section 8,  Section 10,  Section 11,  Section 17 and Section 18 hereof shall remain in
full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.

(c)  The Agent shall have the right, by giving ten (10) days notice as hereinafter
specified to terminate this Agreement in its sole discretion at any time after the date of this
Agreement.  Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except
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that the provisions of Section 8,  Section 10,  Section 11,  Section 17 and Section 18
hereof shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.

(d)  This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless terminated pursuant
to Sections 12(a),  (b), or (c) above or otherwise by mutual agreement of the parties; provided,  however,
that any such termination by mutual agreement shall in all cases be deemed to provide that Section 8,
 Section 10,  Section 11,  Section 17 and Section 18 shall remain in full force and effect.

(e)  Any termination of this Agreement shall be effective on the date specified in
such notice of termination; provided,  however, that such termination shall not be effective until the close
of business on the date of receipt of such notice by the Agent or the Company, as the case may be.  If
such termination shall occur prior to the Settlement Date for any sale of Placement Shares, such
Placement Shares shall settle in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

13.  Notices.  All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given by any
party to any other party pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing, unless otherwise
specified, and if sent to the Agent, shall be delivered to:

Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.
499 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Attention: Capital Markets/Jeffrey Lumby
Facsimile: (212) 307-3730

and:

Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.
499 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile: (212) 829-4708

with a copy to:

Cooley LLP
1114 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10036
Attention: Daniel I. Goldberg, Esq.
Facsimile: (212) 479-6275

and if to the Company, shall be delivered to:

pdvWireless, Inc.
3 Garret Mountain Plaza, Suite 401
Woodland Park, NJ 07424
Attention: Tim Gray
Facsimile: 973.473.0303
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And separately, at the same address, to the attention of Tom Sidman, Esq.

with a copy to:

Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP
3570 Carmel Mountain Road, Suite 200
San Diego, CA 92130
Attention: Jeffrey C. Thacker, Esq.
Facsimile: (858) 436-8055

Each party to this Agreement may change such address for notices by sending to the parties to
this Agreement written notice of a new address for such purpose.  Each such notice or other
communication shall be deemed given (i) when delivered personally or by verifiable facsimile
transmission (with an original to follow) on or before 4:30 p.m., New York City time, on a Business
Day or, if such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day, (ii) on the next
Business Day after timely delivery to a nationally-recognized overnight courier and (iii) on the Business
Day actually received if deposited in the U.S. mail (certified or registered mail, return receipt requested,
postage prepaid).  For purposes of this Agreement, “Business Day” shall mean any day on which the
Exchange and commercial banks in the City of New York are open for business. 

An electronic communication (“Electronic Notice”) shall be deemed written notice for purposes
of this Section 13 if sent to the electronic mail address specified by the receiving party under separate
cover.  Electronic Notice shall be deemed received at the time the party sending Electronic Notice
receives verification of receipt by the receiving party.  Any party receiving Electronic Notice may
request and shall be entitled to receive the notice on paper, in a nonelectronic form (“Nonelectronic
Notice”) which shall be sent to the requesting party within ten (10) days of receipt of the written request
for Nonelectronic Notice.

14.  Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding
upon the Company and the Agent and their respective successors and the parties referred to in Section
10 hereof.  References to any of the parties contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the
successors and permitted assigns of such party.  Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is
intended to confer upon any party other than the parties hereto or their respective successors and
permitted assigns any rights, remedies, obligations or liabilities under or by reason of this Agreement,
except as expressly provided in this Agreement.  Neither party may assign its rights or obligations under
this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party; provided,  however, that the Agent
may assign its rights and obligations hereunder to an affiliate thereof without obtaining the Company’s
consent, provided such affiliate is a registered broker dealer and Agent provides prior notice of such
assignment to the Company.

15.  Adjustments for Stock Splits.  The parties acknowledge and agree that all share-related
numbers contained in this Agreement shall be adjusted to take into account any stock split, stock
dividend or similar event effected with respect to the Placement Shares.

16.  Entire Agreement; Amendment; Severability; Waiver .  This Agreement (including all
schedules and exhibits attached hereto and Placement Notices issued pursuant hereto) constitutes the
entire agreement and supersedes all other prior and contemporaneous agreements
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and undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties hereto with regard to the subject
matter hereof.  Neither this Agreement nor any term hereof may be amended except pursuant to
a written instrument executed by the Company and the Agent.  In the event that any one or more
of the provisions contained herein, or the application thereof in any circumstance, is held invalid,
illegal or unenforceable as written by a court of competent jurisdiction, then such provision shall
be given full force and effect to the fullest possible extent that it is valid, legal and enforceable,
and the remainder of the terms and provisions herein shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal
or unenforceable term or provision was not contained herein, but only to the extent that giving
effect to such provision and the remainder of the terms and provisions hereof shall be in
accordance with the intent of the parties as reflected in this Agreement. No implied waiver by a
party shall arise in the absence of a waiver in writing signed by such party. No failure or delay in
exercising any right, power, or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall
any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise
of any right, power, or privilege hereunder.

17.  GOVERNING LAW AND TIME; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL .  THIS
AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO THE PRINCIPLES
OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS. SPECIFIED TIMES OF DAY REFER TO NEW YORK CITY
TIME.  EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN
ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT
OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

18.  CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
SUBMITS TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL
COURTS SITTING IN THE CITY OF NEW YORK, BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN, FOR
THE ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH
ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, AND HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
WAIVES, AND AGREES NOT TO ASSERT IN ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING,
ANY CLAIM THAT IT IS NOT PERSONALLY SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF
ANY SUCH COURT, THAT SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING IS BROUGHT IN
AN INCONVENIENT FORUM OR THAT THE VENUE OF SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR
PROCEEDING IS IMPROPER.  EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES
PERSONAL SERVICE OF PROCESS AND CONSENTS TO PROCESS BEING SERVED IN
ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY MAILING A COPY THEREOF
(CERTIFIED OR REGISTERED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED) TO SUCH
PARTY AT THE ADDRESS IN EFFECT FOR NOTICES TO IT UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT AND AGREES THAT SUCH SERVICE SHALL CONSTITUTE GOOD AND
SUFFICIENT SERVICE OF PROCESS AND NOTICE THEREOF.  NOTHING
CONTAINED HEREIN SHALL BE DEEMED TO LIMIT IN ANY WAY ANY RIGHT TO
SERVE PROCESS IN ANY MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW.

19.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument.  Delivery of an executed Agreement by one party to the other may be made by facsimile or
electronic transmission.
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20.  Construction.  The section and exhibit headings herein are for convenience only and
shall not affect the construction hereof. References herein to any law, statute, ordinance, code,
regulation, rule or other requirement of any Governmental Authority shall be deemed to refer to such
law, statute, ordinance, code, regulation, rule or other requirement of any Governmental Authority as
amended, reenacted, supplemented or superseded in whole or in part and in effect from time to time and
also to all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 

21.  Permitted Free Writing Prospectuses.  The Company represents, warrants and agrees
that, unless it obtains the prior written consent of the Agent (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed), and the Agent represents, warrants and agrees that, unless it obtains
the prior written consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed), it has not made and will not make any offer relating to the Placement Shares
that would constitute an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, or that would otherwise constitute a “free
writing prospectus,” as defined in Rule 405, required to be filed with the Commission.  Any such free
writing prospectus consented to by the Agent or by the Company, as the case may be, is hereinafter
referred to as a “Permitted Free Writing Prospectus.”  The Company represents and warrants that it has
treated and agrees that it will treat each Permitted Free Writing Prospectus as an “issuer free writing
prospectus,” as defined in Rule 433, and has complied and will comply with the requirements of
Rule 433 applicable to any Permitted Free Writing Prospectus, including timely filing with the
Commission where required, legending and record keeping.  For the purposes of clarity, the parties
hereto agree that all free writing prospectuses, if any, listed in Exhibit 21 hereto are Permitted Free
Writing Prospectuses.

22.  Absence of Fiduciary Relationship.  The Company acknowledges and agrees that:

(a)  the Agent is acting solely as agent in connection with the public offering of the
Placement Shares and in connection with each transaction contemplated by this Agreement and the
process leading to such transactions, and no fiduciary or advisory relationship between the Company or
any of its respective affiliates, stockholders (or other equity holders), creditors or employees or any other
party, on the one hand, and the Agent, on the other hand, has been or will be created in respect of any of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, irrespective of whether or not the Agent has advised or
is advising the Company on other matters, and the Agent has no obligation to the Company with respect
to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement except the obligations expressly set forth in this
Agreement;

(b)  it is capable of evaluating and understanding, and understands and accepts, the
terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(c)  neither the Agent nor its affiliates have provided any legal, accounting,
regulatory or tax advice with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and it has
consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate;

(d)  it is aware that the Agent and its affiliates are engaged in a broad range of
transactions which may involve interests that differ from those of the Company and the Agent and its
affiliates have no obligation to disclose such interests and transactions to the Company by virtue of any
fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship or otherwise; and
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(e)  it waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims it may have against
the Agent or its affiliates for breach of fiduciary duty or alleged breach of fiduciary duty in connection
with the sale of Placement Shares under this Agreement and agrees that the Agent and its affiliates shall
not have any liability (whether direct or indirect, in contract, tort or otherwise) to it in respect of such a
fiduciary duty claim or to any person asserting a fiduciary duty claim on its behalf or in right of it or the
Company, employees or creditors of Company.

23.  Definitions.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the respective
meanings set forth below:

“Applicable Time” means (i) each Representation Date, (ii) the time of each sale of any
Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement and (iii) each Settlement Date.

“Governmental Authority” means (i) any federal, provincial, state, local, municipal, national or
international government or governmental authority, regulatory or administrative agency, governmental
commission, department, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, court, tribunal, arbitrator or arbitral
body (public or private); (ii) any self-regulatory organization; or (iii) any political subdivision of any of
the foregoing.

“Issuer Free Writing Prospectus” means any “issuer free writing prospectus,” as defined in
Rule 433, relating to the Placement Shares that (1) is required to be filed with the Commission by the
Company, (2) is a “road show” that is a “written communication” within the meaning of Rule 433(d)(8)
(i) whether or not required to be filed with the Commission, or (3) is exempt from filing pursuant to
Rule 433(d)(5)(i) because it contains a description of the Placement Shares or of the offering that does
not reflect the final terms, in each case in the form filed or required to be filed with the Commission or, if
not required to be filed, in the form retained in the Company’s records pursuant to Rule 433(g) under the
Securities Act Regulations.

 “Rule 164,” “Rule 172,” “Rule 405,” “Rule 415,” “Rule 424,” “Rule 424(b),” “Rule 430B,”
and “Rule 433” refer to such rules under the Securities Act Regulations.

All references in this Agreement to financial statements and schedules and other information that
is “contained,” “included” or “stated” in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus (and all other
references of like import) shall be deemed to mean and include all such financial statements and
schedules and other information that is incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or the
Prospectus, as the case may be.

All references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any amendment
or supplement to any of the foregoing shall be deemed to include the copy filed with the Commission
pursuant to EDGAR; all references in this Agreement to any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus (other than
any Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses that, pursuant to Rule 433, are not required to be filed with the
Commission) shall be deemed to include the copy thereof filed with the Commission pursuant to
EDGAR; and all references in this Agreement to “supplements” to the Prospectus shall include, without
limitation, any supplements, “wrappers” or similar materials prepared in connection with any offering,
sale or private placement of any Placement Shares by the Agent outside of the United States.

[Signature Page Follows]
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PDVWIRELESS, INC.
 
 

By: /s/ John Pescatore
Name: John Pescatore
Title: President and Chief Executive   Officer

CANTOR FITZGERALD & CO.
 
 

By: /s/ Jeffrey Lumby
Name: Jeffrey Lumby
Title: Senior Managing Director

 
 

If the foregoing correctly sets forth the understanding between the Company and the Agent,
please so indicate in the space provided below for that purpose, whereupon this letter shall constitute a
binding agreement between the Company and the Agent.

Very truly yours,

ACCEPTED as of the date first-above written:

 

 

 



 
 

SCHEDULE 1

__________________________

Form of Placement Notice

__________________________

From: pdvWireless, Inc.

To: Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. 
Attention:  [•]

Subject: Placement Notice

Date: [•], 201[•]

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions contained in the Sales Agreement between
pdvWireless, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (“Agent”),
dated February 6, 2018, the Company hereby requests that the Agent sell up to [•] of the Company’s
common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, at a minimum market price of $[•] per share, during the
time period beginning [month, day, time] and ending [month, day, time].

 

 

 



 
 

SCHEDULE 2

__________________________

Compensation

__________________________

The Company shall pay to the Agent in cash, upon each sale of Placement Shares pursuant to
this Agreement, an amount equal to up to 2.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds from each sale of
Placement Shares.

 

 

 



 
 

SCHEDULE 3

__________________________

Notice Parties

__________________________

The Company

John Pescatore (jpescatore@pdvwireless.com)

Tim Gray (tgray@pdvwireless.com)

With copies to:

Tom Sidman (tsidman@pdvwireless.com)

Jeffrey Thacker (jthacker@gunder.com)

The Agent

Jeffrey Lumby (jlumby@cantor.com)

Joshua Feldman (jfeldman@cantor.com)

Sameer Vasudev (svasudev@cantor.com)  

With copies to:

CFControlledEquityOffering@cantor.com

 

 



PDVWIRELESS, INC.

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

 
Form of Representation Date Certificate Pursuant to Section 7(l)

The undersigned, the duly qualified and elected [•], of pdvWireless, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the “Company”), does hereby certify in such capacity and on behalf of the Company, pursuant to
Section 7(l) of the Sales Agreement, dated February 6, 2018 (the “Sales Agreement”), between the
Company and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., that to the best of the knowledge of the undersigned:

(i) The representations and warranties of the Company in Section 6 of the Sales Agreement  are
true and correct on and as of the date hereof with the same force and effect as if expressly made on and
as of the date hereof, except for those representations and warranties that speak solely as of a specific
date and which were true and correct as of such date; provided,  however, that such representations and
warranties also shall be qualified by the disclosure included or incorporated by reference in the
Registration Statement and Prospectus; and

(ii) The Company has complied with all agreements and satisfied all conditions on its part to be
performed or satisfied pursuant to the Sales Agreement at or prior to the date hereof. 

Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings given to such terms in the
Sales Agreement.

Date: [•]

 



 

Schedule 4

The Company formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, Kleine License Holding Company LLC (“KLHC”),
to acquire FCC licenses owned by members of the Kleine family.  The Company is paying the
acquisition price over time.  The membership units of KLHC are pledged to the Kleine family to secure
the Company’s payment of the purchase price.

 

 

 



 
Exhibit 21

Permitted Free Writing Prospectus

None.



EXHIBIT 10.2
Execution Version

pdvWireless, Inc.
Shares of Common Stock

(par value $0.0001 per share)

Sales Agreement

February 6, 2018

B. Riley FBR, Inc.
299 Park Avenue, 7th Floor
New York, NY 10171

Ladies and Gentlemen:

pdvWireless, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), confirms its agreement (this
“Agreement”) with B. Riley FBR, Inc. (the “Agent”), as follows:

The Company has also entered into a separate sales agreement (an “Alternative Sales
Agreement”), dated as of even date herewith, with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (the “Alternative Agent”).

1.  Issuance and Sale of Shares.  The Company agrees that, from time to time during the
term of this Agreement, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, it may issue and sell
through the Agent, shares of common stock (the “Placement Shares”) of the Company, par value
$0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”); provided,  however, that in no event shall the Company
issue or sell through the Agent such number or dollar amount of Placement Shares that would (a) exceed
the number or dollar amount of shares of Common Stock registered on the effective Registration
Statement (defined below) pursuant to which the offering is being made, (b) exceed the number of
authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock (less shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise,
conversion or exchange of any outstanding securities of the Company or otherwise reserved from the
Company’s authorized capital stock), (c) exceed the number or dollar amount of shares of Common
Stock permitted to be sold under Form S-3 (including General Instruction I.B.6 thereof, if applicable) or
(d) exceed the number or dollar amount of shares of Common Stock for which the Company has filed a
Prospectus Supplement (defined below) (the lesser of (a), (b), (c) and (d), the “Maximum
Amount”).  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the parties hereto agree that
compliance with the limitations set forth in this Section 1 on the amount of Placement Shares issued and
sold under this Agreement shall be the sole responsibility of the Company and that the Agent shall have
no obligation in connection with such compliance.  The offer and sale of Placement Shares through the
Agent will be effected pursuant to the Registration Statement (as defined below) filed by the Company
and which has been or will be declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Commission”), although nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as requiring the Company to use
the Registration Statement to issue Common Stock.
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The Company has filed or will file, in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and the rules and regulations thereunder (the “Securities Act
Regulations”), with the Commission a registration statement on Form S-3, including a base prospectus,
relating to certain securities, including the Placement Shares to be issued from time to time by the
Company, and which incorporates by reference documents that the Company has filed or will file in
accordance with the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), and the rules and regulations thereunder.  The Company has prepared a prospectus or a
prospectus supplement to the base prospectus included as part of the registration statement, which
prospectus or prospectus supplement relates to the Placement Shares to be issued from time to time by
the Company (the “Prospectus Supplement”).  The Company will furnish to the Agent, for use by the
Agent, copies of the prospectus included as part of such registration statement, as supplemented, by the
Prospectus Supplement, relating to the Placement Shares to be issued from time to time by the
Company.  The Company may file one or more additional registration statements from time to time that
will contain a base prospectus and related prospectus or prospectus supplement, if applicable (which
shall be a Prospectus Supplement), with respect to the Placement Shares.  Except where the context
otherwise requires, such registration statement(s), including all documents filed as part thereof or
incorporated by reference therein, and including any information contained in a Prospectus (as defined
below) subsequently filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act
Regulations or deemed to be a part of such registration statement pursuant to Rule 430B of the Securities
Act Regulations, is herein called the “Registration Statement.”  The base prospectus or base
prospectuses, including all documents incorporated therein by reference, included in the Registration
Statement, as it may be supplemented, if necessary, by the Prospectus Supplement, in the form in which
such prospectus or prospectuses and/or Prospectus Supplement have most recently been filed by the
Company with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act Regulations, together
with the then issued Issuer Free Writing Prospectus(es), is herein called the “Prospectus.” 

Any reference herein to the Registration Statement, any Prospectus Supplement, Prospectus or
any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus (defined below) shall be deemed to refer to and include the
documents, if any, incorporated by reference therein (the “Incorporated Documents”), including,
unless the context otherwise requires, the documents, if any, filed as exhibits to such Incorporated
Documents. Any reference herein to the terms “amend,” “amendment” or “supplement” with respect to
the Registration Statement, any Prospectus Supplement, the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing
Prospectus shall be deemed to refer to and include the filing of any document under the Exchange Act
on or after the most-recent effective date of the Registration Statement, or the date of the Prospectus
Supplement, Prospectus or such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, as the case may be, and incorporated
therein by reference.  For purposes of this Agreement, all references to the Registration Statement, the
Prospectus or to any amendment or supplement thereto shall be deemed to include the most recent copy
filed with the Commission pursuant to its Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval system, or if
applicable, the Interactive Data Electronic Application system when used by the Commission
(collectively, “EDGAR”).

2.  Placements.  Each time that the Company wishes to issue and sell Placement Shares
hereunder (each, a “Placement”), it will notify the Agent by email notice (or other method mutually
agreed to by the parties) of the number of Placement Shares to be issued, the time period
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during which sales are requested to be made, any limitation on the number of Placement Shares
that may be sold in any one day and any minimum price below which sales may not be made (a
“Placement Notice”), the form of which is attached hereto as Schedule 1.  The Placement
Notice shall originate from any of the individuals from the Company set forth on Schedule 3
(with a copy to each of the other individuals from the Company listed on such schedule), and
shall be addressed to each of the individuals from the Agent set forth on Schedule 3, as such
Schedule 3 may be amended from time to time.  The Placement Notice shall be effective unless
and until (i) the Agent declines to accept the terms contained therein for any reason, in its sole
discretion, (ii) the entire amount of the Placement Shares thereunder have been sold, (iii) the
Company suspends or terminates the Placement Notice or (iv) this Agreement has been
terminated under the provisions of Section 12.  The amount of any discount, commission or
other compensation to be paid by the Company to Agent in connection with the sale of the
Placement Shares shall be calculated in accordance with the terms set forth in Schedule 2.  It is
expressly acknowledged and agreed that neither the Company nor the Agent will have any
obligation whatsoever with respect to a Placement or any Placement Shares unless and until the
Company delivers a Placement Notice to the Agent and the Agent does not decline such
Placement Notice pursuant to the terms set forth above, and then only upon the terms specified
therein and herein.  In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms
of a Placement Notice, the terms of the Placement Notice will control.

3.  Sale of Placement Shares by Agent. 

(a)  Subject to the provisions of Section 5(a), the Agent, for the period specified in
the Placement Notice, will use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and
sales practices and applicable state and federal laws, rules and regulations and the rules of the NASDAQ
Capital Market (the “Exchange”), to sell the Placement Shares up to the amount specified, and
otherwise in accordance with the terms of such Placement Notice.  The Agent will provide written
confirmation to the Company no later than the opening of the Trading Day (as defined below)
immediately following the Trading Day on which it has made sales of Placement Shares hereunder
setting forth the number of Placement Shares sold on such day, the compensation payable by the
Company to the Agent pursuant to Section 2 with respect to such sales, and the Net Proceeds (as
defined below) payable to the Company, with an itemization of the deductions made by the Agent (as
set forth in Section 5(b)) from the gross proceeds that it receives from such sales.  Subject to the terms of
the Placement Notice, the Agent may sell Placement Shares by any method permitted by law deemed to
be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) of the Securities Act Regulations, including
sales made directly on or through the Exchange or any other existing trading market for the Common
Stock, in negotiated transactions at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or at prices related to such
prevailing market prices and/or any other method permitted by law.  “Trading Day” means any day on
which Common Stock is traded on the Exchange.

(b)  While a Placement Notice is in effect, neither Agent nor any of its subsidiaries
shall, for its own account, engage in (i) any short sale of any security of the Company, as defined in
Regulation SHO or (ii) any market making bidding, stabilization or other trading activity with regard to
the Common Stock or related derivative securities, in each case, if such activity would be prohibited
under Regulation M or other anti-manipulation rules under the Securities Act. For the avoidance of
doubt, this restriction shall not apply to transactions by or on
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behalf of any customer of such Agent or transactions by such Agent to facilitate any such
transactions by or on behalf of any customer of such Agent.

4.  Suspension of Sales.  The Company or the Agent may, upon notice to the other party in
writing (including by email correspondence to each of the individuals of the other party set forth on
Schedule 3, if receipt of such correspondence is actually acknowledged by any of the individuals to
whom the notice is sent, other than via auto-reply) or by telephone (confirmed immediately by verifiable
facsimile transmission or email correspondence to each of the individuals of the other party set forth on
Schedule 3), suspend any sale of Placement Shares (a “Suspension”); provided,  however, that such
Suspension shall not affect or impair any party’s obligations with respect to any Placement Shares sold
hereunder prior to the receipt of such notice.  While a Suspension is in effect any obligation under
Sections 7(l),  7(m), and 7(n) with respect to the delivery of certificates, opinions, or comfort letters to
the Agent, shall be waived. Each of the parties agrees that no such notice under this Section 4 shall be
effective against any other party unless it is made to one of the individuals named on Schedule 3 hereto,
as such Schedule may be amended from time to time.

5.  Sale and Delivery to the Agent; Settlement.

(a)  Sale of Placement Shares.   On the basis of the representations and warranties
herein contained and subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth, upon the Agent’s acceptance of
the terms of a Placement Notice, and unless the sale of the Placement Shares described therein has been
declined, suspended, or otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Agent,
for the period specified in the Placement Notice, will use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent
with its normal trading and sales practices and applicable law and regulations to sell such Placement
Shares up to the amount specified, and otherwise in accordance with the terms of such Placement
Notice.  The Company acknowledges and agrees that (i) there can be no assurance that the Agent will
be successful in selling Placement Shares, (ii) the Agent will incur no liability or obligation to the
Company or any other person or entity if it does not sell Placement Shares for any reason other than a
failure by the Agent to use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and
sales practices and applicable law and regulations to sell such Placement Shares as required under this
Agreement and (iii) the Agent shall be under no obligation to purchase Placement Shares on a principal
basis pursuant to this Agreement, except as otherwise agreed by the Agent and the Company.

(b)  Settlement of Placement Shares.   Unless otherwise specified in the applicable
Placement Notice, settlement for sales of Placement Shares will occur on the second (2nd) Trading Day
(or such earlier day as is industry practice for regular-way trading) following the date on which such
sales are made (each, a “Settlement Date”).  The Agent shall notify the Company of each sale of
Placement Shares no later than the opening of the Trading Day immediately following the Trading Day
on which it has made sales of Placement Shares hereunder.  The amount of proceeds to be delivered to
the Company on a Settlement Date against receipt of the Placement Shares sold (the “Net Proceeds”)
will be equal to the aggregate sales price received by the Agent, after deduction for (i) the Agent’s
commission, discount or other compensation for such sales payable by the Company pursuant to Section
2 hereof, and (ii) any transaction fees imposed by any Governmental Authority in respect of such sales.
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(c)   Delivery of Placement Shares.  On or before each Settlement Date, the
Company will, or will cause its transfer agent to, electronically transfer the Placement Shares being sold
by crediting the Agent’s or its designee’s account (provided the Agent shall have given the Company
written notice of such designee at least one Trading Day prior to the Settlement Date) at The Depository
Trust Company through its Deposit and Withdrawal at Custodian System or by such other means of
delivery as may be mutually agreed upon by the parties hereto which in all cases shall be freely tradable,
transferable, registered shares in good deliverable form.  On each Settlement Date, the Agent will deliver
the related Net Proceeds in same day funds to an account designated by the Company on, or prior to, the
Settlement Date.  The Company agrees that if the Company, or its transfer agent (if applicable), defaults
in its obligation to deliver Placement Shares on a Settlement Date (unless such default is directly and
primarily caused by Agent), the Company agrees that in addition to and in no way limiting the rights and
obligations set forth in Section 10(a) hereto, it will (i) hold the Agent harmless against any loss, claim,
damage, or reasonable and documented expense (including reasonable legal fees and expenses), as
incurred, arising out of or in connection with such default by the Company or its transfer agent (if
applicable) and (ii) pay to the Agent any commission, discount, or other compensation to which it would
otherwise have been entitled absent such default.

(d)  Denominations; Registration.  Certificates for the Placement Shares, if any, shall
be in such denominations and registered in such names as the Agent may request in writing at least one
full Business Day (as defined below) before the Settlement Date.  The certificates for the Placement
Shares, if any, will be made available by the Company for examination and packaging by the Agent in
The City of New York not later than noon (New York time) on the Business Day prior to the Settlement
Date.

(e)  Limitations on Offering Size.  Under no circumstances shall the Company cause
or request the offer or sale of any Placement Shares if, after giving effect to the sale of such Placement
Shares, the aggregate gross sales proceeds of Placement Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement together
with all sales of the Shares under the Alternative Sales Agreement would exceed the lesser of (A)  the
Maximum Amount and (B) the amount authorized from time to time to be issued and sold under this
Agreement by the Company’s board of directors, a duly authorized committee thereof or a duly
authorized executive committee, and notified to the Agent in writing.  Under no circumstances shall the
Company cause or request the offer or sale of any Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement at a
price lower than the minimum price authorized from time to time by the Company’s board of directors, a
duly authorized committee thereof or a duly authorized executive committee, and notified to the Agent
in writing.  Further, under no circumstances shall the Company cause or permit the aggregate offering
amount of Placement Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement to exceed the Maximum Amount.

(f)  One Agent.  The Company agrees that any offer to sell Placement Shares, any
solicitation of an offer to buy Placement Shares, or any sales of Placement Shares shall only be effected
by or through only one of the Agent or the Alternative Agent on any single given day, but in no event
by more than one, and the Company shall in no event request that the Agent and the Alternative Agent
sell Shares on the same day.  

6.  Representations and Warranties of the Company.  The Company represents and warrants
to, and agrees with Agent that as of the date of this Agreement and as of each Applicable
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Time (as defined below), unless such representation, warranty or agreement specifies a different
time:

(a)  The Company and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement meet the
requirements for and comply with the applicable conditions set forth in Form S-3 (including General
Instructions I.A and I.B) under the Securities Act.   The Registration Statement has been or will be filed
with the Commission and will be declared effective by the Commission under the Securities Act prior to
the issuance of any Placement Notices by the Company.  The Prospectus Supplement will name the
Agent as the agent in the section entitled “Plan of Distribution.” The Company has not received, and has
no notice of, any order of the Commission preventing or suspending the use of the Registration
Statement, or threatening or instituting proceedings for that purpose.  The Registration Statement and the
offer and sale of Placement Shares as contemplated hereby meet the requirements of Rule 415 under the
Securities Act and comply in all material respects with said Rule.  Any statutes, regulations, contracts or
other documents that are required to be described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to be
filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement have been so described or filed.  Copies of the Registration
Statement, the Prospectus, and any such amendments or supplements and all documents incorporated by
reference therein that were filed with the Commission on or prior to the date of this Agreement have
been delivered, or are available through EDGAR, to Agent and its counsel.  The Company has not
distributed and, prior to the later to occur of each Settlement Date and completion of the distribution of
the Placement Shares, will not distribute any offering material in connection with the offering or sale of
the Placement Shares other than the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and any Issuer Free
Writing Prospectus (as defined below) to which the Agent has consented, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  The Common Stock is registered pursuant to Section
12(b) of the Exchange Act and is currently listed on the Exchange under the trading symbol
“PDVW.”  The Company has taken no action designed to, or likely to have the effect of, terminating the
registration of the Common Stock under the Exchange Act, delisting the Common Stock from the
Exchange, nor has the Company received any notification that the Commission or the Exchange is
contemplating terminating such registration or listing.  To the Company’s knowledge, it is in compliance
with all applicable listing requirements of the Exchange. 

(b)  The Registration Statement, when it became or becomes effective, and the
Prospectus, and any amendment or supplement thereto, on the date of such Prospectus or amendment or
supplement, conformed and will conform in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities
Act.  At each Settlement Date, the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, as of such date, will
conform in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act.  The Registration Statement,
when it became or becomes effective, did not, and will not, contain an untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein
not misleading.  The Prospectus and any amendment and supplement thereto, on the date thereof and at
each Applicable Time (defined below), did not or will not include an untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading.  The documents incorporated by reference in the
Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement did not, and any further documents filed and incorporated by
reference therein will not, when filed with the Commission, contain an untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated in such document or necessary to make the
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statements in such document, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading.  The foregoing shall not apply to statements in, or omissions from, any
such document made in reliance upon, and in conformity with, information furnished to
the Company by Agent specifically for use in the preparation thereof.

(c)  The Registration Statement, the Prospectus, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus
or any amendment or supplement thereto, and the documents incorporated by reference in the
Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto, when such documents
were or are filed with the Commission under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or became or
become effective under the Securities Act, as the case may be, conformed or will conform in all material
respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as applicable.

(d)  The Prospectus delivered to Agent for use in connection with the sale of the
Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement will be identical to the versions of the Prospectus created
to be transmitted to the Commission for filing via EDGAR, except to the extent permitted by Regulation
S‑T.

(e)  The Company had, as of the date indicated in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus, and will have, as of the Applicable Time , the duly authorized capitalization as set forth in
the Registration Statement and the Prospectus; the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company
have been duly and validly authorized and issued and are fully paid and non-assessable, and have not
been issued in violation of or subject to any preemptive right or other similar right of stockholders arising
by operation of law, under the certificate of incorporation or bylaws, as amended, of the Company,
under any agreement to which the Company is a party or otherwise; all of the outstanding shares of
capital stock or other equity interest of each subsidiary of the Company (each, a “Subsidiary”) have
been duly and validly authorized and issued and are fully paid and non-assessable, and except as
disclosed in the Prospectus or Schedule 4 attached hereto are directly or indirectly owned of record and
beneficially by the Company; except as disclosed in the Prospectus, there are no outstanding
(i) securities or obligations of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries convertible into or exchangeable
for any capital stock of the Company or any such Subsidiary, (ii) warrants, rights or options to subscribe
for or purchase from the Company or any such Subsidiary any such capital stock or any such
convertible or exchangeable securities or obligations, (iii) obligations of the Company or any such
Subsidiary to issue or sell any shares of capital stock, any such convertible or exchangeable securities or
obligations, or any such warrants, rights or options;  (iv) Common Stock or equity awards issued after
the date of the Prospectus to the Company’s employees, directors or consultants in the ordinary course
pursuant to the Company’s 2014 Stock Plan; or (v) Common Stock or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for shares of Common Stock as consideration for mergers, acquisitions, other business
combinations, acquisitions of Federal Communications Commission spectrum licenses or in connection
with strategic alliances or acquisitions occurring after the date of the Prospectus, which are not issued
principally for capital raising purposes.

(f)  The Company is a corporation duly organized and validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with requisite corporate power and authority to own,
lease or operate its properties and to conduct its business as described in each of the Registration
Statement and the Prospectus, and to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the
transactions contemplated herein (including the offer and sale of the Placement
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Shares); each Subsidiary (all of which are named in Exhibit 21 of the Company’s most
recently filed Form 10-K)  has been duly incorporated or organized and is validly
existing as a corporation or a limited liability company in good standing under the laws
of its respective jurisdiction of incorporation or organization with full corporate or other
power and authority to own, lease or operate its respective properties and to conduct its
respective businesses as described in each of the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus.

(g)  The Placement Shares have been duly authorized for offer and sale pursuant to
this Agreement and, when issued and delivered by the Company against payment therefor in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement, will be duly and validly issued and fully paid and nonassessable, free
and clear of any pledge, lien, encumbrance, security interest or other claim; the offer and sale of the
Placement Shares by the Company are not subject to any preemptive right, co-sale right, registration
right, right of first refusal or other similar right of stockholders arising by operation of law, under the
certificate of incorporation or bylaws, as amended, of the Company, or under any agreement to which
the Company is a party or otherwise, that has not otherwise been duly waived.

(h)  Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed by, and
is in good standing in, each jurisdiction in which it conducts its business or in which it owns or leases
property or otherwise maintains an office and in which such qualification or licensing is necessary and in
which the failure, individually or in the aggregate, to be so qualified or licensed would reasonably be
expected to have a material adverse effect on (i) the business, condition (financial or otherwise), results
of operations or prospects of the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (ii) the
consummation of the transactions hereby or the other transactions contemplated by the Prospectus (any
such effect or change, where the context so requires is hereinafter called a “Material Adverse Effect”);
except as disclosed in the Prospectus or Schedule 4 attached hereto, no wholly-owned Subsidiary is
prohibited or restricted, directly or indirectly, from paying dividends to the Company, or from making
any other distribution with respect to such Subsidiary’s capital stock or from repaying to the Company
or any other Subsidiary any amounts which may from time to time become due under any loans or
advances to such Subsidiary from the Company or such other Subsidiary, or from transferring any such
Subsidiary’s property or assets to the Company or to any other Subsidiary; other than as disclosed in the
Prospectus, the Company does not own, directly or indirectly, any capital stock or other equity securities
of any other corporation or any ownership interest in any partnership, joint venture or other association.

(i)  The Company is not in breach of, or in default under (nor has any event
occurred which with notice, lapse of time, or both would constitute a breach of, or default under) (i) its
certificate of incorporation, bylaws, or other organizational documents (collectively, the “Charter
Documents”) or (ii) any obligation, agreement, covenant or condition contained in any contract, license,
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, bank loan, credit agreement or other agreement or instrument to
which the Company is a party or by which it or its properties are bound, except, in the case of clause
(ii) above, for such breaches or defaults which would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a
Material Adverse Effect.

(j)  None of the Subsidiaries is in breach of, or in default under (nor has any event
occurred which with notice, lapse of time, or both would constitute a breach of, or default under) (i) its
Charter Documents, or (ii) the performance or observance of any obligation, agreement, covenant or
condition contained in any license, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, bank
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loan or credit agreement or other agreement or instrument to which such Subsidiary is a
party or by which any of them or their respective properties are bound, except, in the
case of clause (ii) above, for such breaches or defaults which would not, individually or
in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

(k)  The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement,
the offer and sale of the Placement Shares by the Company, the use of the proceeds from the sale of the
Placement Shares as described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, the consummation by
the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby, and the compliance by the Company and the
Subsidiaries with the terms and provisions hereunder will not conflict with, or result in any breach of, or
constitute a default under (nor constitute any event which with notice, lapse of time, or both would
constitute a breach of, or default under), (i) any provision of the Charter Documents of the Company or
any Subsidiary, (ii) any provision of any contract, license, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, bank loan,
credit agreement or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a party or
by which it or its respective properties are bound, or (iii) any federal, state, local or foreign law,
regulation or rule or any decree, judgment, permit or order (each, a “Law”) applicable to the Company
or any Subsidiary, except in the case of clauses (ii) or (iii) for such conflicts, breaches or defaults that (x)
have been validly waived or (y) would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to
have a Material Adverse Effect or (z) would not constitute  or result in the creation or imposition of any
lien, charge, claim or encumbrance upon any property or asset of the Company or any Subsidiary, other
than any of such liens, charges, claims or encumbrances that, individually or in the aggregate, would not
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(l)  This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the
Company and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties hereto, is a legal,
valid and binding agreement of the Company enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as may be
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally, and by general equitable principles, and except to the extent that the indemnification
provisions of Section 10 hereof may be limited by federal or state securities laws and public policy
considerations in respect thereof.

(m)  No approval, authorization, consent or order of or filing with any
Governmental Authority is required in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement by the Company, the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated
herein, and the offer and sale of the Placement Shares as contemplated herein, other than (i) such as have
been obtained or made, or will have been obtained or made at the Applicable Time, under the Securities
Act and/or the Exchange Act, (ii) such approvals as have been obtained in connection with the approval
of the listing of the Placement Shares on the Exchange, (iii) any necessary qualification under the
securities or blue sky laws of the various jurisdictions in which the Placement Shares are being
distributed by the Agent, and (iv) such as have been or will be timely obtained or made under the rules
and regulations of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”).

(n)  Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries has all necessary licenses, permits,
certificates, authorizations, consents and approvals, has made all necessary filings required under any
Law, has obtained all necessary licenses, permits, certificates, authorizations,
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consents and approvals from other persons, and has not received any written notice of
any proceedings relating to the revocation or modification thereof, required in order to
conduct its business as described in the Prospectus, except as disclosed in the Prospectus
or to the extent that any failure to have any such licenses, permits, certificates,
authorizations, consents or approvals, to make any such filings or to obtain any such
licenses, permits, certificates, authorizations, consents or approvals would not reasonably
be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect; neither
the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is in violation of, or in default under, any such
license, permit, certificate, authorization, consent or approval or any Law applicable to
the Company, or to any of the Subsidiaries the effect of which would reasonably be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(o)  Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, if any, as of its issue date and at all
subsequent times through the completion of the public offer and sale of the Placement Shares did not,
does not and will not include any information that conflicted, conflicts or will conflict with the
information contained in the Registration Statement, that has not been superseded or modified.

(p)  The Company is eligible to use Free Writing Prospectuses in connection with
this offering pursuant to Rules 164 and 433 under the Securities Act; any Free Writing Prospectus that
the Company is required to file pursuant to Rule 433(d) under the Securities Act Regulations has been,
or will be, filed with the Commission in accordance with the requirements of the Securities Act and the
Securities Act Regulations; and each Free Writing Prospectus that the Company has filed, or is required
to file, pursuant to Rule 433(d) under the Securities Act Regulations or that was prepared by or on
behalf of or used by the Company complies or will comply in all material respects with the requirements
of the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations;

(q)  From the time of the initial submission of the Company’s first registration
statement with the Commission through the date hereof, the Company has been and is an “emerging
growth company” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Securities Act (an “Emerging Growth
Company”).

(r)  Other than as set forth in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there
are no actions, suits, proceedings, inquiries or investigations pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened against the Company or any Subsidiary or any of their respective properties,
directors, officers or affiliates at law or in equity, or before or by any Governmental Authority  (as
defined below) that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

(s)  The consolidated financial statements of the Company, including the notes
thereto, included in each of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus (i) fairly present, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the entities to which such financial statements
relate (the “Covered Entities”) as of the dates indicated and the consolidated results of operations and
changes in financial position and cash flows of the Covered Entities for the periods specified and
(ii) have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved and in accordance with Regulation
S-X promulgated by the Commission (except for such adjustments to accounting standards and practices
as are noted therein and except in the case of unaudited financial statements to the extent they may
exclude footnotes or may be condensed or summary
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statements); the financial statement schedules included in the Registration Statement and
the amounts in the Prospectus under the captions “Selected Financial Data” and
“Supplementary Financial Information” (to the extent applicable) fairly present in all
material respects the information shown therein and have been compiled on a basis
consistent with the financial statements included in each of the Registration Statement
and the Prospectus; no other financial statements or supporting schedules are required to
be included in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus; the unaudited financial
information (including the related notes) included in each of the Registration Statement
and the Prospectus complies as to form in all material respects with the applicable
accounting requirements of the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations.

(t)  PKF O’Connor Davies, a division of O’Connor Davies, LLP (the
“Accountant”), whose reports on the consolidated financial statements of the Company and the
Subsidiaries are filed with the Commission as part of each of the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus, and any other accounting firm that has certified Company financial statements and delivered
its reports with respect thereto, are, and were during the periods covered by their reports, independent
public accountants as required by the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations are registered
with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board.

(u)  Subsequent to the respective dates as of which information is given in each of
the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and except as may be otherwise stated in such documents
or in documents incorporated by reference therein, there has not been (i) any event, circumstance or
change that has, or would reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material
Adverse Effect, (ii) any transaction, other than in the ordinary course of business, which is material to
the Company and the Subsidiaries taken as a whole, contemplated or entered into by the Company or
any of the Subsidiaries, (iii) any obligation, contingent or otherwise, directly or indirectly incurred by the
Company, other than in the ordinary course of business, or any Subsidiary that is material to the
Company and Subsidiaries taken as a whole or (iv) any dividend or distribution of any kind declared,
paid or made by the Company on any class of its capital stock.

(v)  The Placement Shares conform in all material respects to the description thereof
contained in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus; this Agreement conforms in all material
respects to the description thereof contained in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus.

(w)  Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and
except for those registration or similar rights which have been waived with respect to the offering
contemplated by this Agreement, there are no persons with registration or other similar rights to have
any equity or debt securities, including securities which are convertible into or exchangeable for equity
securities, registered pursuant to the Registration Statement or otherwise registered by the Company
under the Securities Act,  all of which registration or similar rights are fairly summarized in all material
respects in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus.

(x)  None of the Company, any Subsidiary or any of their respective directors,
officers, representatives or affiliates (other than deemed affiliates of the Company who are greater than
10% stockholders of the Company, about whom the Company makes no representations or warranties;
the “10% Affiliates”) has taken, and none will take, directly or indirectly, any action which is designed
to, which has constituted, or which might reasonably be expected to cause or
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result in stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the Company to
facilitate the sale or resale of the Placement Shares.

(y)  None of the Company, any of the Subsidiaries or any of their respective
affiliates (excluding the 10% Affiliates) (i) is required to register as a “broker” or “dealer” in accordance
with the provisions of the Exchange Act, or the rules and regulations thereunder, or (ii) directly, or
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or has any other association with any member
firm of FINRA.

(z)  A n y certificate signed by any officer of the Company or any Subsidiary
delivered to the Agent or to counsel for the Agent pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement shall
be deemed a representation and warranty by the Company to the Agent as to the matters covered
thereby.

(aa)  The form of certificate used to evidence the Common Stock complies in all
material respects with all applicable statutory requirements, with any applicable requirements of the
organizational documents of the Company and the requirements of the Exchange.

(bb)  Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries has good and marketable title in fee
simple to all real property, if any, and good and marketable title to all personal property and assets
owned by it, in each case free and clear of all liens, security interests, pledges, charges, encumbrances,
mortgages and defects, except such as are disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or
as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse
Effect; and any real property or personal property held under lease by the Company or any Subsidiary is
held under a lease that is valid, existing and enforceable by the Company or such Subsidiary, with such
exceptions as are disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus or as would not reasonably
be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect; neither the Company
nor any Subsidiary has received any notice of any claim of any sort that has been asserted by anyone
adverse to the rights of the Company or any Subsidiary under any such lease, other than such claims that
would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(cc)  The descriptions in each of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus of the
legal or governmental proceedings, contracts, leases and other legal documents therein described present
fairly in all material respects the information required to be shown, and there are no legal or
governmental proceedings, contracts, leases, or other documents of a character required to be described
in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement
which are not described or filed as required; all agreements between the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries and third parties expressly referenced in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus are
legal, valid and binding obligations of the Company or one or more of the Subsidiaries, enforceable in
accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and by
general equitable principles and except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in
the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.

(dd)  Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the
aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or as otherwise disclosed in the Registration Statement and
Prospectus, the Company and each Subsidiary owns or possesses adequate licenses or other rights
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to use all patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, software and
design licenses, trade secrets, manufacturing processes, other intangible property rights
and know-how (collectively “Intangibles”), as are necessary to entitle the Company and
each Subsidiary to conduct, in all material respects, the Company’s and each
Subsidiary’s business as described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and
neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has received any written notice of any
infringement of or conflict with (and, upon due inquiry of the employees of the Company
and any Subsidiary, none of the Company or any Subsidiary knows of any such
infringement of or conflict with) asserted rights of others with respect to any Intangibles
which would reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

(ee)  The Company and each Subsidiary owns or has a valid right to access and use
all computer systems, networks, hardware, software, databases, websites and equipment used to process,
store, maintain and operate data, information and functions used in connection with the business of the
Company and each Subsidiary (the “Company IT Systems”) except as would not reasonably be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company IT Systems
are adequate for, and operate and perform in all material respects as required in connection with, the
operation of the business of the Company and each Subsidiary as currently conducted, except as would
not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(ff)  Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, (x) the Company has established and
maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Exchange Act), which (i) are designed to ensure that material information relating to the Company,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the Company’s principal executive officer and
its principal financial officer by others within those entities, particularly during the periods in which the
periodic reports required under the Exchange Act are being prepared, (ii) have been evaluated for
effectiveness by the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer as of the end
of the last fiscal period covered by the Registration Statement, and (iii) are effective in all material
respects to perform the functions for which they were established, and (y) the Company is not aware of
(a) any significant deficiency or material weakness in the design or operation of its internal controls over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information to management and the board of directors, or
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Since the most recent
evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures described above, there have been no
significant changes in internal control over financial reporting or in other factors that could significantly
affect internal control over financial reporting.

(gg)  Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company maintains systems of
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
GAAP, including, but not limited to, internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable
assurance that (i) transactions are executed in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorizations, (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP and to maintain asset accountability, (iii) access to
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assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorization, and (iv) the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the
existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any
differences. Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, (i) there are no material weaknesses in
the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting and (ii) there has been no
material change in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting since the
respective dates of the information given in the Prospectus; the Accountant and the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company have been advised of all significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over
financial reporting which have adversely affected or are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information.

(hh)  Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries carries, or is covered by, insurance
(issued by insurers of recognized financial responsibility to the best knowledge of the Company) in such
amounts and covering such risks as is appropriate for the conduct of its businesses and are consistent
with insurance coverage maintained by companies engaged in the same or similar business, all of which
insurance is in full force and effect.

(ii)  Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has violated, or received written
notice of any violation with respect to, any Law applicable to it and its respective business, including
those relating to transactions with affiliates, environmental, safety or similar Laws relating to
discrimination in the hiring, promotion or pay of employees, federal or state wages and hours law, the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”) or the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, except for those violations that would not reasonably be expected, individually
or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(jj)  Each employee benefit plan, within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA, that
is maintained, administered or contributed to by the Company or any of its affiliates (excluding the 10%
Affiliates) for employees or former employees of the Company or any of its affiliates has been
maintained in compliance in all material respects with its terms and the requirements of any applicable
statutes, orders, rules and regulations, including, but not limited to, ERISA and the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”); no prohibited transaction, within the meaning of Section 406
of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, has occurred with respect to any such plan excluding
transactions effected pursuant to a statutory or administrative exemption, and transactions which,
individually or in the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect, and no such plan is subject
to the funding rules of Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA.

(kk)  Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries nor to the knowledge of the
Company any officer, director, agent or employee purporting to act on behalf of the Company or any of
the Subsidiaries has at any time, directly or indirectly, (i) made any contributions to any candidate for
political office, or failed to disclose fully any such contributions, in violation of applicable Law,
(ii) made any payment to any state, federal or foreign governmental officer or official, or other person
charged with similar public or quasi-public duties, other than payments required or allowed by
applicable Law (including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”),
(iii) engaged in any transactions, maintained any bank account or used any corporate funds except for
transactions, bank accounts and funds which have been and are
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reflected in the normally maintained books and records of the Company and the
Subsidiaries, (iv) violated any provision of the FCPA, or (v) made any other unlawful
payment.

(ll)  Except as otherwise disclosed in the Prospectus, there are no outstanding loans
or advances (except normal advances for business expenses in the ordinary course of business in
accordance with the Company’s policies) or guarantees of indebtedness by the Company or any
Subsidiary to or for the benefit of any of the officers, directors, affiliates or representatives of the
Company or any Subsidiary or any of the members of the families of any of them.

(mm)  All securities issued by the Company, any of the Subsidiaries or any trusts
established by the Company or any Subsidiary, have been or will be issued and sold in compliance with
(i) all applicable federal and state securities laws, (ii) the laws of the applicable jurisdiction of
incorporation of the issuing entity and, (iii) to the extent applicable to the issuing entity, the requirements
of the Exchange.

(nn)  Except where such failure to file or pay an assessment or lien would not
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect or where
such matters are the result of a pending bona fide dispute with taxing authorities, (i) the Company and
each of the Subsidiaries have accurately prepared and timely filed any and all federal, state, foreign and
other tax returns that are required to be filed by them, if any, and have paid or made provision for the
payment of all taxes, assessments, governmental or other similar charges, including without limitation,
all sales and use taxes and all taxes which the Company or the Subsidiaries are obligated to withhold
from amounts owing to employees, creditors and third parties, with respect to the periods covered by
such tax returns (whether or not such amounts are shown as due on any tax return), (ii) no deficiency
assessment with respect to a proposed adjustment of the Company’s or Subsidiary’s federal, state, local
or foreign taxes is pending or, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, threatened , (iii) since the date of
the most recent audited financial statements, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has incurred any
liability for taxes other than in the ordinary course of its business, and (iv) there is no tax lien, whether
imposed by any federal, state, foreign or other taxing authority, outstanding against the assets, properties
or business of the Company or any Subsidiary.

(oo)  Except as described in the Prospectus or as would not reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect, (i) neither the Company nor any
Subsidiary is in violation of any Law or any judicial or administrative interpretation thereof, including
any judicial or administrative order, consent, decree or judgment, relating to pollution or protection of
human health, the environment (including, without limitation, ambient air, surface water, groundwater,
land surface or subsurface strata) or wildlife, including, without limitation, laws and regulations relating
to the release or threatened release of chemicals, pollutants, contaminants, wastes, toxic substances,
hazardous substances, petroleum or petroleum products, asbestos-containing materials or mold
(collectively, “Hazardous Materials”) or to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment,
storage, disposal, transport or handling of Hazardous Materials (collectively, “Environmental Laws”),
(ii) the Company and each Subsidiary have all permits, authorizations and approvals required under any
applicable Environmental Laws and are each in compliance with their requirements, (iii) there are no
pending or, to the knowledge of the Company or any Subsidiary, threatened administrative, regulatory
or judicial actions, suits, demands, demand letters, claims, liens, notices of noncompliance or
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violation, investigation or proceedings relating to any Environmental Law against the
Company or any Subsidiary, and (iv) to the knowledge of the Company or any
Subsidiary, there are no events or circumstances that would reasonably be expected to
form the basis of an order for clean-up or remediation, or a Proceeding by any private
party or Governmental Authority, against or affecting the Company or any Subsidiary
relating to Hazardous Materials or any Environmental Laws;

(pp)  In connection with this offering and subject to compliance by the Agent with
the terms of this Agreement, the Company has not offered and will not offer its Common Stock or any
other securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Common Stock in a manner in
violation of the Securities Act; and the Company has not distributed and will not distribute any offering
material in connection with the offer and sale of the Placement Shares except for the Prospectus, any
Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or the Registration Statement.

(qq)  Except for the payments to the Agent provided for hereunder, or to the
Alternative Agent pursuant to the Alternative Sales Agreement, the Company has not incurred any
liability for any finder’s fees or similar payments in connection with the transactions herein
contemplated.

(rr)  N o relationship, direct or indirect, exists between or among the Company or
any of the Subsidiaries on the one hand, and the directors, officers, stockholders, customers or suppliers
of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries on the other hand, which is required by the Securities Act
and the Securities Act Regulations to be described in the Registration Statement o r the Prospectus,
which is not so described;

(ss)  Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is and, after giving effect to
the offering and sale of the Placement Shares and the application of the proceeds thereof as described in
the Prospectus, will be an “investment company” or an entity “controlled” by an “investment company”
(as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Investment Company Act”));

(tt)  There are no existing or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened labor
disputes with employees of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries which could reasonably be expected
to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.

(uu)  No forward-looking statement (within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act) contained in the Prospectus has been made or
reaffirmed without a reasonable basis or has been disclosed other than in good faith, as of the date of
such forward-looking statement.

(vv)  The Company, the Subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Company, any of
the officers and directors of the Company and the Subsidiaries, in their capacities as such, are, and at the
Applicable Time will be, in compliance in all material respects with the provisions of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder
that are effective and applicable to the Company as of the Applicable Time;
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(ww)  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the Company’s
knowledge, any employee or agent of the Company or any Subsidiary, has made any payment of funds
of the Company or any Subsidiary or received or retained any funds in violation of any applicable Law,
including without limitation the “know your customer” and anti-money laundering laws of any
jurisdiction (collectively, the “Money Laundering Laws”) or of a character required to be disclosed in
the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any
Governmental Authority involving the Company or any Subsidiary with respect to the Money
Laundering Laws is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened.

(xx)  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the
Company, any director, officer, employee, agent, or affiliate of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is
currently subject to any U.S. sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S.
Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”); and the Company will not directly or indirectly use the
proceeds of the offering of the Placement Shares hereunder, or lend, contribute or otherwise make
available such proceeds to any subsidiary, joint venture partner or other person or for the purpose of
financing the activities of any person currently subject to any U.S. sanctions administered by OFAC.

(yy)  At the time the Registration Statement was or will be originally declared
effective, and at the time the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K was filed with the
Commission, the Company met or will meet the then applicable requirements for the use of Form S-3
under the Securities Act, including, but not limited to, General Instruction I.B.1 of Form S-3.  The
Company is not a shell company (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) and has not been a
shell company for at least 12 calendar months previously and if it has been a shell company at any time
previously, has filed current Form 10 information (as defined in Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3) with the
Commission at least 12 calendar months previously reflecting its status as an entity that is not a shell
company.

(zz)  Except for the Alternative Sales Agreement, the Company is not a party to any
agreement with an agent or underwriter for any other “at the market” or continuous equity transaction.

(aaa)  The Company acknowledges and agrees that Agent has informed the Company
that the Agent may, to the extent permitted under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, purchase and
sell Common Stock for its own account while this Agreement is in effect, provided, that (i) no such
purchase or sales shall take place while a Placement Notice is in effect (except to the extent the Agent
may engage in sales of Placement Shares purchased or deemed purchased from the Company as a
“riskless principal” or in a similar capacity) and (ii) the Company shall not be deemed to have authorized
or consented to any such purchases or sales by the Agent.

(bbb)  Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has defaulted on any
installment on indebtedness for borrowed money or on any rental on one or more long-term leases,
which defaults, individually or in the aggregate, would have a Material Adverse Effect.  The Company
has not filed a report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act since the filing of its last
Annual Report on Form 10‑K, indicating that it (i) has failed to pay any dividend or sinking fund
installment on preferred stock or (ii) has defaulted on any installment on
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indebtedness for borrowed money or on any rental on one or more long-term leases,
which defaults, individually or in the aggregate, would have a Material Adverse Effect.

(ccc)  The Company has not relied upon the Agent or legal counsel for the Agent for
any legal, tax or accounting advice in connection with the offering and sale of the Placement Shares.

(ddd)  There are no transactions, arrangements and other relationships between and/or
among the Company, and/or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of its affiliates and any
unconsolidated entity, including, but not limited to, any structural finance, special purpose or limited
purpose entity (each, an “Off-Balance Sheet Transaction”) that could reasonably be expected to affect
materially the Company’s liquidity or the availability of or requirements for its capital resources,
including those Off-Balance Sheet Transactions described in the Commission’s Statement about
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations (Release
Nos.  33‑8056; 34‑45321; FR‑61), required to be described in the Prospectus which have not been
described as required.

(eee)  Neither the issuance, sale and delivery of the Placement Shares nor the
application of the proceeds thereof by the Company as described in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus will violate Regulation T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
or any other regulation of such Board of Governors.

(fff)  The Company was not and is not an ineligible issuer as defined in Rule 405
under the Securities Act at the times specified in Rules 164 and 433 under the Securities Act in
connection with the offering of the Placement Shares.

(ggg)  On each Settlement Date, all stock transfer or other taxes (other than income
taxes) which are required to be paid by the Company in connection with the sale and transfer of the
Placement Shares to be sold hereunder will be, or will have been, fully paid or provided for by the
Company and all Laws imposing such taxes will be or will have been fully complied with in all material
respects.

(hhh)  The statistical, demographic and market-related data included in the
Registration Statement and Prospectus are based on or derived from sources that the Company believes
to be reliable and accurate or represent the Company’s good faith estimates that are made on the basis of
data derived from such sources.

7.  Covenants of the Company.  The Company covenants and agrees with Agent that:

(a)  Registration Statement Amendments.  After the date of this Agreement and
during any period in which a Prospectus relating to any Placement Shares is required to be delivered by
Agent under the Securities Act (including in circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied
pursuant to Rule 172 under the Securities Act or similar rule), (i) the Company will notify the Agent
promptly of the time when any subsequent amendment to the Registration Statement, other than
documents incorporated by reference, has been filed with the Commission and/or has become effective
or any subsequent supplement to the Prospectus, other than documents incorporated by reference,  has
been filed and of any request by the Commission for any amendment or supplement, other than
documents incorporated by reference, to the Registration
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Statement or Prospectus or for additional information, (ii) the Company will prepare and
file with the Commission, promptly upon the Agent’s request, any amendments or
supplements to the Registration Statement or Prospectus that, in such Agent’s reasonable
opinion, may be necessary or advisable in connection with the distribution of the
Placement Shares by the Agent (provided,  however, that the failure of the Agent to
make such request shall not relieve the Company of any obligation or liability hereunder,
or affect the Agent’s right to rely on the representations and warranties made by the
Company in this Agreement and provided,  further, that the only remedy the Agent shall
have with respect to the failure to make such filing shall be to cease making sales under
this Agreement until such amendment or supplement is filed); (iii) the Company will not
file any amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement or Prospectus relating to
the Placement Shares or a security convertible into the Placement Shares unless a copy
thereof has been submitted to Agent within a reasonable period of time before the filing
and the Agent has not objected reasonably thereto in writing within two (2) Business
Days (provided,  however, that the failure of the Agent to make such objection shall not
relieve the Company of any obligation or liability hereunder, or affect the Agent’s right
to rely on the representations and warranties made by the Company in this Agreement
and provided,  further, that the only remedy Agent shall have with respect to the failure
by the Company to obtain such consent shall be to cease making sales under this
Agreement) and the Company will furnish to the Agent at the time of filing thereof a
copy of any document that upon filing is deemed to be incorporated by reference into the
Registration Statement or Prospectus, except for those documents available via EDGAR
(provided that for the avoidance of doubt, this clause (iii) shall not apply to documents
the Company furnishes with the Commission under the Exchange Act); and (iv) the
Company will cause each amendment or supplement to the Prospectus to be filed with
the Commission as required pursuant to the applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) of the
Securities Act or, in the case of any document to be incorporated therein by reference, to
be filed with the Commission as required pursuant to the Exchange Act, within the time
period prescribed (the determination to file or not file any amendment or supplement with
the Commission under this Section 7(a), based on the Company’s reasonable opinion or
reasonable objections, shall be made exclusively by the Company).

(b)  Notice of Commission Stop Orders.  The Company will advise the Agent,
promptly after it receives notice or obtains knowledge thereof, of the issuance or threatened issuance by
the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, of the
suspension of the qualification of the Placement Shares for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the
initiation or threatening of any proceeding for any such purpose; and it will promptly use its
commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any stop order or to obtain its withdrawal if
such a stop order should be issued.  The Company will advise the Agent promptly after it receives any
request by the Commission for any amendments to the Registration Statement or any amendment or
supplements to the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or for additional information related
to the offering of the Placement Shares or for additional information related to the Registration
Statement, the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus.

(c)  Delivery of Prospectus; Subsequent Changes.  During any period in which a
Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares is required to be delivered by the Agent under the Securities
Act with respect to the offer and sale of the Placement Shares (including in circumstances where such
requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172 under the Securities Act or similar rule), the
Company will comply with all requirements imposed upon it by the
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Securities Act, as from time to time in force, and to file on or before their respective due
dates all reports and any definitive proxy or information statements required to be filed by
the Company with the Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14, 15(d) or any
other provision of or under the Exchange Act.  If the Company has omitted any
information from the Registration Statement pursuant to Rule 430B under the Securities
Act, it will use its best efforts to comply with the provisions of and make all requisite
filings with the Commission pursuant to said Rule 430B and to notify the Agent
promptly of all such filings if not available on EDGAR.  If during such period any event
occurs as a result of which the Prospectus as then amended or supplemented would
include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances then existing, not
misleading, or if during such period it is necessary to amend or supplement the
Registration Statement or Prospectus to comply with the Securities Act, the Company
will promptly notify Agent to suspend the offering of Placement Shares during such
period and the Company will promptly amend or supplement the Registration Statement
or Prospectus (at the expense of the Company) so as to correct such statement or
omission or effect such compliance.

(d)  Listing of Placement Shares.  Prior to the date of the first Placement Notice, the
Company will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Placement Shares to be listed on the Exchange.

(e)  Delivery of Registration Statement and Prospectus.  The Company will furnish
to the Agent and its counsel (at the expense of the Company) copies of the Registration Statement, the
Prospectus (including all documents incorporated by reference therein) and all amendments and
supplements to the Registration Statement or Prospectus that are filed with the Commission during any
period in which a Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares is required to be delivered under the
Securities Act (including all documents filed with the Commission during such period that are deemed to
be incorporated by reference therein), in each case as soon as reasonably practicable and in such
quantities as the Agent may from time to time reasonably request and, at the Agent’s request, will also
furnish copies of the Prospectus to each exchange or market on which sales of the Placement Shares
may be made; provided,  however, that the Company shall not be required to furnish any document
(other than the Prospectus) to the Agent to the extent such document is available on EDGAR.

(f)  Earnings Statement.  The Company will make generally available to its security
holders as soon as practicable, but in any event not later than 15 months after the end of the Company’s
current fiscal quarter, an earnings statement covering a 12-month period that satisfies the provisions of
Section 11(a) and Rule 158 of the Securities Act.

(g)  Use of Proceeds.  The Company will use the Net Proceeds as described in the
Prospectus in the section entitled “Use of Proceeds.”

(h)  Notice of Other Sales.  Without the prior written consent of Agent, the
Company will not, directly or indirectly, offer to sell, sell, contract to sell, grant any option to sell or
otherwise dispose of any Common Stock (other than the Placement Shares offered pursuant to this
Agreement or the Alternative Sales Agreement) or securities convertible into or exchangeable for
Common Stock, warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire, Common Stock during the period
beginning on the fifth (5th) Trading Day immediately prior to the date on which any Placement Notice is
delivered to Agent hereunder and ending on the fifth (5th) Trading Day immediately
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following the final Settlement Date with respect to Placement Shares sold pursuant to
such Placement Notice (or, if the Placement Notice has been terminated or suspended
prior to the sale of all Placement Shares covered by a Placement Notice, the date of such
suspension or termination); and will not directly or indirectly in any other “at the market”
or continuous equity transaction offer to sell, sell, contract to sell, grant any option to sell
or otherwise dispose of any Common Stock (other than the Placement Shares offered
pursuant to this Agreement or the Alternative Sales Agreement) or securities convertible
into or exchangeable for Common Stock, warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire,
Common Stock prior to the later of the termination of this Agreement and the sixtieth
(60th) day immediately following the final Settlement Date with respect to Placement
Shares sold pursuant to such Placement Notice; provided,  however, that such restrictions
will not be required in connection with the Company’s issuance or sale of (i) Common
Stock, options to purchase Common Stock or Common Stock issuable upon the exercise
of options, pursuant to any employee or director stock option or benefits plan, stock
ownership plan or dividend reinvestment plan (but not Common Stock subject to a
waiver to exceed plan limits in its dividend reinvestment plan) of the Company whether
now in effect or hereafter implemented, (ii) Common Stock issuable upon conversion of
securities or the exercise of warrants, options or other rights in effect or outstanding, and
disclosed in filings by the Company available on EDGAR or otherwise in writing to the
Agent and (iii) Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares
of Common Stock as consideration for mergers, acquisitions, other business
combinations, acquisitions of Federal Communications Commission spectrum licenses or
in connection with strategic alliances or acquisitions occurring after the date of this
Agreement which are not issued principally for capital raising purposes.

(i)  Change of Circumstances.  The Company will, at any time during the pendency
of a Placement Notice advise the Agent promptly after it shall have received notice or obtained
knowledge thereof, of any information or fact that would alter or affect in any material respect any
opinion, certificate, letter or other document required to be provided to the Agent pursuant to this
Agreement.

(j)  Due Diligence Cooperation.  The Company will cooperate with any reasonable
due diligence review conducted by the Agent or its representatives in connection with the transactions
contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, providing information and making available
documents and senior corporate officers, during regular business hours and at the Company’s principal
offices, as the Agent may reasonably request.

(k)  Required Filings Relating to Placement of Placement Shares.  The Company
agrees that on such dates as the Securities Act shall require, the Company will (i) file a prospectus
supplement with the Commission under the applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) under the Securities
Act (each and every filing date under Rule 424(b), a “Filing Date”), which prospectus supplement will
set forth, within the relevant period, the amount of Placement Shares sold through the Agent, the Net
Proceeds to the Company and the compensation payable by the Company to the Agent with respect to
such Placement Shares, and (ii) deliver such number of copies of each such prospectus supplement to
each exchange or market on which such sales were effected as may be required by the rules or
regulations of such exchange or market.

(l)  Representation Dates; Certificate.  (1) Prior to the date of the first Placement
Notice and (2) following delivery of the first Placement Notice each time the Company:
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(i) files the Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares or amends or supplements (other than a
prospectus supplement relating solely to an offering of securities other than the Placement
Shares) the Registration Statement or the Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares by means
of a post-effective amendment, sticker, or supplement but not by means of incorporation of
documents by reference into the Registration Statement or the Prospectus relating to the
Placement Shares;

(ii) files an annual report on Form 10-K under the Exchange Act (including any Form 10-K/A
containing amended financial information or a material amendment to the previously filed Form
10-K);

(iii) files its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q under the Exchange Act; or

(iv) files a current report on Form 8-K containing amended financial information (other than
information “furnished” pursuant to Items 2.02 or 7.01 of Form 8-K or to provide disclosure
pursuant to Item 8.01 of Form 8-K relating to the reclassification of certain properties as
discontinued operations in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
144) under the Exchange Act (each date of filing of one or more of the documents referred to in
clauses (i) through (iv) shall be a “Representation Date”);

the Company shall furnish the Agent (but in the case of clause (iv) above only if the Agent reasonably
determines that the information contained in such Form 8‑K is material) with a certificate dated the
Representation Date, in the form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel, substantially
similar to the form previously provided to the Agent and its counsel, modified, as necessary, to relate to
the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended or supplemented.  The requirement to provide
a certificate under this Section 7(l) shall be waived (1) for any Representation Date occurring at a time a
Suspension is in effect, which waiver shall continue until the earlier to occur of the date the Company
delivers instructions for the sale of Placement Shares hereunder (which for such calendar quarter shall be
considered a Representation Date) and the next occurring Representation Date and (2) at a time at which
no Placement Notice is pending, which waiver shall continue until the date the Company delivers a
Placement Notice hereunder or to the Alternative Agent under the Alternative Sales Agreement  (which
for such calendar quarter shall be considered a Representation Date).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if
the Company subsequently decides to sell Placement Shares following a Representation Date when a
Suspension was in effect and did not provide the Agent with a certificate under this Section 7(l), then
before the Company delivers the instructions for the sale of Placement Shares or the Agent sells any
Placement Shares pursuant to such instructions, the Company shall provide the Agent with a certificate
in conformity with this Section 7(l) dated as of the date that the instructions for the sale of Placement
Shares are issued. 

(m)  Legal Opinion.  (1) Prior to the date of the first Placement Notice  and (2)
within five (5) Trading Days of each Representation Date with respect to which the Company is
obligated to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 7(l) for which no waiver is applicable and excluding
the date of this Agreement, the Company shall cause to be furnished to the Agent a written opinion of
Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP (“Company Counsel”), or other
counsel satisfactory to the Agent, in form and substance satisfactory to Agent and its counsel,
substantially similar to the form previously provided to the Agent and its counsel, modified, as
necessary, to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as then amended
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or supplemented; provided,  however, the Company shall be required to furnish to Agent
no more than one opinion hereunder per calendar quarter; provided,  further, that in lieu
of such opinions for subsequent periodic filings under the Exchange Act, counsel may
furnish the Agent with a letter (a “Reliance Letter”) to the effect that the Agent may rely
on a prior opinion delivered under this Section 7(m) to the same extent as if it were dated
the date of such letter (except that statements in such prior opinion shall be deemed to
relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended or supplemented as of
the date of the Reliance Letter).

(n)  Comfort Letter.  (1) Prior to the date of the first Placement Notice and (2) within
five (5) Trading Days of each Representation Date with respect to which the Company is obligated to
deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 7(l) for which no waiver is applicable and excluding the date of
this Agreement, the Company shall cause its independent registered public accounting firm to furnish the
Agent letters (the “Comfort Letters”), dated the date the Comfort Letter is delivered, which shall meet
the requirements set forth in this Section 7(n);  provided, that if requested by the Agent, the Company
shall cause a Comfort Letter to be furnished to the Agent within ten (10) Trading Days of the date of
occurrence of any material transaction or event requiring the filing of a Current Report on Form 8-K
containing material financial information, including the restatement of the Company’s financial
statements.  The Comfort Letter from the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm
shall be in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, (i) confirming that they are an independent
registered public accounting firm within the meaning of the Securities Act and the PCAOB, (ii) stating,
as of such date, the conclusions and findings of such firm with respect to the financial information and
other matters ordinarily covered by accountants’ “comfort letters” to underwriters in connection with
registered public offerings (the first such letter, the “Initial Comfort Letter”) and (iii) updating the
Initial Comfort Letter with any information that would have been included in the Initial Comfort Letter
had it been given on such date and modified as necessary to relate to the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus, as amended and supplemented to the date of such letter.

(o)  Market Activities.  The Company will not, directly or indirectly, (i) take any
action designed to cause or result in, or that constitutes or might reasonably be expected to constitute, the
stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of
Common Stock or (ii) sell, bid for, or purchase Common Stock in violation of Regulation M, or pay
anyone any compensation for soliciting purchases of the Placement Shares under this Agreement or the
Alternative Sales Agreement other than the Agent and the Alternative Agent; provided that share
withholding transactions upon the exercise of options or settlement of restricted stock awards or
restricted stock unit awards shall not be considered the purchase of Common Stock.

(p)  Investment Company Act.  The Company will conduct its affairs in such a
manner so as to reasonably ensure that neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries will be or become, at any
time prior to the termination of this Agreement, required to register as an “investment company,” as such
term is defined in the Investment Company Act.

(q)  No Offer to Sell.  Other than an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus approved in
advance by the Company and the Agent in its capacity as agent hereunder, neither the Agent nor the
Company (including its agents and representatives, other than the Agent in its capacity as such) will
make, use, prepare, authorize, approve or refer to any written communication (as defined
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in Rule 405 under the Securities Act), required to be filed with the Commission, that
constitutes an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy Placement Shares hereunder.

(r)  Blue Sky and Other Qualifications.   The Company will use its commercially
reasonable efforts, in cooperation with the Agent, to qualify the Placement Shares for offering and sale,
or to obtain an exemption for the Placement Shares to be offered and sold, under the applicable
securities laws of such states and other jurisdictions (domestic or foreign) as the Agent may designate
and to maintain such qualifications and exemptions in effect for so long as required for the distribution of
the Placement Shares (but in no event for less than one year from the date of this Agreement); provided,
 however, that the Company shall not be obligated to file any general consent to service of process or to
qualify as a foreign corporation or as a dealer in securities in any jurisdiction in which it is not so
qualified or to subject itself to taxation in respect of doing business in any jurisdiction in which it is not
otherwise so subject.  In each jurisdiction in which the Placement Shares have been so qualified or
exempt, the Company will file such statements and reports as may be required by the laws of such
jurisdiction to continue such qualification or exemption, as the case may be, in effect for so long as
required for the distribution of the Placement Shares (but in no event for less than one year from the date
of this Agreement).

(s)  Sarbanes-Oxley Act.  The Company and the Subsidiaries will maintain and
keep accurate books and records reflecting their assets and maintain internal accounting controls in a
manner designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and including those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company, (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, (iii) that receipts and expenditures of the
Company are being made only in accordance with management’s and the Company’s directors’
authorization, and (iv) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that would reasonably be expected
to have a material effect on its financial statements.  The Company and the Subsidiaries will maintain
such controls and other procedures, including, without limitation, those required by Sections 302 and
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the applicable regulations thereunder that are designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the
Commission’s rules and forms, including, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to ensure that material information relating to
the Company or the Subsidiaries is made known to them by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which such periodic reports are being prepared.

(t)  Secretary’s Certificate; Further Documentation.  Prior to the date of the first
Placement Notice, the Company shall deliver to the Agent a certificate of the Secretary of the Company
and attested to by an executive officer of the Company, dated as of such date, certifying
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as to (i) the certificate of incorporation of the Company, (ii) the bylaws of the Company,
(iii) the resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company, or a duly authorized
committee of the Board of Directors, authorizing the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and the issuance of the Placement Shares and (iv) the
incumbency of the officers duly authorized to execute this Agreement and the other
documents contemplated by this Agreement.  Within five (5) Trading Days of each
Representation Date with respect to which the Company is obligated to deliver a
certificate pursuant to Section 7(l) hereof for which no waiver is applicable, the
Company shall have furnished to the Agent such further information, certificates and
documents as the Agent may reasonably request.

(u)  Emerging Growth Company Status.  The Company will promptly notify the
Agent if the Company ceases to be an Emerging Growth Company at any time during the term of this
Agreement.

8.  Payment of Expenses.  The Company will pay all expenses incident to the performance
of its obligations under this Agreement, including (i) the preparation and filing of the Registration
Statement, including any fees required by the Commission, and the printing or electronic delivery of the
Prospectus as originally filed and of each amendment and supplement thereto, in such number as the
Agent shall deem reasonably necessary, (ii) the printing and delivery to the Agent of this Agreement, the
Alternative Sales Agreement and such other documents as may be reasonably required in connection
with the offering, purchase, sale, issuance or delivery of the Placement Shares, (iii) the preparation,
issuance and delivery of the certificates, if any, for the Placement Shares to the Agent, including any
stock or other transfer taxes and any capital duties, stamp duties or other duties or taxes payable upon the
sale, issuance or delivery of the Placement Shares to the Agent, (iv) the fees and disbursements of the
counsel, accountants and other advisors to the Company, (v) the fees and expenses of Agent including
but not limited to the fees and expenses of the counsel to the Agent, payable upon the execution of this
Agreement, in an amount not to exceed $50,000, (vi) the qualification or exemption of the Placement
Shares under state securities laws in accordance with the provisions of Section 7(r) hereof, including
filing fees, but excluding fees of the Agent’s counsel, (vii) the printing and delivery to the Agent of
copies of any Permitted Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and the Prospectus and any amendments or
supplements thereto in such number as the Agent shall deem necessary, (viii) the preparation, printing
and delivery to the Agent of copies of the blue sky survey, (ix) the fees and expenses of the transfer
agent and registrar for the Common Stock, (x) the filing and other fees incident to any review by
FINRA of the terms of the sale of the Placement Shares including the fees of the Agent’s counsel
(subject to the cap, set forth in clause (v) above), and (xi) the fees and expenses incurred in connection
with the listing of the Placement Shares on the Exchange.

9.  Conditions to Agent’s Obligations .  The obligations of the Agent hereunder with respect
to a Placement will be subject to the continuing accuracy and completeness of the representations and
warranties made by the Company herein, to the due performance by the Company of its obligations
hereunder, to the completion by the Agent of a due diligence review satisfactory to it in its reasonable
judgment, and to the continuing satisfaction (or waiver by the Agent in its sole discretion) of the
following additional conditions:

(a)  Registration Statement Effective.  The Registration Statement shall have
become effective and shall be available for the (i) resale of all Placement Shares issued to the
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Agent and not yet sold by the Agent and (ii) sale of all Placement Shares contemplated to
be issued by any Placement Notice.

(b)  No Material Notices.  None of the following events shall have occurred and be
continuing: (i) receipt by the Company of any request for additional information from the Commission
or any other federal or state Governmental Authority during the period of effectiveness of the
Registration Statement, the response to which would require any post-effective amendments or
supplements to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus; (ii) the issuance by the Commission or any
other federal or state Governmental Authority of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the
Registration Statement or the initiation of any proceedings for that purpose; (iii) receipt by the Company
of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification or exemption from qualification of
any of the Placement Shares for sale in any jurisdiction or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding
for such purpose; or (iv) the occurrence of any event that makes any statement of a material fact made in
the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated
therein by reference untrue or that requires the making of any changes in the Registration Statement, the
Prospectus or documents so that, in the case of the Registration Statement, it will not contain an untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading and, that in the case of the Prospectus, it will not contain an
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading.

(c)  No Misstatement or Material Omission.  Agent shall not have advised the
Company that the Registration Statement or Prospectus, or any amendment or supplement thereto,
contains an untrue statement of fact that in the Agent’s reasonable opinion is material, or omits to state a
fact that in the Agent’s reasonable opinion is material and is required to be stated therein or is necessary
to make the statements therein not misleading.

(d)  Material Changes.  Except as contemplated in the Prospectus, or disclosed in
the Company’s reports filed with the Commission, there shall not have been any material adverse
change in the authorized capital stock of the Company or any Material Adverse Effect or any
development that would reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse Effect, or a downgrading
in or withdrawal of the rating assigned to any of the Company’s securities (other than asset backed
securities) by any rating organization or a public announcement by any rating organization that it has
under surveillance or review its rating of any of the Company’s securities (other than asset backed
securities), the effect of which, in the case of any such action by a rating organization described above,
in the reasonable judgment of the Agent (without relieving the Company of any obligation or liability it
may otherwise have), is so material as to make it impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with the
offering of the Placement Shares on the terms and in the manner contemplated in the Prospectus.

(e)  Legal Opinion.  The Agent shall have received the opinions of Company
Counsel required to be delivered pursuant to Section 7(m) on or before the date on which such delivery
of such opinion is required pursuant to Section 7(m).
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(f)  Comfort Letter.  The Agent shall have received the Comfort Letter required to
be delivered pursuant to Section 7(n) on or before the date on which such delivery of such Comfort
Letter is required pursuant to Section 7(n).

(g)  Representation Certificate.  The Agent shall have received the certificate
required to be delivered pursuant to Section 7(l) on or before the date on which delivery of such
certificate is required pursuant to Section 7(l).

(h)  No Suspension.  Trading in the Common Stock shall not have been suspended
on the Exchange and the Common Stock shall not have been delisted from the Exchange.

(i)  Other Materials.  On each date on which the Company is required to deliver a
certificate pursuant to Section 7(l), the Company shall have furnished to the Agent such appropriate
further information, opinions, certificates, letters and other documents as the Agent may reasonably
request.  All such opinions, certificates, letters and other documents will be in compliance with the
provisions hereof.

(j)  Securities Act Filings Made.  All filings with the Commission required by Rule
424 with respect to the Placement Shares under the Securities Act to have been filed prior to the
issuance of any Placement Notice hereunder shall have been made within the applicable time period
prescribed for such filing by Rule 424.

(k)  Approval for Listing.  The Placement Shares shall either have been (i) approved
for listing on the Exchange, subject only to notice of issuance, or (ii) the Company shall have filed an
application for listing of the Placement Shares on the Exchange at, or prior to, the issuance of any
Placement Notice and the Exchange shall have reviewed such application and not provided any
objections thereto.

(l)  FINRA.  If applicable, FINRA shall have raised no objection to the terms of
this offering and the amount of compensation allowable or payable to the Agent as described in the
Prospectus.

(m)  No Termination Event.  There shall not have occurred any event that would
permit the Agent to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 12(a).

10.  Indemnification and Contribution.

(a)  Company Indemnification.  The Company agrees to indemnify and hold
harmless the Agent, its affiliates and their respective partners, members, directors, officers, employees
and agents and each person, if any, who controls the Agent or any affiliate within the meaning of
Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act as follows:

(i)  against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever,
as incurred, joint or several, arising out of or based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue
statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement (or any amendment thereto), or the
omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading, or arising out of any
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untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact included in any related Issuer Free Writing
Prospectus or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto), or the omission or alleged
omission therefrom of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;

(ii)  against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense
whatsoever, as incurred, joint or several, to the extent of the aggregate amount paid in settlement of any
litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any Governmental Authority, commenced or threatened,
or of any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged
untrue statement or omission; provided that (subject to Section 10(d) below) any such settlement is
effected with the written consent of the Company, which consent shall not unreasonably be delayed or
withheld; and

(iii)  against any and all expense whatsoever, as incurred (including the fees
and disbursements of counsel), reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any
litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any Governmental Authority, commenced or threatened,
or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged untrue
statement or omission (whether or not a party), to the extent that any such expense is not paid under
(i) or (ii) above,

provided,  however, that this indemnity agreement shall not apply to any loss, liability, claim, damage or
expense to the extent arising out of any untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or
omission made solely in reliance upon and in conformity with the Agent Information (as defined below).

(b)  Agent Indemnification.  Agent agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the
Company and its directors and each officer of the Company who signed the Registration Statement, and
each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act
or Section 20 of the Exchange Act against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense
described in the indemnity contained in Section 10(a), as incurred, but only with respect to untrue
statements or omissions, or alleged untrue statements or omissions, made in the Registration Statement
(or any amendments thereto), the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or any Issuer
Free Writing Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) in reliance upon and in conformity
with information relating to the Agent and furnished to the Company in writing by the Agent expressly
for use therein.  The Company hereby acknowledges that the only information that the Agent has
furnished to the Company expressly for use in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any Issuer
Free Writing Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) are the statements set forth in the
seventh and eighth paragraphs under the caption “Plan of Distribution” in the Prospectus (the “Agent
Information”).

(c)  Procedure.  Any party that proposes to assert the right to be indemnified under
this Section 10 will, promptly after receipt of notice of commencement of any action against such party
in respect of which a claim is to be made against an indemnifying party or parties under this Section 10,
notify each such indemnifying party of the commencement of such action, enclosing a copy of all papers
served, but the omission so to notify such indemnifying party will not relieve the indemnifying party
from (i) any liability that it might have to any indemnified party otherwise than under this Section 10 and
(ii) any liability that it may have to any indemnified party under the foregoing provision of this Section
10 unless, and only to the extent that, such omission
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results in the forfeiture of substantive rights or defenses by the indemnifying party.  If any such action is
brought against any indemnified party and it notifies the indemnifying party of its commencement, the
indemnifying party will be entitled to participate in and, to the extent that it elects by delivering written
notice to the indemnified party promptly after receiving notice of the commencement of the action from
the indemnified party, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly notified, to assume the defense
of the action, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party, and after notice from the
indemnifying party to the indemnified party of its election to assume the defense, the indemnifying party
will not be liable to the indemnified party for any other legal expenses except as provided below and
except for the reasonable costs of investigation subsequently incurred by the indemnified party in
connection with the defense.  The indemnified party will have the right to employ its own counsel in any
such action, but the fees, expenses and other charges of such counsel will be at the expense of such
indemnified party unless (1) the employment of counsel by the indemnified party has been authorized in
writing by the indemnifying party, (2) the indemnified party has reasonably concluded (based on advice
of counsel) that there may be legal defenses available to it or other indemnified parties that are different
from or in addition to those available to the indemnifying party, (3) a conflict or potential conflict exists
(based on advice of counsel to the indemnified party) between the indemnified party and the
indemnifying party (in which case the indemnifying party will not have the right to direct the defense of
such action on behalf of the indemnified party) or (4) the indemnifying party has not in fact employed
counsel to assume the defense of such action or counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party,
in each case, within a reasonable time after receiving notice of the commencement of the action; in each
of which cases the reasonable fees, disbursements and other charges of counsel will be at the expense of
the indemnifying party or parties.  It is understood that the indemnifying party or parties shall not, in
connection with any proceeding or related proceedings in the same jurisdiction, be liable for the
reasonable fees, disbursements and other charges of more than one separate firm (plus local counsel)
admitted to practice in such jurisdiction at any one time for all such indemnified party or parties.  All
such fees, disbursements and other charges will be reimbursed by the indemnifying party promptly after
the indemnifying party receives a written invoice relating to fees and disbursements and other charges in
reasonable detail.  An indemnifying party will not, in any event, be liable for any settlement of any
action or claim effected without its written consent.  No indemnifying party shall, without the prior
written consent of each indemnified party, settle or compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment
in any pending or threatened claim, action or proceeding relating to the matters contemplated by this
Section 10 (whether or not any indemnified party is a party thereto), unless such settlement, compromise
or consent (1) includes an express and unconditional release of each indemnified party, in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to such indemnified party, from all liability arising out of such
litigation, investigation, proceeding or claim and (2) does not include a statement as to or an admission
of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of any indemnified party.

(d)  Settlement Without Consent if Failure to Reimburse.   If an indemnified party
shall have requested an indemnifying party to reimburse the indemnified party for reasonable fees and
expenses of counsel, such indemnifying party agrees that it shall be liable for any settlement of the
nature contemplated by Section 10(a)(ii) effected without its written consent if (1) such settlement is
entered into more than 45 days after receipt by such indemnifying party of the aforesaid request, (2) such
indemnifying party shall have received notice of the terms of such settlement at least 30 days prior to
such settlement being entered into and (3) such indemnifying
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party shall not have reimbursed such indemnified party in accordance with such request prior to the date
of such settlement.

(e)  Contribution.  In order to provide for just and equitable contribution in
circumstances in which the indemnification provided for in the foregoing paragraphs of this Section 10
is applicable in accordance with its terms but for any reason is held to be unavailable or insufficient from
the Company or the Agent, the Company and the Agent will contribute to the total losses, claims,
liabilities, expenses and damages (including any investigative, legal and other expenses reasonably
incurred in connection with, and any amount paid in settlement of, any action, suit or proceeding or any
claim asserted) to which the Company and the Agent may be subject in such proportion as shall be
appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Agent on
the other hand.  The relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Agent on the
other hand shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total net proceeds from the sale of the
Placement Shares (before deducting expenses) received by the Company bear to the total compensation
received by the Agent from the sale of Placement Shares on behalf of the Company.  If, but only if, the
allocation provided by the foregoing sentence is not permitted by applicable law, the allocation of
contribution shall be made in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits
referred to in the foregoing sentence but also the relative fault of the Company, on the one hand, and the
Agent, on the other hand, with respect to the statements or omission that resulted in such loss, claim,
liability, expense or damage, or action in respect thereof, as well as any other relevant equitable
considerations with respect to such offering.  Such relative fault shall be determined by reference to,
among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or
alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Company or the Agent, the
intent of the parties and their relative knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or
prevent such statement or omission.  The Company and the Agent agree that it would not be just and
equitable if contributions pursuant to this Section 10(e) were to be determined by pro rata allocation or
by any other method of allocation that does not take into account the equitable considerations referred to
herein.  The amount paid or payable by an indemnified party as a result of the loss, claim, liability,
expense, or damage, or action in respect thereof, referred to above in this Section 10(e) shall be deemed
to include, for the purpose of this Section 10(e), any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such
indemnified party in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim to the extent
consistent with Section 10(c) hereof.  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 10(e), the
Agent shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the commissions received by it under
this Agreement and no person found guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of
Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) will be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty
of such fraudulent misrepresentation.  For purposes of this Section 10(e), any person who controls a
party to this Agreement within the meaning of the Securities Act, any affiliates of the Agent and any
officers, directors, partners, employees or agents of the Agent or any of its affiliates, will have the same
rights to contribution as that party, and each director of the Company and each officer of the Company
who signed the Registration Statement will have the same rights to contribution as the Company, subject
in each case to the provisions hereof.  Any party entitled to contribution, promptly after receipt of notice
of commencement of any action against such party in respect of which a claim for contribution may be
made under this Section 10(e), will notify any such party or parties from whom contribution may be
sought, but the omission to so notify will not relieve that party or parties from whom contribution may
be sought from any other obligation it or they may have under this Section
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10(e) except to the extent that the failure to so notify such other party materially prejudiced the
substantive rights or defenses of the party from whom contribution is sought.  Except for a settlement
entered into pursuant to the last sentence of Section 10(c) hereof, no party will be liable for contribution
with respect to any action or claim settled without its written consent if such consent is required pursuant
to Section 10(c) hereof.

11.  Representations and Agreements to Survive Delivery.  The indemnity and contribution
agreements contained in Section 10 of this Agreement and all representations and warranties of the
Company herein or in certificates delivered pursuant hereto shall survive, as of their respective dates,
regardless of (i) any investigation made by or on behalf of the Agent, any controlling persons, or the
Company (or any of their respective officers, directors, employees or controlling persons), (ii) delivery
and acceptance of the Placement Shares and payment therefor or (iii) any termination of this Agreement.

12.  Termination.

(a)  The Agent may terminate this Agreement, by notice to the Company, as
hereinafter specified at any time (1) if there has been, since the time of execution of this Agreement or
since the date as of which information is given in the Prospectus, any change, or any development or
event involving a prospective change, in the condition, financial or otherwise, or in the business,
properties, earnings, results of operations or prospects of the Company and its Subsidiaries considered as
one enterprise, whether or not arising in the ordinary course of business, which individually or in the
aggregate, in the sole judgment of the Agent is material and adverse and makes it impractical or
inadvisable to market the Placement Shares or to enforce contracts for the sale of the Placement Shares,
(2) if there has occurred any material adverse change in the financial markets in the United States or the
international financial markets, any outbreak of hostilities or escalation thereof or other calamity or crisis
or any change or development involving a prospective change in national or international political,
financial or economic conditions, in each case the effect of which is such as to make it, in the judgment
of the Agent, impracticable or inadvisable to market the Placement Shares or to enforce contracts for the
sale of the Placement Shares, (3) if trading in the Common Stock has been suspended or limited by the
Commission or the Exchange, or if trading generally on the Exchange has been suspended or limited, or
minimum prices for trading have been fixed on the Exchange, (4) if any suspension of trading of any
securities of the Company on any exchange or in the over-the-counter market shall have occurred and be
continuing, (5) if a major disruption of securities settlements or clearance services in the United States
shall have occurred and be continuing, or (6) if a banking moratorium has been declared by either U.S.
Federal or New York authorities.  Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any
other party except that the provisions of Section 8 (Payment of Expenses), Section 10 (Indemnification
and Contribution), Section 11 (Representations and Agreements to Survive Delivery), Section 17
(Governing Law and Time; Waiver of Jury Trial) and Section 18 (Consent to Jurisdiction) hereof shall
remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.  If the Agent elects to terminate this
Agreement as provided in this Section 12(a), the Agent shall provide the required notice as specified in
Section 13 (Notices).

(b)  The Company shall have the right, by giving ten (10) days notice as hereinafter
specified to terminate this Agreement in its sole discretion at any time after the date of this
Agreement.  Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party
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except that the provisions of Section 8,  Section 10,  Section 11,  Section 17 and Section
18 hereof shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.

(c)  The Agent shall have the right, by giving ten (10) days notice as hereinafter
specified to terminate this Agreement in its sole discretion at any time after the date of this
Agreement.  Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except that
the provisions of Section 8,  Section 10,  Section 11,  Section 17 and Section 18 hereof shall remain in
full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.

(d)  This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless terminated pursuant
to Sections 12(a),  (b), or (c) above or otherwise by mutual agreement of the parties; provided,  however,
that any such termination by mutual agreement shall in all cases be deemed to provide that Section 8,
 Section 10,  Section 11,  Section 17 and Section 18 shall remain in full force and effect.

(e)  Any termination of this Agreement shall be effective on the date specified in
such notice of termination; provided,  however, that such termination shall not be effective until the close
of business on the date of receipt of such notice by the Agent or the Company, as the case may be.  If
such termination shall occur prior to the Settlement Date for any sale of Placement Shares, such
Placement Shares shall settle in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

13.  Notices.  All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given by any
party to any other party pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing, unless otherwise
specified, and if sent to the Agent, shall be delivered to:

B. Riley FBR, Inc.
299 Park Avenue, 7th Floor
New York, NY 10171
Attention:    General Counsel
Facsimile:     (212)  457-3377
Email:     atmdesk@brileyfbr.com

with a copy to:

Cooley LLP
1114 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10036
Attention: Daniel I. Goldberg, Esq.
Facsimile: (212) 479-6275

and if to the Company, shall be delivered to:

pdvWireless, Inc.
3 Garret Mountain Plaza, Suite 401
Woodland Park, NJ 07424
Attention: Tim Gray
Facsimile: (973) 473-0303
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And separately, at the same address, to the attention of Tom Sidman, Esq.

with a copy to:

Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP
3570 Carmel Mountain Road, Suite 200
San Diego, CA 92130
Attention: Jeffrey C. Thacker, Esq.
Facsimile: (858) 436-8055

Each party to this Agreement may change such address for notices by sending to the parties to
this Agreement written notice of a new address for such purpose.  Each such notice or other
communication shall be deemed given (i) when delivered personally or by verifiable facsimile
transmission (with an original to follow) on or before 4:30 p.m., New York City time, on a Business
Day or, if such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day, (ii) on the next
Business Day after timely delivery to a nationally-recognized overnight courier and (iii) on the Business
Day actually received if deposited in the U.S. mail (certified or registered mail, return receipt requested,
postage prepaid).  For purposes of this Agreement, “Business Day” shall mean any day on which the
Exchange and commercial banks in the City of New York are open for business. 

An electronic communication (“Electronic Notice”) shall be deemed written notice for purposes
of this Section 13 if sent to the electronic mail address specified by the receiving party under separate
cover.  Electronic Notice shall be deemed received at the time the party sending Electronic Notice
receives verification of receipt by the receiving party.  Any party receiving Electronic Notice may
request and shall be entitled to receive the notice on paper, in a nonelectronic form (“Nonelectronic
Notice”) which shall be sent to the requesting party within ten (10) days of receipt of the written request
for Nonelectronic Notice.

14.  Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding
upon the Company and the Agent and their respective successors and the parties referred to in Section
10 hereof.  References to any of the parties contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the
successors and permitted assigns of such party.  Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is
intended to confer upon any party other than the parties hereto or their respective successors and
permitted assigns any rights, remedies, obligations or liabilities under or by reason of this Agreement,
except as expressly provided in this Agreement.  Neither party may assign its rights or obligations under
this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party; provided,  however, that the Agent
may assign its rights and obligations hereunder to an affiliate thereof without obtaining the Company’s
consent, provided such affiliate is a registered broker dealer and Agent provides prior notice of such
assignment to the Company.

15.  Adjustments for Stock Splits.  The parties acknowledge and agree that all share-related
numbers contained in this Agreement shall be adjusted to take into account any stock split, stock
dividend or similar event effected with respect to the Placement Shares.

16.  Entire Agreement; Amendment; Severability; Waiver .  This Agreement (including all
schedules and exhibits attached hereto and Placement Notices issued pursuant hereto) constitutes the
entire agreement and supersedes all other prior and contemporaneous agreements
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and undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties hereto with regard to the subject
matter hereof.  Neither this Agreement nor any term hereof may be amended except pursuant to
a written instrument executed by the Company and the Agent.  In the event that any one or more
of the provisions contained herein, or the application thereof in any circumstance, is held invalid,
illegal or unenforceable as written by a court of competent jurisdiction, then such provision shall
be given full force and effect to the fullest possible extent that it is valid, legal and enforceable,
and the remainder of the terms and provisions herein shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal
or unenforceable term or provision was not contained herein, but only to the extent that giving
effect to such provision and the remainder of the terms and provisions hereof shall be in
accordance with the intent of the parties as reflected in this Agreement. No implied waiver by a
party shall arise in the absence of a waiver in writing signed by such party. No failure or delay in
exercising any right, power, or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall
any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise
of any right, power, or privilege hereunder.

17.  GOVERNING LAW AND TIME; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL .  THIS
AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO THE PRINCIPLES
OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS. SPECIFIED TIMES OF DAY REFER TO NEW YORK CITY
TIME.  EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN
ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT
OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

18.  CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
SUBMITS TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL
COURTS SITTING IN THE CITY OF NEW YORK, BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN, FOR
THE ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH
ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, AND HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
WAIVES, AND AGREES NOT TO ASSERT IN ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING,
ANY CLAIM THAT IT IS NOT PERSONALLY SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF
ANY SUCH COURT, THAT SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING IS BROUGHT IN
AN INCONVENIENT FORUM OR THAT THE VENUE OF SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR
PROCEEDING IS IMPROPER.  EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES
PERSONAL SERVICE OF PROCESS AND CONSENTS TO PROCESS BEING SERVED IN
ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY MAILING A COPY THEREOF
(CERTIFIED OR REGISTERED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED) TO SUCH
PARTY AT THE ADDRESS IN EFFECT FOR NOTICES TO IT UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT AND AGREES THAT SUCH SERVICE SHALL CONSTITUTE GOOD AND
SUFFICIENT SERVICE OF PROCESS AND NOTICE THEREOF.  NOTHING
CONTAINED HEREIN SHALL BE DEEMED TO LIMIT IN ANY WAY ANY RIGHT TO
SERVE PROCESS IN ANY MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW.

19.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument.  Delivery of an executed Agreement by one party to the other may be made by facsimile or
electronic transmission.
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20.  Construction.  The section and exhibit headings herein are for convenience only and
shall not affect the construction hereof. References herein to any law, statute, ordinance, code,
regulation, rule or other requirement of any Governmental Authority shall be deemed to refer to such
law, statute, ordinance, code, regulation, rule or other requirement of any Governmental Authority as
amended, reenacted, supplemented or superseded in whole or in part and in effect from time to time and
also to all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 

21.  Permitted Free Writing Prospectuses.  The Company represents, warrants and agrees
that, unless it obtains the prior written consent of the Agent (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed), and the Agent represents, warrants and agrees that, unless it obtains
the prior written consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed), it has not made and will not make any offer relating to the Placement Shares
that would constitute an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, or that would otherwise constitute a “free
writing prospectus,” as defined in Rule 405, required to be filed with the Commission.  Any such free
writing prospectus consented to by the Agent or by the Company, as the case may be, is hereinafter
referred to as a “Permitted Free Writing Prospectus.”  The Company represents and warrants that it has
treated and agrees that it will treat each Permitted Free Writing Prospectus as an “issuer free writing
prospectus,” as defined in Rule 433, and has complied and will comply with the requirements of
Rule 433 applicable to any Permitted Free Writing Prospectus, including timely filing with the
Commission where required, legending and record keeping.  For the purposes of clarity, the parties
hereto agree that all free writing prospectuses, if any, listed in Exhibit 21 hereto are Permitted Free
Writing Prospectuses.

22.  Absence of Fiduciary Relationship.  The Company acknowledges and agrees that:

(a)  the Agent is acting solely as agent in connection with the public offering of the
Placement Shares and in connection with each transaction contemplated by this Agreement and the
process leading to such transactions, and no fiduciary or advisory relationship between the Company or
any of its respective affiliates, stockholders (or other equity holders), creditors or employees or any other
party, on the one hand, and the Agent, on the other hand, has been or will be created in respect of any of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, irrespective of whether or not the Agent has advised or
is advising the Company on other matters, and the Agent has no obligation to the Company with respect
to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement except the obligations expressly set forth in this
Agreement;

(b)  it is capable of evaluating and understanding, and understands and accepts, the
terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(c)  neither the Agent nor its affiliates have provided any legal, accounting,
regulatory or tax advice with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and it has
consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate;

(d)  it is aware that the Agent and its affiliates are engaged in a broad range of
transactions which may involve interests that differ from those of the Company and the Agent and its
affiliates have no obligation to disclose such interests and transactions to the Company by virtue of any
fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship or otherwise; and
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(e)  it waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims it may have against
the Agent or its affiliates for breach of fiduciary duty or alleged breach of fiduciary duty in connection
with the sale of Placement Shares under this Agreement and agrees that the Agent and its affiliates shall
not have any liability (whether direct or indirect, in contract, tort or otherwise) to it in respect of such a
fiduciary duty claim or to any person asserting a fiduciary duty claim on its behalf or in right of it or the
Company, employees or creditors of Company.

23.  Definitions.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the respective
meanings set forth below:

“Applicable Time” means (i) each Representation Date, (ii) the time of each sale of any
Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement and (iii) each Settlement Date.

“Governmental Authority” means (i) any federal, provincial, state, local, municipal, national or
international government or governmental authority, regulatory or administrative agency, governmental
commission, department, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, court, tribunal, arbitrator or arbitral
body (public or private); (ii) any self-regulatory organization; or (iii) any political subdivision of any of
the foregoing.

“Issuer Free Writing Prospectus” means any “issuer free writing prospectus,” as defined in
Rule 433, relating to the Placement Shares that (1) is required to be filed with the Commission by the
Company, (2) is a “road show” that is a “written communication” within the meaning of Rule 433(d)(8)
(i) whether or not required to be filed with the Commission, or (3) is exempt from filing pursuant to
Rule 433(d)(5)(i) because it contains a description of the Placement Shares or of the offering that does
not reflect the final terms, in each case in the form filed or required to be filed with the Commission or, if
not required to be filed, in the form retained in the Company’s records pursuant to Rule 433(g) under the
Securities Act Regulations.

 “Rule 164,” “Rule 172,” “Rule 405,” “Rule 415,” “Rule 424,” “Rule 424(b),” “Rule 430B,”
and “Rule 433” refer to such rules under the Securities Act Regulations.

All references in this Agreement to financial statements and schedules and other information that
is “contained,” “included” or “stated” in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus (and all other
references of like import) shall be deemed to mean and include all such financial statements and
schedules and other information that is incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or the
Prospectus, as the case may be.

All references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any amendment
or supplement to any of the foregoing shall be deemed to include the copy filed with the Commission
pursuant to EDGAR; all references in this Agreement to any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus (other than
any Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses that, pursuant to Rule 433, are not required to be filed with the
Commission) shall be deemed to include the copy thereof filed with the Commission pursuant to
EDGAR; and all references in this Agreement to “supplements” to the Prospectus shall include, without
limitation, any supplements, “wrappers” or similar materials prepared in connection with any offering,
sale or private placement of any Placement Shares by the Agent outside of the United States.

[Signature Page Follows]
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PDVWIRELESS, INC.
 
 

By: /s/ John Pescatore
Name: John Pescatore
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

B. RILEY FBR, INC.
 
 

By: /s/ Patrice McNicoll
Name: Patrice McNicoll
Title: Co-Head of Investment Banking

 
 

If the foregoing correctly sets forth the understanding between the Company and the Agent,
please so indicate in the space provided below for that purpose, whereupon this letter shall constitute a
binding agreement between the Company and the Agent.

Very truly yours,

ACCEPTED as of the date first-above written:
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SCHEDULE 1

__________________________

Form of Placement Notice

__________________________

From: pdvWireless, Inc.

To: B. Riley FBR, Inc.
Attention:  [•]

Subject: Placement Notice

Date: [•], 201[•]

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions contained in the Sales Agreement between
pdvWireless, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and B. Riley FBR, Inc. (“Agent”), dated
February 6, 2018, the Company hereby requests that the Agent sell up to [•] of the Company’s common
stock, par value $0.0001 per share, at a minimum market price of $[•] per share, during the time period
beginning [month, day, time] and ending [month, day, time].
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SCHEDULE 2

__________________________

Compensation

__________________________

The Company shall pay to the Agent in cash, upon each sale of Placement Shares pursuant to
this Agreement, an amount equal to up to 2.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds from each sale of
Placement Shares.

 

GDSVF&H\
 

 



 
 

SCHEDULE 3

__________________________

Notice Parties

__________________________

The Company

John Pescatore (jpescatore@pdvwireless.com)

Tim Gray (tgray@pdvwireless.com)

With copies to:

Tom Sidman (tsidman@pdvwireless.com)

Jeffrey Thacker (jthacker@gunder.com)

The Agent

Matthew Feinberg   (mfeinberg@brileyfbr.com)
    

Ryan Loforte    (rloforte@brileyfbr.com)

Patrice McNicoll   (pmcnicoll@brileyfbr.com)

Keith Pompliano  (kpompliano@brileyfbr.com)

with a copy to atmdesk@brileyfbr.com
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PDVWIRELESS, INC.

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

 
Form of Representation Date Certificate Pursuant to Section 7(l)

The undersigned, the duly qualified and elected [•], of pdvWireless, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the “Company”), does hereby certify in such capacity and on behalf of the Company, pursuant to
Section 7(l) of the Sales Agreement, dated February 6, 2018 (the “Sales Agreement”), between the
Company and B. Riley FBR, Inc. that to the best of the knowledge of the undersigned:

(i) The representations and warranties of the Company in Section 6 of the Sales Agreement  are
true and correct on and as of the date hereof with the same force and effect as if expressly made on and
as of the date hereof, except for those representations and warranties that speak solely as of a specific
date and which were true and correct as of such date; provided,  however, that such representations and
warranties also shall be qualified by the disclosure included or incorporated by reference in the
Registration Statement and Prospectus; and

(ii) The Company has complied with all agreements and satisfied all conditions on its part to be
performed or satisfied pursuant to the Sales Agreement at or prior to the date hereof. 

Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings given to such terms in the
Sales Agreement.

Date: [•]
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Schedule 4

The Company formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, Kleine License Holding Company LLC (“KLHC”),
to acquire FCC licenses owned by members of the Kleine family.  The Company is paying the
acquisition price over time.  The membership units of KLHC are pledged to the Kleine family to secure
the Company’s payment of the purchase price.
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Exhibit 21

Permitted Free Writing Prospectus

None.
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EXHIBIT 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, John C. Pescatore, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of pdvWireless, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
   

Date: February 6, 2018  By: /s/ John C. Pescatore
  John C. Pescatore

 

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Timothy A. Gray, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of pdvWireless, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

a) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
  

Date: February 6, 2018 By: /s/ Timothy A. Gray
  Timothy A. Gray

 

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of pdvWireless, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended December  31, 2017
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John C. Pescatore, President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
 

  
Date: February 6, 2018 By: /s/ John C. Pescatore

 John C. Pescatore
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to pdvWireless, Inc. and will be retained by
pdvWireless, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This certification that accompanies the Report to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is
not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of pdvWireless, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language
contained in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of pdvWireless, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended December  31, 2017,
 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Timothy A. Gray, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
 

  
Date: February 6, 2018 By: /s/ Timothy A. Gray

 Timothy A. Gray
 

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to pdvWireless, Inc. and will be retained by
pdvWireless, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This certification that accompanies the Report to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is
not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of pdvWireless, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language
contained in such filing.
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